

Punctured tubular neighborhoods and stable homotopy at infinity

Adrien Dubouloz, Frédéric Déglise, Paul Østvaer

▶ To cite this version:

Adrien Dubouloz, Frédéric Déglise, Paul Østvaer. Punctured tubular neighborhoods and stable homotopy at infinity. 2022. hal-03687862

HAL Id: hal-03687862 https://hal.science/hal-03687862v1

Preprint submitted on 3 Jun 2022

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

PUNCTURED TUBULAR NEIGHBORHOODS AND STABLE HOMOTOPY AT INFINITY

ADRIEN DUBOULOZ, FRÉDÉRIC DÉGLISE, AND PAUL ARNE ØSTVÆR

ABSTRACT. We initiate a study of punctured tubular neighborhoods and homotopy theory at infinity in motivic settings. We use the six functors formalism to give an intrinsic definition of the stable motivic homotopy type at infinity of an algebraic variety. Our main computational tools include cdh-descent for normal crossing divisors, Euler classes, Gysin maps, and homotopy purity. Under *l*-adic realization, the motive at infinity recovers a formula for vanishing cycles due to Rapoport-Zink; similar results hold for Steenbrink's limiting Hodge structures and Wildeshaus' boundary motives. Under the topological Betti realization, the stable motivic homotopy type at infinity of an algebraic variety recovers the singular complex at infinity of the corresponding topological space. We coin the notion of homotopically smooth morphisms with respect to a motivic ∞ -category and use it to show a generalization to virtual vector bundles of Morel-Voevodsky's purity theorem, which yields an escalated form of Atiyah duality with compact support. Further, we study a quadratic refinement of intersection degrees, taking values in motivic cohomotopy groups. For relative surfaces, we show the stable motivic homotopy type at infinity witnesses a quadratic version of Mumford's plumbing construction for smooth complex algebraic surfaces. Our construction and computation of stable motivic links of Du Val singularities on normal surfaces is expressed entirely in terms of Dynkin diagrams. In characteristic p > 0, this improves Artin's analysis on Du Val singularities through étale local fundamental groups. The main results in the paper are also valid for ℓ -adic sheaves, mixed Hodge modules, and more generally motivic ∞ -categories.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2		
1.1. Context and motivation	2		
1.2. The motivic formalism	7		
1.3. Conventions on vector bundles and virtual vector bundles	9		
2. Complements on six functors	9		
2.1. Thom spaces	9		
2.2. Internal theories and functoriality	10		
2.3. Virtual fundamental classes, homotopical smoothness and purity	12		
2.4. Closed pairs	15		
2.5. Computations of weak duals	17		
2.6. Künneth isomorphisms	19		
3. Canonical resolutions of crossing singularities			
3.1. Ordered Cech semi-simplicial scheme associated to a closed cover	20		
3.2. Ordered hyperdescent for closed covers	21		
3.3. Schemes and subschemes with crossing singularities	23		
3.4. Application to strong duality	27		
3.5. Complements of stably contractible arrangements	28		
4. Punctured tubular neighborhoods and stable homotopy at infinity	29		
4.1. Punctured tubular neighborhoods	29		
4.2. Punctured tubular neighborhood of subschemes with crossing singularities	33		
4.3. Stable homotopy at infinity and boundary motives	34		

Date: June 3, 2022.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary: 14F42, 19E15, 55P42, Secondary: 14F45, 55P57.

Key words and phrases. Motivic homotopy theory, stable homotopy at infinity, punctured tubular neighborhoods, quadratic invariants, links of singularities.

4.4. Stable homotopy type at infinity via punctured tubular neighborhoods	37			
4.5. Interpretation in terms of fundamental classes				
5. Motivic plumbing				
5.1. Assumptions and notation	40			
5.2. Punctured tubular neighborhoods and quadratic Mumford matrices	41			
5.3. Abelian mixed Artin-Tate motives	45			
5.4. Punctured tubular neighborhoods of orientable trees of rational curves				
6. Appendix: quadratic orientations and isomorphisms, cycles and degree				
6.1. Oriented vector bundles and quadratic isomorphisms	51			
6.2. Quadratic 0-cycles and quadratic degrees	54			
References	56			

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Context and motivation. Topology at infinity is essentially the study of topological properties that persistently occur in complements of compact sets. A space is intuitively simply connected at infinity if one can collapse loops far away from any small subspace. Euclidean space \mathbf{R}^n , $n \geq 3$, is the unique open contractible *n*-manifold that is simply connected at infinity. For example, the Whitehead manifold is not simply connected at infinity and therefore not homeomorphic to \mathbb{R}^3 . This article describes our first attempt at finding a unified theory of punctured tubular neighborhoods and homotopy at infinity for open manifolds and smooth varieties. Our overriding goal is to develop a study of intrinsic motivic invariants which can distinguish between A¹-contractible varieties. For background on motivic homotopy theory and A^1 -contractible varieties, we refer to the survey [7]. The quest for finding invariants that can help classify smooth varieties over fields up to A^1 -homotopy can be traced back to work by Asok-Morel [6]. Their ideas on A^1 -h-cobordisms and A^1 -surgery theory, with applications towards vector bundles over projective spaces in Asok-Kebekus-Wendt [5], have inspired our search for motivic invariants with a pronounced geometric topological flavor. Another great source of inspiration is Zariski's cancellation problem [50], which remains difficult because of the lack of computable invariants available to distinguish non-isomorphic \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible smooth affine varieties such as the Koras-Russell cubic threefold and A^3 (see [40], [54]).

Our approach makes extensive use of the six-functor formalism in stable motivic homotopy theory, as developed in [9, 27]; we review and complement this material in Section 4. Let *S* be a qcqs (quasi-compact quasi-separated) base scheme. Its stable motivic homotopy category SH(S) is a closed symmetric monoidal ∞ -category, see, e.g., [42, 52, 59, 77]. To any separated *S*-scheme of finite type $f: X \to S$ we define $\prod_{S}^{\infty}(X)$, the *stable motivic homotopy type at infinity of X*, by the homotopy exact sequence

(1.1.0.a)
$$\Pi_S^{\infty}(X) \to f_! f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \xrightarrow{\alpha_X} f_* f^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$$

Here $\mathbf{1}_S$ is the motivic sphere spectrum over S, $f_!f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) = \Pi_S(X)$ is the stable homotopy type of X and $f_*f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) = \Pi_S^c(X)$ is the properly supported stable homotopy type of X. The canonical morphism α_X is obtained from the six-functor formalism for the stable motivic homotopy category SH(S), which implies the following fundamental properties.

- If X/S is smooth, then $f_! f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) = \Sigma^{\infty} X_+$ is the motivic suspension spectrum of X
- If X/S is proper, then α_X is an isomorphism
- The morphism α_X is covariant with respect to proper morphisms and contravariant with respect to étale morphisms

With the intrinsic definition of $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X)$ in (1.1.0.a) we deduce a number of novel properties in the spirit of proper homotopy theory. Let us fix a compactification \overline{X} of X over S and denote by ∂X

its reduced *boundary*. Then the induced immersions $j : X \to \overline{X}$, $i : \partial X \to X$ form a diagram of *S*-schemes

(1.1.0.b)
$$X \xrightarrow{j} \overline{X} \xleftarrow{i} \partial X$$

We observe the stable homotopy type at infinity of X is determined by the data in (1.1.0.b) via a canonical equivalence

(1.1.0.c)
$$\Pi_{S}^{\infty}(X) \simeq g_{*}i^{*}j_{*}f^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S})$$

This shows that $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X)$ is independent of the chosen compactification and that our construction has properties analogous to Deligne's vanishing cycle functor for étale sheaves, see [37]. We may reformulate (1.1.0.c) by means of the canonically induced homotopy exact sequence

(1.1.0.d)
$$\Pi_S^{\infty}(X) \to \Pi_S(\partial X) \oplus \Pi_S(X) \xrightarrow{i_* + j_*} \Pi_S(\bar{X})$$

In the notation in (1.1.0.b), let us assume \bar{X} , ∂X are smooth *S*-schemes, and write *N* for the normal bundle of ∂X in \bar{X} . In Section 4.4 we use the Euler class e(N) in SH(S) to deduce the homotopy exact sequence

(1.1.0.e)
$$\Pi_S^{\infty}(X) \to \Pi_S(\partial X) \xrightarrow{e(N)} \Sigma^{\infty} \operatorname{Th}_S(N)$$

It is helpful to think of the passage from (1.1.0.a) to (1.1.0.e) in the language of problem-solving. Our "problem" is to understand $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X)$ and the "solution" in the smooth case is the Euler class for the normal bundle of the closed immersion $\partial X \nleftrightarrow \overline{X}$.

In the following, we further assume \bar{X} is a smooth proper *S*-scheme and ∂X is a normal crossing divisor on \bar{X} . We may write $\partial X = \bigcup_{i \in I} \partial_i X$ as the union of its irreducible components $\partial_i X$, so there is a canonical closed immersion $\nu_i : \partial_i X \to \bar{X}$. For any subset $J \subset I$, we equip $\partial_J X := \bigcap_{j \in J} \partial_j X$ with its reduced subscheme structure, where \cap is suggestive notation for fiber products over the boundary ∂X . If $J \subset K$, there is a canonical proper morphism $\nu_K^J : \partial_K X \to \partial_J X$. By means of descent for the cdh-covering

$$\sqcup_{i\in I}\partial_i X \to \partial X$$

we identify $\Pi_S(\partial X)$ with the colimit¹ of the naturally induced diagram in SH(S)

(1.1.0.f)
$$\Pi_{S}(\partial_{I}X) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{\sharp J = \sharp I - 1} \Pi_{S}(\partial_{J}X) \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow}_{\sharp J = \sharp I - 2} \prod_{\sharp J = \sharp I - 2} \Pi_{S}(\partial_{J}X) \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow}_{\to} \cdots \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow}_{i \in I} \prod_{i \in I} \Pi_{S}(\partial_{i}X)$$

The face map on the summand $\Pi_S(\partial_K X)$ is defined by the pushforward maps

$$\sum_{J \subset K, \sharp J = \sharp K - 1} (\nu_K^J)_*$$

Similarly, we identify $\Sigma^{\infty} \operatorname{Th}_{S}(N)$ with the limit of the naturally induced diagram in $\operatorname{SH}(S)$

(1.1.0.g)
$$\bigoplus_{i\in I} \Sigma^{\infty} \operatorname{Th}_{S}(N_{i}) \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow}_{\sharp} \bigoplus_{\sharp J=2} \Sigma^{\infty} \operatorname{Th}_{S}(N_{J}) \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow}_{\sharp} \bigoplus_{\sharp J=3} \Sigma^{\infty} \operatorname{Th}_{S}(N_{J}) \xrightarrow{\longrightarrow}_{\longrightarrow} \cdots \longrightarrow \Sigma^{\infty} \operatorname{Th}_{S}(N_{I})$$

Here, N_J is the normal bundle of $\partial_J X$ in \overline{X} , and the coface map on the summand $\Sigma^{\infty} \operatorname{Th}_S(N_K)$ is defined by the Gysin maps

$$\sum_{J \subset K, \sharp J = \sharp K - 1} (\nu_K^J)!$$

¹Limits and colimits in this paper are taken in the sense of ∞ -categories.

Our general computations culminate in Theorem 4.2.1, where we identify $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X)$ with the homotopy fiber of the map

$$\operatorname{colim}_{n \in (\Delta^{\operatorname{inj}})^{op}} \left(\bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = n+1} \Pi_S(\partial_J X) \right) \xrightarrow{\mu} \lim_{n \in \Delta^{\operatorname{inj}}} \left(\bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = m+1} \Sigma^{\infty} \operatorname{Th}_S(N_J) \right)$$

induced by

$$(\mu_{i,j})_{i,j\in I} \colon \bigoplus_{i\in I} \Pi_S(\partial_i X) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j\in I} \Sigma^\infty \operatorname{Th}_S(N_j)$$

More precisely, $\mu_{i,j}$ is shorthand for the composite map

$$\Pi_S(\partial_i X) \xrightarrow{\nu_{i*}} \Pi_S(\bar{X}) \to \Sigma^\infty \left(\frac{\bar{X}}{\bar{X} - \partial_j X}\right) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \Sigma^\infty \operatorname{Th}_S(N_j)$$

To refine these techniques, we develop a theory of duality with compact support. We generalize the homotopy purity theorem and give new examples of rigid objects in the process. Our approach is based on the notion of a homotopically smooth morphism. If $f : X \to S$ is a smoothable lci morphism with virtual bundle τ_f over X, we say that f is *homotopically smooth* (*h-smooth*) if the naturally induced morphism

$$\mathfrak{p}_f: \mathrm{Th}(\tau_f) \to f^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$$

is an isomorphism (see Definition 2.3.8 for more details). Any closed immersion between smooth varieties over a field is h-smooth. When *f* is h-smooth and $i : Z \to X$ is a closed immersion with Z/S h-smooth, Theorem 2.4.3 shows the relative purity isomorphism

$$\Pi_S(X/X - Z, v) \simeq \Pi_S(Z, i^*v + N_i)$$

Here, v is a virtual vector bundle over X and N_i is the (necessarily regular) normal bundle of $i : Z \to X$. Under the additional assumption that $\Pi_S(X, v)$ is rigid, we show in Section 3.4 the duality with compact support isomorphism

$$\Pi_S(X,v)^{\vee} \simeq \Pi_S^c(X, -v - \tau_f)$$

This duality isomorphism can be seen as a motivic analog of classical topological results due to Atiyah [8, §3], Milnor-Spanier [69, Lemma 2]. As an application, we identify the stable motivic homotopy type at infinity of hyperplane arrangements in Section 3.5.

We define the punctured tubular neighborhood $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X, Z)$ of a closed immersion $i: Z \to X$ in Section 4. For points on hypersurfaces in affine space, this key invariant specializes in links considered successfully in topology by Milnor and Mumford (see [68], [71]). It turns out that $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X, Z)$ is a local invariant in the sense that it only depends on a Nisnevich neighborhood of Z in X, and, moreover, it satisfies a cdh-excision property (see Corollary 4.1.8). The geometric content of our construction is transparently visible in examples, e.g., for an ordinary double point on a threefold (see Example 4.1.10). We invite the interested reader to compare with Levine's notion of motivic punctured tubular neighborhoods in [66].

In the situation with the compactification of a separated morphism of finite type $f: X \to S$, see (1.1.0.b), Proposition 4.4.2 shows there exists a canonical isomorphism

$$\Pi_S^{\infty}(X) \simeq \operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(\bar{X}, \partial X)$$

which is natural in $(\bar{X}, X, \partial X)$, covariantly functorial for proper maps, and contravariantly functorial for étale maps. Via this isomorphism, we can study stable motivic homotopy types at infinity through the geometric construction of punctured tubular neighborhoods. This perspective helps us clarify a few simple and unifying principles across motivic ∞ -categories. For example, we generalize Wildeshaus' analytic invariance theorem for boundary motives [87, Theorem 5.1]: A closed pair of *S*schemes (X, Z) means a closed immersion $Z \nleftrightarrow X$ of *S*-schemes, and a morphism $\phi: (Y, T) \to (X, Z)$ is an *S*-morphism $\phi: Y \to X$ such that $\phi^{-1}(Z) = T$. Suppose $f: T \to Z$ is an isomorphism that extends to an isomorphism of the respective formal completions $\mathfrak{f}: \hat{Y}_T \to \hat{X}_Z$. If *S* is an excellent scheme, Theorem 4.1.14 shows that there exists a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathfrak{f}^*: \mathrm{TN}_S^{\times}(Y,T) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathrm{TN}_S^{\times}(X,Z)$$

In particular, the stable motivic homotopy type at infinity functor satisfies analytical invariance.

In Section 5, we employ punctured tubular neighborhoods to study a theory of motivic plumbing on surfaces; this constitutes a refinement and extension of Mumford's seminal work in [71]. It is also a successful transportation of a construction from surgery theory into motivic homotopy, extending the ideas of [6]. The setting is a closed pair (X, D), where X/S has relative dimension two and is smooth in a neighborhood of D. We assume D is a divisor on X which is proper and with smooth reduced crossings over S, see Definition 3.3.2. As in [71] we assume the components $(D_i)_{i\in I}$ of D are rational curves. It turns out that $\Pi_S(D)$ is a sum of an Artin object \mathcal{D}^2 depending on the intersections of the (D_i) 's and the "geometric" part $\bigoplus_{i\in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2]$. Theorem 5.2.7 identifies the punctured tubular neighborhood $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X, D)$, or equivalently $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X - D)$ when X/S is proper, with the homotopy fiber of a naturally induced map

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b' \\ b & \mu \end{pmatrix} : \mathcal{D} \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2] \to \mathcal{D}^{\vee}(2)[4] \oplus \bigoplus_{j \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2]$$

We refer to $\mu = (\mu_{ij})$: $\bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2] \to \bigoplus_{j \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2]$ as the "quadratic Mumford matrix" since, over the complex numbers, the above specializes to computations carried out in [71]. Its coefficients take values in the endomorphism ring of the sphere or unit $\mathbf{1}_S$. When $S = \text{Spec}(\mathcal{O})$ is a semi-local essentially smooth scheme over a field, or 2-integers such as $\mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{2}]$ in a 2-regular number field [16], we interpret μ_{ij} as the class of a quadratic form $(\partial_i X, \partial_j X)_{quad} \in \text{GW}(\mathcal{O})$ in the Grothendieck-Witt ring called the *quadratic degree* of the intersections of the divisors $\partial_i X$ and $\partial_j X$. The close connection with quadratic forms arises since elements of the *i*th Chow-Witt group are represented by formal sums of subvarieties Z of codimenison i equipped with an element of GW(k(Z)). Moreover, the rank of the quadratic degree equals the corresponding Mumford degree.

Further, we specialize our results to motives. When S is a finite field, a global field, or a number ring, we have the motivic *t*-structure on rational Artin-Tate motives at our disposal (see [65] for the case of fields, and [80] for number rings). We let $DM^{AT}(K, \mathbb{Q})$ be the triangulated category of (constructible) rational Artin-Tate motives. From [65] it follows that $DM^{AT}(K, \mathbb{Q})$ admits a motivic *t*-structure, whose heart is the Tannakian category $MM^{AT}(K, \mathbb{Q})$ of Artin-Tate motives. In particular, one gets a homological and monoidal functor

$$\underline{\mathrm{H}}_{0}:\mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{AT}}(K,\mathbb{Q})\to\mathrm{MM}^{\mathrm{AT}}(K,\mathbb{Q})$$

We define the Artin-Tate motive

$$\underline{\mathrm{H}}_{i}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)) := \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{0}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)[-i])$$

as the *i*-th (motivic) homology of the punctured tubular neighborhood of (X, D). When X is in addition proper over K, this is the homology of the boundary motive of (X - D) (see Example 4.3.3 and Proposition 4.4.2), or the *motivic homology at infinity*

$$\underline{\mathrm{H}}_{i}^{\infty}(X-D) = \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{i}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D))$$

²By analogy with the case of motives, it is the smallest ∞ -category containing $\Pi_S(V)$ for V/S finite étale, and stable under suspensions, homotopy (co)fibers.

In Proposition 5.3.2 we show the homology motive $\underline{\mathrm{H}}_{i}(X)$ vanishes for $i \notin [0,3]$ and there is an exact sequence in the Tannakian category $\mathrm{MM}^{\mathrm{AT}}(S, \mathbb{Q})$ of Artin-Tate motives

$$0 \to \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{3}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)) \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_{S}(2) \xrightarrow{\sum_{i < j} p_{ij}^{i!} - p_{ij}^{j!}} \bigoplus_{i < j} M_{S}(D_{ij})(2)$$
$$\to \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{2}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)) \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_{S}(1) \xrightarrow{\mu} \bigoplus_{j \in I} \mathbf{1}_{S}(1)$$
$$\to \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{1}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)) \to \bigoplus_{i < j} M_{S}(D_{ij}) \xrightarrow{\sum_{i < j} p_{ij*}^{i!} - p_{ij*}^{j!}} \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_{S} \to \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{0}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)) \to 0$$

Here μ is the quadratic Mumford matrix and $M_S(D_{ij})$ is the mixed Artin-Tate motive of $D_{ij} = D_i \times_X D_j$. In the above, $\underline{\mathrm{H}}_0(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D))$ and $\underline{\mathrm{H}}_3(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D))$ are pure of respective weights 0 and -4, while $\underline{\mathrm{H}}_1(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D))$ and $\underline{\mathrm{H}}_2(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D))$ are mixed of weights $\{0,-2\}$ and $\{-2,-4\}$, respectively (see [58] for the notion of weights). The above applies also in the category of Artin-Tate-Nori motives $\mathrm{MM}^{\mathrm{AT}}(K,\mathbb{Q})$. Similarly to Artin-Tate motives, this involves constructing a homological functor from Voevodsky's category of geometric motives $\mathrm{DM}_{gm}(K,\mathbb{Q})$ to the Tannakian category $\mathcal{M}(K)$ of Nori motives over K. We study the example of *Ramanujam's surface* Σ [74]. Over the complex numbers, it is a topologically contractible affine algebraic surface which is not homeomorphic to the affine plane. Working over a field k of characteristic different from 2, Example 5.3.4 identifies Σ 's integral motive at infinity $M^{\infty}(\Sigma)$ with $\mathbf{1}_k \oplus \mathbf{1}_k(2)[3]$.

Our setup provides universal formulas in the various realizations of motives, e.g., *l*-adic, rigid, syntomic, Galois representations, etc. For example, the computation (3.3.13.a) specializes under *l*-adic realization to the Rapoport-Zink formula for vanishing cycles [75, Lemma 2.5], and similarly for Steenbrink's limit Hodge structures [83]. We expect that Proposition 3.3.12 yields an explicit formula for Ayoub's nearby cycles in the semi-stable case, cf. [11].

We illustrate the general with concrete examples of \mathbf{A}^1 -equivalent smooth affine surfaces with non-isomorphic stable motivic homotopy types at infinity. For any integer n > 0, the Danielewski surface D_n is the closed subscheme of \mathbf{A}^3 cut out by the equation $x^n z = y(y - 1)$, see [29]. We note that D_1 is the Jouanolou device over \mathbf{P}^1 ; in fact, D_n is \mathbf{A}^1 -equivalent to \mathbf{P}^1 [7, §3.4]. Over any field k, one can distinguish between $\prod_k^{\infty}(D_m)$ and $\prod_k^{\infty}(D_n)$ for $m \neq n$ by viewing Danielewski surfaces as affine modifications of \mathbf{A}^2 . We refer to Section 5.4 for precise statements and further examples, [41] for background on \mathbf{A}^1 -contractibility of affine modifications, and [48] for first homology at infinity of Danielewski surfaces over the complex numbers. The affine modifications give an affirmative answer to Problem 3.4.5 in [7].

At this stage, we should come clean on some technical points concerning fundamental classes and orientations. First, our setup gives a quadratic generalization of Mumford's plumbing construction [71] using Chow-Witt groups. While Mumford uses orientations on the normal bundles of the branches, which are copies of the projective line, much of the subtleties in our setting come from working with twisted Milnor-Witt *K*-theory sheaves. The latter is needed to compute the quadratic degree maps of the intersections of the branches taking values in the Grothendieck-Witt ring. On the one hand, we develop the idea of parallelization to compute "the fundamental class of the diagonal" in terms of motivic fundamental classes [35]. In another direction closely related to differential geometry and quadratic enumerative geometry, we discuss the foundations for orientations of algebraic vector bundles via quadratic isomorphisms. Making clever choices of orientations is a key point in our computations of quadratic Mumford matrices. In this way, we can compute stable motivic invariants without appealing to **SL**-orientations (owing to Proposition 6.1.10 and Proposition 6.1.16). Section 6 explains this material, where we also introduce and show some fundamental properties of quadratic Picard groupoids. Punctured tubular neighborhoods can also be applied to the study of isolated singularities of surfaces, in particular rational double points, also known as Du Val singularities. In characteristic p > 0, Artin [3] showed that the étale local fundamental group of such a singularities cannot always distinguish between double and regular points. We show that, with the exception of E_8 -type singularity, the stable motivic link $TN^{\times}(\Gamma)$ of a Du Val singularity is different from the stable motivic link of $TN^{\times}(\mathbb{A}^2_k, \{0\}) = \mathbf{1}_k \oplus \mathbf{1}_k(2)$ [3]. In particular, $TN^{\times}(\Gamma)$ distinguishes Du Val singularities other than E_8 from regular points. For E_8 and the complex numbers, the identification $TN^{\times}(E_8) \simeq TN^{\times}(\mathbb{A}^2_k, \{0\})$ reflects the fact that the topological link of E_8 is the Poincaré homology 3-sphere $\Sigma(2,3,5)$ [73], a compact topological 3-manifold with the same singular homology groups as S^3 , whose fundamental group is isomorphic to the binary dodecahedral group. We refer to Table 1 for a summary of our computation of stable motivic links of Du Val singularities.

A final comment is that defining the stable homotopy type at infinity Π_S^{∞} is the first step towards a refined invariant in unstable motivic homotopy theory. The problem of defining unstable motivic homotopy types at infinity witness the tension between unstable and stable motivic homotopy theory. For example, the six functor formalism is not available in the unstable setting. To remedy this, one can take into account all possible smooth compactifications. Nonetheless, some of the techniques developed in this paper will carry over to unstable motivic homotopy categories, e.g., the calculations in Section 3.3 hold in the cdh-topology, and one can expect more developments along these lines.

Remark 1.1.1. This paper's results hold more generally for any motivic ∞ -category such as triangulated and abelian mixed motives, Artin-Tate motives, étale motives, torsion and ℓ -adic categories, mixed Hodge modules,... in place of SH. If there exists a realization functor that commutes with the six operations, e.g., the Betti or ℓ -adic realizations, then this follows from the universality of SH.

Conventions. Our results are couched in the axiomatic setting of [27], [62] which complements [9]. We fix a *motivic* ∞ -*category* ([27, Definition 2.4.45]) \mathscr{T} over the category of qcqs schemes, i.e., a *monoidal stable homotopy functor* according to [9]. Our primary example is the motivic stable homotopy category SH. In the language of presentable stable monoidal ∞ -categories [62], SH is the initial motivic ∞ -category. Thus there is a unique morphism of motivic ∞ -categories SH $\rightarrow \mathscr{T}$. To maintain intuition, we shall refer to the objects of $\mathscr{T}(S)$ as \mathscr{T} -spectra over S. For more details, see Section 1.2.

Acknowledgements. The authors are grateful to Aravind Asok, Jean Fasel, Fangzhou Jin, Marc Levine, and Kirsten Wickelgren for collaborations, discussions, and encouragements on some of the topics in this paper. We gratefully acknowledge the support of the Centre for Advanced Study at the Norwe-gian Academy of Science and Letters in Oslo, Norway, which funded and hosted our research project "Motivic Geometry" during the 2020/21 academic year, and we extend our thanks to the French "Investissements d'Avenir" project ISITE-BFC (ANR-15-IDEX-0008), the French ANR project "HQ-Diag" (ANR-21-CE40-0015), and the RCN Frontier Research Group Project no. 250399 "Motivic Hopf Equations" and no. 312472 "Equations in Motivic Homotopy." Østvær acknowledges the generous support from Alexander von Humboldt Foundation and The Radboud Excellence Initiative.

1.2. The motivic formalism. Throughout the paper, all schemes are quasi-coherent and quasi-compact, qcqs, and all separated and smooth maps are assumed to be of finite type. The natural framework for this paper is Morel-Voevodsky's stable homotopy category SH(S) of the base scheme S. Owing to the works [9, 10], [27], for varying S, these categories satisfy *Grothendieck's six functors formalism* which we will use extensively. The elimination of the noetherian hypothesis was achieved in [52, Appendix C]. Most of the results in this paper, however, can be stated in the general formalism of Grothendieck's six functors, as axiomatized in [27]. We will freely use the language, constructions, and notations from *loc. cit.*, together with its natural ∞ -categorical enhancement of [63, 39] (which applies to premotivic model categories). Let us fix a *motivic triangulated category* \mathcal{T} , see [27, Definition 2.4.45], which also admits an ∞ -categorical enhancement (e.g., it arises from a premotivic model category). We note that \mathcal{T} satisfies Grothendieck's six functors formalism, summarized for example

in [27, 2.4.50]. The added generality of [63] verifies that the pair of adjoint functors (f^*, f_*) , $(p_!, p^!)$ for p separated, and $(\otimes, \underline{\text{Hom}})$ are in fact adjunctions of ∞ -categories. The above applies to the following examples.

- SH the stable motivic homotopy category, see e.g., [9, 63].
- $DM_{\mathbb{Q}}$ rational mixed motives, see [27, Part IV].
- DM motives defined as modules over Spitzweck's motivic cohomology ring spectrum relative to Z, see [82].³
- DM Milnor-Witt motives defined as modules over Milnor-Witt motivic cohomology, if one restricts to base schemes defined over some field *k* of characteristic not 2; see [15], [14], [43].
- $DM_{\acute{e}t} = DA_{\acute{e}t} \acute{e}tale$ mixed motives, see [13, 25].
- D(-ét, Zℓ) ℓ-adic étale sheaves on Z[1/ℓ]-schemes, ℓ a prime number, see [19], [25, 7.2.18], and on excellent schemes, also its subcategory D^b_c(-ét, Zℓ) of bounded complexes with constructible cohomology.
- D_B^{σ} analytical sheaves on k-schemes for a complex embedding $\sigma : k \to \mathbb{C}$, $D_B^{\sigma}(X)$ is the derived category of sheaves on the analytical site $X^{\sigma}(\mathbb{C})$. This is classical, see also [12]. More generally, given any mixed Weil theory E over a base field k, by restricting to k-schemes, one has the category D_E of modules over the ring spectrum associated with E. See [27, §17.2] for details.
- D^m_{Hdg} the category of motivic Hodge modules, which corresponds to complexes of Saito's mixed Hodge modules of geometric origin (obtained by the realization of mixed motives), see [38].

These examples are naturally related via premotivic adjunctions subject to our conventions above:

(1.2.0.a)
$$\operatorname{SH} \xrightarrow{\tilde{M}} \widetilde{\mathrm{DM}} \xrightarrow{\pi} \operatorname{DM} \xrightarrow{a^{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}} \operatorname{DM}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}} \xrightarrow{\rho_B} \overset{D_B^{\sigma}}{\xrightarrow{\rho_\ell}} D(-_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$$

- By our definitions of DM and DM, the first two functors are induced by taking free modules. See [27, §7.2], [79] for accounts using model categories.⁴
- The functor a^{ét} changes the topology, see [44], taking into account the Dold-Kan correspondence and the E_∞-ring spectra representing motivic cohomology and étale motivic cohomology.
- The functor ρ_B is defined in [12] (see [27] for mixed Weil theories).
- The functors ρ_{ℓ} and ρ_{Hdg} are defined in [25] and [38], respectively.

Formally, being part of a premotivic adjunction, each of the functors in (1.2.0.a) admits a natural right adjoint. Thus, by construction, they commute with f^* , p_1 , \otimes . Moreover, when restricting to (quasi-)excellent schemes they also commute with the other three operations in Grothendieck's six functors formalism, see the indicated references. With rational coefficients, both \tilde{M} and $a^{\text{ét}}$ are equivalences (see [33] and [27], respectively). Furthermore, $SH_{\mathbb{Q}} \to DM_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is split with complementary factor *Morel's minus part* of SH by [27, 16.2]. The reader should feel free to keep in mind a general \mathscr{T} , or specialize to SH and one of the realization functors in (1.2.0.a).

³This viewpoint was advocated in [78, 79]. If one restricts to schemes over a prime field k and inverts the characteristic exponent of k, one can employ cdh-motives as defined in [26] (using cdh-sheaves with transfers).

 $^{^4}$ The construction can be carried out more easily using (monoidal) ∞ -categories developed in [67].

1.3. Conventions on vector bundles and virtual vector bundles. We will follow the following convention for the correspondence between coherent locally free sheaves and vector bundles: the vector bundle $E = \mathbb{V}(\mathcal{E})$ associated with a coherent locally free sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X -modules \mathcal{E} on a scheme X is the relative spectrum of the symmetric algebra $Sym(\mathcal{E})$. For a vector bundle $p : V \to X$, we denote by V^{\times} the complement of the zero section.

Concerning locally free sheaves and corresponding vector bundles associated with differential properties for morphisms of schemes, we adopt the following conventions:

- Given a smooth morphism $f : X \to S$, let $\Omega_f = \Omega_{X/S}$ be the sheaf of relative Kähler differentials of f and call it the *cotangent sheaf* of f. Its associated vector bundle, the relative spectrum of the symmetric algebra of Ω_f , is the *tangent bundle* $T_f = T_{X/S}$ of f.
- Given a regular closed immersion $i : Z \to X$, with corresponding ideal sheaf $\mathcal{I}_Z \subset \mathcal{O}_X$, its *conormal sheaf* is the \mathcal{O}_Z -module $\mathcal{C}_i = \mathcal{C}_{Z/X} = \mathcal{I}_Z/\mathcal{I}_Z^2$. Its associated vector bundle is the *normal bundle* $N_{Z/X}$ of Z in X.
- We denote by $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{F}$ the tensor product of \mathcal{O}_X -modules and by $\mathcal{E}^{\vee} := \mathcal{H}om_X(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{O}_X)$ the dual.

Given any morphism of $f : X \to S$, we let $\mathcal{L}_f = \mathcal{L}_{X/S}$ be its associated cotangent complex. In general, this is a complex of \mathcal{O}_X -modules. When f is a local complete intersection morphism (lci for short), \mathcal{L}_f is a perfect complex. Moreover, when $f : X \to S$ is lci smoothable, say $f = p \circ i : X \to Y \to S$ where $i : X \to Y$ is a regular closed immersion and $p : Y \to S$ is smooth, we have $\mathcal{L}_f = (\mathcal{C}_i \to i^*\Omega_p)$ where $i^*\Omega_p$ and \mathcal{C}_i are in homological degree 0 and 1, respectively.

We will use Deligne's category $\underline{K}(X)$ of virtual coherent locally free sheaves of \mathcal{O}_X -modules on a scheme X (see [36]). Given a locally free sheaf \mathcal{E} on X, we denote by $\langle \mathcal{E} \rangle$ its image in $\underline{K}(X)$. The correspondence between coherent locally free sheaves and vector bundles extends using the same convention as above to a correspondence between virtual locally free sheaves \mathcal{V} and their associated virtual vector bundles $v = "\mathbb{V}(\mathcal{V})$ ". Henceforth, we will switch freely between (virtual) locally free sheaves and (virtual) vector bundles without frequent mention.

Recall also that $\underline{K}(X)$ can be described using Thomason's K-theory space K(X) (the infinite loop space associated with Thomason's K-theory spectrum, [84, 3.1]) as follows: we view the simplicial set K(X) as an ∞ -category and consider its associated ∞ -groupoid $K(X)^{\simeq}$ (the sub- ∞ -category generated by 1-morphisms that are equivalences). Then $\underline{K}(X)$ is the homotopy category associated with $K(X)^{\simeq}$ — according to [36, 4.12, end of 4.4] and [84, 3.1.1]. This presentation has the advantage of giving an explicit functor

$$D_{perf}(X) \to \underline{K}(X), \mathcal{K} \mapsto \langle \mathcal{K} \rangle$$

by associating to a perfect complex \mathcal{K} of \mathcal{O}_X -modules the corresponding 0-simplex of K(X), which follows from the very construction of Thomason using complicial biWaldhausen categories.

Recall Deligne's (rank-)determinant functor of Picard categories

$$\underline{\mathbf{K}}(X) \xrightarrow{(\mathrm{rk}, \mathrm{det})} \underline{\mathbb{Z}}_X \times \underline{\mathrm{Pic}}(X), \mathcal{V} \mapsto (\mathrm{rk}\,\mathcal{V}, \det\mathcal{V})$$

where $\underline{\text{Pic}}(X)$ denote Deligne's Picard category of invertible sheaves on *X* [36], and for a virtual locally free sheaf \mathcal{V} , det \mathcal{V} is the *determinant* of \mathcal{V} and $\operatorname{rk} \mathcal{V}$ is its virtual rank.

Given an lci morphism $f : X \to S$, the *virtual tangent bundle* $\tau_f = \tau_{X/S}$ of X/S is the virtual vector bundle on X associated to $\langle \mathcal{L}_f \rangle$. The *canonical sheaf* $\omega_f = \omega_{X/S}$ of X/S is the determinant $\det \langle \mathcal{L}_f \rangle$ of $\langle \mathcal{L}_f \rangle$. For a morphism of schemes $f : X \to Y$ and a (virtual) locally free sheaf \mathcal{V} on Y, we denote by $f^{-1}\mathcal{V}$ the pullback of \mathcal{V} to X.

2. COMPLEMENTS ON SIX FUNCTORS

2.1. Thom spaces.

2.1.1. The *Thom space* of a vector bundle $p: V \to X$ with zero section $s: X \to V$ is the object

$$\operatorname{Th}(V) = \operatorname{Th}_X(V) := p_{\sharp} s_*(\mathbf{1}_X) \in \mathscr{T}(X)$$

Here p_{\sharp} is the left adjoint of p^* . For a coherent locally free sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X -modules \mathcal{E} , we use also sometimes use the notation $\operatorname{Th}(\mathcal{E})$ as a short hand for $\operatorname{Th}(\mathbb{V}(\mathcal{E}))$. The *Tate twist* is a particular case of this notation, namely, we have $\mathbf{1}_X(n) = \operatorname{Th}(\mathcal{O}_X^n)[-2n] = \operatorname{Th}(\mathbf{A}_X^n)[-2n]$. According to the stability property of \mathscr{T} ([27, 2.4.4, 2.4.14]), the object $\operatorname{Th}(V)$ is \otimes -invertible in $\mathscr{T}(X)$ with \otimes -inverse ([27, 2.4.1, 2.4.12])

$$\operatorname{Th}(-V) := s^! p^*(\mathbf{1}_X) = s^!(\mathbf{1}_V)$$

The construction of Thom spaces is functorial in *V* and, as a consequence of the localization property of \mathscr{T} ([27, 2.4.6, 2.4.10]), it uniquely extends to a monoidal functor (cf. [27, 2.4.15] and [9, 1.5.18])

$$\mathrm{Th}: \underline{\mathrm{K}}(X) \to \mathscr{T}(X)$$

from Deligne's category $\underline{K}(X)$ of virtual locally free sheaves on *X*. For an arbitrary (resp. separated) morphism of schemes $f: Y \to X$ and a virtual vector bundle *v* over *X*, the projection formula and the \otimes -invertibility of Th(V) imply the exchange isomorphism

(2.1.1.a)
$$f^* \operatorname{Th}(v) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{Th}(f^{-1}v) \quad (\text{resp. } \operatorname{Th}(f^{-1}v) \otimes f^!(\mathbf{1}_X) \xrightarrow{\simeq} f^! \operatorname{Th}(v))$$

To comply with Morel-Voevodsky's definition, we introduce the following.

Definition 2.1.2. Let $f : X \to S$ be a smooth morphism and let v a virtual vector bundle over X. The *Thom space of v relative to* S is the object

$$\operatorname{Th}_{S}(v) = f_{\sharp}(\operatorname{Th}(v)) \in \mathscr{T}(S)$$

Beware that when f is not the identity, the functor Th_S is not monoidal.

In the sequel, when we do not indicate the base of a Thom space, we consider it over the same base scheme as the virtual bundle.

Example 2.1.3. (1) If $\mathscr{T} = SH$ and $v = \langle V \rangle$ for a vector bundle V/X, then by homotopy purity $Th_S(v) \simeq \Sigma^{\infty}(V/V^{\times})$.

- (2) If $\mathscr{T} = DM$, the Thom space $Th_S(v)$ depends only on the rank and determinant of v (see [33, §7] for a more precise statement).
- (3) If \mathscr{T} is oriented in the sense of [27, 2.4.38], e.g., any category under DM in (1.2.0.a), then for every virtual vector bundle v of virtual rank n on a smooth S-scheme $p : X \to S$, there is a canonical *Thom isomorphism* $\operatorname{Th}_S(v) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbf{1}_S(n)[2n]$ compatible with pullbacks and the \otimes structure on the functor Th. Since Thom spaces are always reduced to Tate twists for oriented theories, this is mainly interesting for generalized theories such as Chow-Witt groups, hermitian K-theory, and stable (co)homotopy.

2.2. **Internal theories and functoriality.** The six functors formalism encodes the axioms of four (co)homology theories; see e.g., [20] for the combination of cohomology and Borel-Moore homology. Next, we give a systematic definition from the motivic point of view.

Definition 2.2.1. Let $f : X \to S$ be a separated morphism and let v a virtual vector bundle over X. One associates to X/S and v the following objects of $\mathscr{T}(S)$:

- Homotopy: $\Pi_S(X, v) = f_!(\operatorname{Th}(v) \otimes f^!(\mathbf{1}_S))$
- Cohomotopy: $H_S(X, v) = f_*(Th(v) \otimes f^*(\mathbf{1}_S)) \simeq f_*(Th(v))$
- Borel-Moore (or properly supported) homotopy: $\Pi_S^c(X, v) = f_*(\operatorname{Th}(v) \otimes f^!(\mathbf{1}_S))$
- Properly supported cohomotopy: $H_S^c(X, v) = f_!(Th(v) \otimes f^*(\mathbf{1}_S)) \simeq f_!(Th(v))$

When v = 0, we simply write $\Pi_S(X)$, $\Pi_S(X)$, $\Pi_S^c(X)$, $\Pi_S^c(X)$.

The natural transformation $\alpha_f : f_! \to f_*$ yields canonical maps:

- (2.2.1.a) $\alpha_{X/S}: \Pi_S(X, v) \to \Pi_S^c(X, v)$
- (2.2.1.b) $\alpha'_{X/S} : \mathrm{H}^{c}_{S}(X, v) \to \mathrm{H}_{S}(X, v)$ ("forgetting proper support")

Both $\alpha_{X/S}$ and $\alpha'_{X/S}$ are isomorphisms whenever X/S is proper.

Remark 2.2.2. If X/S is smooth separated, $\Pi_S(X)$ is called the premotive of X/S in [27]. For all \mathscr{T} , with the exception of $D_c^b(-,\mathbb{Z}_\ell)$, the objects $\Pi_S(X)(n)$ for X/S smooth generate $\mathscr{T}(X)$ under colimits.

Example 2.2.3. Here is a summary comparing our notations with more familiar ones.

- (1) $\mathscr{T} = \text{SH and } X/S \text{ smooth: } \Pi_S(X) = \Sigma^{\infty} X_+ \text{ and for a vector bundle } V \text{ on } X$, we have $\Pi_S(X, \langle V \rangle) = \Sigma^{\infty} \operatorname{Th}(V).$
- (2) $\mathscr{T} = DM$ and X/S smooth: $\Pi_S(X)$ is Voevodsky's motive $M_S(X)$ of X/S. When X/S is proper and X is regular, $\Pi_S(X) =: h_S(X)$ is the *relative Chow-motive* of X/S. It is a pure motive of weight 0 in the sense of Bondarko. See [60] for the comparison of these objects with Corti-Hanamura's definition.
- (3) $\mathscr{T} = DM$, k a perfect field, X/k smooth separated: $\Pi_k(X) = M(X) = \underline{C}_*L(X)$, where, with the notations of [86, chap. 5], \underline{C}_* is the Suslin complex functor, and L(X) is the sheaf with transfers represented by X. If k is of characteristic 0, or one works with DM[1/p] if k has characteristic p > 0, then $\Pi_k^c(X) = M^c(X) = \underline{C}_*L^c(X)$ where $L^c(X)$ the sheaf of quasi-finite correspondences (see [86, chap. 5] in characteristic 0 and [25, 8.10] in general).
- (4) $\mathscr{T} = D_c^b(-_{\text{\'et}}, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$ and $f: X \to S$ any morphism: $H_S(X) = \mathbf{R}f_*(\mathbb{Z}_\ell)$ is the complex computing étale cohomology of X in $D_c^b(S_{\text{\'et}}, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$. In particular, if S = Spec(k), the complex compute absolute étale cohomology of X after forgetting the action of the absolute Galois group of k. Similarly, $H_S^c(X)$ computes cohomology with compact support.
- (5) $\mathscr{T} = DM_h$: using the model category of [25], for a smooth *S*-scheme *X*, $\Pi_S(X)$ is obtained as the infinite suspension of the h-sheaf represented by *X*.

Remark 2.2.4. As explained in Section 1.2, the comparison functors from SH to the other motivic categories \mathscr{T} considered in *loc. cit.* commute with the six operations provided that one restricts to excellent base schemes. In particular, the four internal theories considered in SH realize the corresponding theories in \mathscr{T} – of course, this universal property of SH was at the heart of Voevodsky's theory since the beginning. See [39] for a complete account incorporating the six functors. Practically any assertion concerning these internal theories proved in SH is equally valid in \mathscr{T} .

2.2.5. *Natural functoriality*: For a morphism $f: Y \to X$ between separated *S*-schemes, we have the following naturally induced maps (which explain our choice of terminology):

- $f_*: \Pi_S(Y, f^{-1}v) \to \Pi_S(X, v)$
- $f^* : \operatorname{H}_S(X, v) \to \operatorname{H}_S(Y, f^{-1}v)$
- $f_*: \Pi_S^c(Y, f^{-1}v) \to \Pi_S^c(X, v)$, when f is proper
- $f^* : \mathrm{H}^c_S(X, v) \to \mathrm{H}^c_S(Y, f^{-1}v)$, when f is proper

In addition, when *f* is proper then the comparison maps $\alpha_{X/S}$ and $\alpha'_{X/S}$ (see (2.2.1.a) and (2.2.1.b)) are compatible with f_* and f^* .

Remark 2.2.6. Homotopy twisted by some virtual bundle *w* on *Y*, with or without compact support, is not covariant functorial unless *w* is the pullback of some virtual bundle on *X*.

Example 2.2.7. Suppose X/S is a separated *S*-scheme, and let $\nu : X_0 \to X$ be the immersion on the underlying reduced subscheme (in fact any nil-immersion will work). The localization property for \mathscr{T} implies that (ν^*, ν_*) is an equivalence of categories ([27, 2.3.6]). As $\nu_* = \nu_1$ it follows that $\nu^* = \nu^!$. For any virtual vector bundle v on X and $v_0 = \nu^*(v)$, one deduces the naturally induced isomorphisms

$$\nu_* : \Pi_S(X_0, v_0) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \Pi_S(X, v), \nu_* : \Pi_S^c(X_0, v_0) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \Pi_S^c(X, v)$$
$$\nu^* : \mathrm{H}_S(X, v) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathrm{H}_S(X_0, v_0), \nu^* : \mathrm{H}_S^c(X, v) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathrm{H}_S^c(X_0, v_0)$$

In particular, with v = 0, we get

$$\Pi_X(X_0) \simeq \Pi_X^c(X_0) \simeq \mathrm{H}_X(X_0) \simeq \mathrm{H}_X^c(X_0) \simeq \mathbf{1}_X$$

2.2.8. A smooth separated S-scheme $f: X \to S$ is said to be stably A^1 -contractible over S if the induced map $f_*: \Pi_S(X) \to \mathbf{1}_S$ is an isomorphism. Note that due to the existence of the conservative family $(s^*)_{s \in S}$ of [27, Prop. 4.3.17], this property is equivalent to ask that for every point $s \in S$, the fiber X_s is stably \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible over $\kappa(s)$.

Lemma 2.2.9. Let S be a regular scheme and suppose $f: X \to S$ is stably \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible over S. Then every virtual bundle v over X is constant relative to S, i.e., $v = f^*v_0$ for some virtual vector bundle v_0 over S.

Moreover, let T be the tangent bundle of X/S and let v_0 be the virtual vector bundle over S such that $\langle T \rangle = f^* v_0$. Then there is a naturally induced isomorphism

$$f_*f^!(-) \simeq \operatorname{Th}_S(v_0) \otimes -$$

Proof. The first assertion is a consequence of the representability of K_0 in SH(S). To prove the assertion, one considers for every object $\mathbb E$ of $\mathscr T(S)$ the composite of exchange isomorphisms

$$f_*f^!(\mathbb{E}) \stackrel{(a)}{\simeq} f_*(\operatorname{Th}(T) \otimes f^*(\mathbb{E})) = f_*(\operatorname{Th}(f^*v_0) \otimes f^*(\mathbb{E})) \stackrel{(b)}{\simeq} \operatorname{Th}(v_0) \otimes f_*f^*(\mathbb{E}) \stackrel{(c)}{\simeq} \operatorname{Th}(v_0) \otimes \mathbb{E}$$

Here (a) is an instance of the relative purity isomorphism, (b) follows from the fact that $Th(v_0)$ is \otimes -invertible, and (c) holds because *f* is a stable **A**¹-weak equivalence and since *f* is smooth, one has: $f_*f^*(\mathbb{E}) \simeq \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\Pi_S(X), \mathbb{E}).^5$

Definition 2.2.10. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a morphism of separated *S*-schemes and let *v* be a virtual vector bundle v over X. We denote the homotopy cofiber of $f_*: \Pi_S(Y, f^{-1}v) \to \Pi_S(X, v)$ by $\Pi_S(X/Y, v)$ so that there is an homotopy exact sequence

$$\Pi_S(Y, f^{-1}v) \to \Pi_S(X, v) \to \Pi_S(X/Y, v)$$

2.3. Virtual fundamental classes, homotopical smoothness and purity.

2.3.1. Exceptional functoriality (Gysin maps): Due to the existence of the fundamental classes introduced in [35] the four theories in Definition 2.2.1 satisfy exceptional functoriality (see [35, 4.3.4] for the general case of a triangulated motivic category).

Let $f: Y \to X$ be a smoothable lci morphism, i.e., f factors as a regular closed immersion followed by a smooth morphism, with cotangent complex \mathcal{L}_f and associated virtual tangent bundle τ_f . One deduces, from the system of fundamental classes in [35, Theorem 3.3.2], the canonical natural transformation

$$\mathfrak{p}_f(-): \mathrm{Th}(\tau_f) \otimes f^* \to f^!$$

By adjunction, one deduces trace and cotrace maps (see §4.3.4 in *loc. cit.*)

$$\operatorname{tr}_f: f_!(\operatorname{Th}(\tau_f) \otimes f^*) \to Id \text{ and } \operatorname{cotr}_f: Id \to f_*(\operatorname{Th}(-\tau_f) \otimes f^!)$$

The latter maps induce the Gysin maps:

- $f^!: \Pi_S(X, v) \to \Pi_S(Y, f^{-1}v \tau_f)$, when f is proper $f_!: \operatorname{H}_S(Y, f^{-1}v + \tau_f) \to \operatorname{H}_S(X, v)$, when f is proper

•
$$f^!: \Pi^c_S(X, v) \to \Pi^c_S(Y, f^{-1}v - \tau_f)$$

• $f_!: \operatorname{H}^c_S(Y, f^{-1}v + \tau_f) \to \operatorname{H}^c_S(X, v)$

Again, assuming f is proper, the comparison maps $\alpha_{X/S}$ and $\alpha'_{X/S}$ are compatible with the above Gysin morphisms in the obvious sense.

2.3.2. Fundamental classes. Characteristic classes are cohomology classes used for classification and computations. It is also possible to define these invariants as cohomotopy classes. Recall also that fundamental classes extend to bivariant homotopy (suitably twisted), see [35] as already mentioned in 2.3.1.

⁵Recall the last isomorphism follows from the axioms of premotivic categories: indeed by the smooth projection formula, $f_{\sharp}f^{*}(-) = \Pi_{S}(X) \otimes -$ and we conclude as $f_{*}f^{*}$ is right adjoint to $f_{\sharp}f^{*}$.

Example 2.3.3. *Euler exact sequence and Euler classes.* Let $f : X \to S$ be a smooth *S*-scheme and let *V* be a vector bundle of rank *r* on *X*. From the localization triangle associated with the zero section *s* of *V* and the homotopy property $\Pi_S(V) \simeq \Pi_S(X)$, one derives the homotopy exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Th}_{S}(V)[-1] \to \Pi_{S}(V^{\times}) \to \Pi_{S}(X) \xrightarrow{s} \operatorname{Th}_{S}(V)$$

Note that, by definition, when X = S, then $s^! : \mathbf{1}_X \to \text{Th}(V)$ is the realization in $\mathscr{T}(X)$ of V's Euler class $e(V) \in \text{SH}(X)$ defined in [35, Definition 3.1.2]. When $f : X \to S$ is not the identity, then $s^!$ is the image of the realization of e(V) by $f_!$. This justifies our notation $e_S(V, \mathscr{T}) = s^!$. In particular, note that $e_S(V, \mathscr{T})$ is zero whenever V contains the trivial line bundle \mathbf{A}^1_X as a direct summand (*loc. cit.*, Corollary 3.1.8).

In the case *S* is the spectrum of a field, we have the following:

(1) When $\mathscr{T} = DM$ or, more generally, when \mathscr{T} is oriented, the *motivic Euler class*

$$e(V): \mathbf{1}_X \to \mathrm{Th}(V) \simeq \mathbf{1}_X(n)[2n]$$

corresponds to the top Chern class $c_n(V)$ under the isomorphism $\mathbb{H}^{2n,n}_M(X) \simeq CH^n(X)$.

(2) As a map in $\widetilde{DM}(X)$, the realization of the stable homotopy Euler class e(V) corresponds to Barge-Morel-Fasel's Euler class in the Chow-Witt group $\widetilde{CH}^n(X, \det V)$ of X twisted by the determinant of V.

For a smoothable lci morphism $f : X \to S$ with virtual tangent bundle τ_f one has the canonical class

$$\eta_f: \operatorname{Th}(\tau_f) \to f^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$$

which we will consider as a homotopy class in

$$H_0^{\mathscr{G}}(X/S,\tau_f) := [\operatorname{Th}(\tau_f), f^!(\mathbf{1}_S)] = [f_!(\operatorname{Th}(\tau_f)), \mathbf{1}_S]$$

for the bivariant homology theory (with respect to \mathscr{T}) of X/S and twist τ_f . In fact, this bivariant class is a cohomotopy class; that is, an element of the abelian group

$$H^n_{\mathscr{T}}(X,\tau_f) := [\mathbf{1}_X, \operatorname{Th}(\tau_f)[n]]$$

We impose the following assumptions.

- (1) f is proper.
- (2) there exists a virtual bundle v over S and an isomorphism $\epsilon : \tau_f \simeq f^{-1}(v)$. The couple (ϵ, v) , or simply ϵ when v is clear, will be called an *f*-parallelization of τ_f .

In this case, we can consider the composite map

$$H^0_{\mathscr{T}}(X) \xrightarrow{\epsilon_*} H^0_{\mathscr{T}}(X, \tau_f - f^{-1}v) \xrightarrow{f_!} H^0_{\mathscr{T}}(S, -v)$$

Here, the choice of ϵ yields the first map, and the second one is the Gysin map in cohomotopy (see *op. cit.*). The image of the unit element 1 in cohomotopy $H^0_{\mathscr{T}}(X)$ can be deduced from the fundamental class η_f via the composite

$$\operatorname{Th}(v) \xrightarrow{ad_f} f_*f^*(\operatorname{Th}(v)) \simeq f_!(\operatorname{Th}(f^{-1}v)) \xrightarrow{\epsilon_*} f_!(\operatorname{Th}(\tau_f)) \xrightarrow{\eta_f} \mathbf{1}_S$$

Definition 2.3.4. Let $f : X \to S$ be a proper smoothable lci map with an *f*-parallelization (ϵ, v) of its virtual tangent bundle. The associated twisted fundamental class is given by

$$\eta_f^{\epsilon} = f_! \epsilon_*(1) \in H^0_{\mathscr{T}}(S, -v)$$

When $f = i : Z \to X$ is a regular closed immersion, and we consider an *f*-parallelization (ϵ, v) of its normal bundle N_i , corresponding to an *f*-parallelization $\epsilon' : \tau_i = -\langle N_i \rangle \to -v$, we also define the twisted fundamental class of (Z, ϵ) in X as

$$[Z]_X^{\epsilon} = f_! \epsilon'_*(1) \in H^0_{\mathscr{T}}(X, v)$$

Example 2.3.5. In our definition, the reader might be surprised by the cohomotopical index 0. The "true" degree is hidden in the twist. In particular, for $\mathscr{T} = DM$ (resp. \widetilde{DM}), and a rank *d* virtual bundle *v* over a smooth *k*-scheme *X*, we have

$$H^0_{\mathrm{DM}}(X,v) \simeq \mathrm{CH}^d(X), \text{ (resp. } H^0_{\widetilde{\mathrm{DM}}}(X,v) \simeq \widetilde{\mathrm{CH}}^d(X,\det v))$$

The Chow (resp. Chow-Witt) group of X (resp. twisted by the invertible sheaf det(v)). For $\mathscr{T} =$ SH, there is also a canonical isomorphism $H^0_{SH}(X, v) \simeq \widetilde{CH}^d(X, \det(v))$, see Proposition 6.2.2 in the Appendix. In the motivic case or any of the oriented triangulated motivic categories of (1.2.0.a), the motivic fundamental class of a closed immersion $i : Z \to X$ and f-parallelization (ϵ, v) is the usual cycle class of Z in $CH^d(X)$ (resp. in the relevant cohomology in degree 2d and twist d). It is independent of the chosen f-parallelization. This is not the case in the category of Milnor-Witt motives and in SH, as modifying the twist \mathcal{L} in $\widetilde{CH}^d(X, \mathcal{L})$ can change the group.

Example 2.3.6. Given a regular closed immersion $i : Z \to X$, a way to obtain an *i*-parallelization of the normal bundle N_i is to consider an lci morphism $p : X \to Z'$ such that $p \circ i$ is étale. Indeed, in that case, if τ_p denotes the virtual tangent bundle of p, we get a canonical isomorphism $\epsilon : \langle N_i \rangle \simeq i^{-1} \tau_p$ as the tangent bundle of $p \circ i$ is trivial.

An important example for us comes from the diagonal immersion $\delta : X \to X \times_S X$ of a smooth *S*-scheme *X*. It admits two smooth retractions given by the projections p_j , for j = 1, 2. We denote the corresponding twisted fundamental classes by

$$[\Delta_{X/S}]^{\mathcal{I}}_{X \times X} \in H^0_{\mathscr{T}}(X \times_S X, p_i^{-1}\langle T_{X/S} \rangle)$$

2.3.7. Homotopical smoothness and purity.

Definition 2.3.8. (See also [35, Definition 4.3.7]). Let $f : X \to S$ be a smoothable lci morphism with virtual tangent bundle τ_f . We say that f is *homotopically smooth* (*h-smooth*) with respect to the motivic ∞ -category \mathscr{T} if the natural transformation

$$\mathfrak{p}_f(-): \mathrm{Th}(\tau_f) \otimes f^* \to f^!$$

(see (2.3.1.a)) evaluated at the sphere spectrum $\mathbf{1}_S$ is an isomorphism $\mathfrak{p}_f : \mathrm{Th}(\tau_f) \to f^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$.

2.3.9. One gets the following basic properties of h-smoothness: considering composable lci smoothable morphisms f, g, $h = f \circ g$ (which is also lci smoothable), if f and g (resp. f and h) are h-smooth, then so is h (resp. g). Moreover, if g! is conservative, g and h being h-smooth implies that f is h-smooth. On the other hand, h-smoothness is not stable under base change.

Example 2.3.10. Here are some examples of h-smooth maps $f : X \to S$.

- f is smooth
- *X*, *S* are smooth over some base *B* and *f* is a morphism of *B*-schemes
- *X*, *S* are regular over a field *k* and \mathscr{T} is continuous, see [33, Appendix A] (all our examples are continuous in this sense)
- (Absolute purity) X and S are regular and $\mathscr{T} = SH_{\mathbb{Q}}, DM_{\mathbb{Q}}, DM_{\text{\'et}}, D(-_{\text{\'et}}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$

In particular, a closed immersion between smooth varieties over a field is h-smooth. On the other hand, not all regular closed immersions are h-smooth:

Example 2.3.11. Consider the regular closed immersion

$$i: Z = Z_1 \cup_{\{o\}} Z_2 \to X = \mathbf{A}^2$$

of the union of coordinate axes $Z_j \simeq \mathbf{A}^1$, j = 1, 2 in the affine plane \mathbf{A}^2 over a field k. We claim that i is not h-smooth (see Corollary 3.3.7 and Example 3.3.8 for more context).

The normal bundle $N_{Z/X}$ is the trivial line bundle of rank 1. Let $i_0 : \{o\} \to Z$ be the induced closed immersion and note that the composite immersion $i \circ i_0 : \{o\} \to X$ is h-smooth, with trivial normal bundle $N_{\{o\}/X}$ of rank 2. Now apply cdh-descent to the canonically induced cdh-distinguished square of closed immersions

$$\begin{cases} o \end{cases} \xrightarrow{i_{0,1}} Z_1 \\ \downarrow & \searrow \\ Z_2 \xrightarrow{i_0} Z \end{cases}$$

We obtain the homotopy exact sequence

$$\mathbf{1}_Z \to i_{1*}\mathbf{1}_{Z_1} \oplus i_{2*}\mathbf{1}_{Z_2} \to i_{0*}\mathbf{1}_{\{o\}}$$

Applying $i_0^!$ to this sequence and using the base change isomorphisms $i_0^! i_{j,*}(\mathbf{1}_{Z_j}) \simeq i_{0,j}^! (\mathbf{1}_{Z_j})$ and the purity isomorphisms $i_{0,j}^! (\mathbf{1}_{Z_j}) \simeq \text{Th}_{\{o\}}(-N_{\{o\}/Z_j}) \simeq \mathbf{1}_k(-1)[-2]$ for the h-smooth closed immersions $i_{0,j} : \{o\} \to Z_j$ we get the homotopy exact sequence

$$i_0^!(\mathbf{1}_Z) \to \mathbf{1}_k(-1)[-2] \oplus \mathbf{1}_k(-1)[-2] \to \mathbf{1}_k$$

The second map in the above sequence is given by a pair of elements in $\pi_{2r,r}(k)$ for some r < 0. Hence it is trivial, and we obtain the isomorphism (see Corollary 3.3.7 for a generalization)

$$i_0^!(\mathbf{1}_Z) \simeq \mathbf{1}_k(-1)[-2] \oplus \mathbf{1}_k(-1)[-2] \oplus \mathbf{1}_k[-1]$$

On the other hand, if *i* was h-smooth, we would have $i^!(\mathbf{1}_X) \simeq \text{Th}_Z(-N_{Z/X})$. Hence, by applying $i_0^!$ and using (2.1.1.a) and the \otimes -invertibility of $\text{Th}_{\{o\}}(i_0^{-1}N_{Z/X})$, we would obtain isomorphisms

$$i_0^!(\mathbf{1}_Z) \simeq i_0^! i^!(\mathbf{1}_X) \otimes \operatorname{Th}_{\{o\}}(i_0^{-1} N_{Z/X}) \simeq \operatorname{Th}_{\{o\}}(-N_{\{o\}/X}) \otimes \operatorname{Th}_{\{o\}}(i_0^{-1} N_{Z/X}) \simeq \mathbf{1}_k(-1)[-2]$$

The h-smoothness property allows one to compare the four different theories in Definition 2.2.1 and generalizes the smooth case. More precisely, the "associativity formula" for fundamental classes in [35, Theorem 3.3.2] implies the next result.

Proposition 2.3.12. Let $f : X \to S$ be an h-smooth morphism with virtual tangent bundle τ_f . Then the purity isomorphism $\mathfrak{p}_f : \operatorname{Th}(\tau_f) \to f^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$ induces isomorphisms

$$\Pi_{S}(X,v) = f_{!}\big(\operatorname{Th}(v) \otimes f^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S})\big) \xrightarrow{\mathfrak{p}_{f}^{-1}} f_{!}\big(\operatorname{Th}(v) \otimes \operatorname{Th}(\tau_{f})\big) = \operatorname{H}_{S}^{c}(X,v+\tau_{f})$$
$$\Pi_{S}^{c}(X,v) = f_{*}\big(\operatorname{Th}(v) \otimes f^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S})\big) \xrightarrow{\mathfrak{p}_{f}^{-1}} f_{*}\big(\operatorname{Th}(v) \otimes \operatorname{Th}(\tau_{f})\big) = \operatorname{H}_{S}(X,v+\tau_{f})$$

Moreover, these isomorphisms transform the natural functoriality (resp. Gysin map) in the source to the Gysin map (resp. natural functoriality) on the target.

2.4. **Closed pairs.** A *closed S*-*pair* is a pair (X, Z) consisting of a separated *S*-scheme $f : X \to Z$ and a closed subscheme $i : Z \hookrightarrow X$ of *X*. For such a pair we denote by $j : X - Z \to X$ the complementary open immersion, so that we have a commutative diagram

(2.4.0.a)
$$Z \xrightarrow{i} X \xrightarrow{j} X - Z$$

A morphism $(\Phi, \varphi) : (Y, T) \to (X, Z)$ of closed *S*-pairs is a topologically cartesian commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} (2.4.0.b) & T \longrightarrow Y \\ & \varphi & & & \downarrow \Phi \\ & & & Z \longrightarrow X \end{array}$$

Here, the horizontal maps are closed immersions. Note that $\Pi_S(X/X-Z)$ is functorial for morphisms of closed *S*-pairs. A morphism of closed *S*-pairs (Φ, φ) is said to be cartesian if (2.4.0.b) is cartesian. It is said to be Nisnevich-excisive (resp. cdh-excisive) if (2.4.0.b) is Nisnevich-distinguished (resp. cdhdistinguished) in the sense of [85]. An excisive morphism of closed *S*-pairs induces an isomorphism in $\mathcal{T}(S)$. Indeed, this follows from Nisnevich excision, which is implied by the localization property in [27, 3.3.4].

Definition 2.4.1. A closed *S*-pair (X, Z) is *weakly smooth (resp. weakly h-smooth)* if there exists a Nisnevich neighborhood *V* of *Z* in *X* such that *V* and *Z* are smooth (resp. h-smooth, see Definition 2.3.8) over *S*.

We note that for closed *S*-pairs as in Definition 2.4.1, the closed immersion $i : Z \to X$ is necessarily regular with normal bundle $N_{Z/X}$.

2.4.2. Suppose (X, Z) is a closed *S*-pair with the property that *X* is h-smooth over *S* in some Nisnevich neighborhood of its closed subscheme *Z*. Then, although the cotangent complex $\mathcal{L}_{X/S}$ might not be a perfect complex on *X*, it restricts by assumption to a perfect complex on a suitable Nisnevich neighborhood of *Z* in *X*. Thus, one can canonically define $i^{-1}\tau_{X/S}$ as a virtual vector bundle on *Z* (by choosing an appropriate Nisnevich neighborhood and showing that it is independent of the choice).

We extend the Morel-Voevodsky homotopy purity theorem as follows, see also Theorem 3.4.3 for a refinement when *Z* has smooth crossing singularities.

Theorem 2.4.3. Let (X, Z) be a closed S-pair and let v be virtual vector bundle on X. Then the following hold:

(1) If X is h-smooth over S in a Nisnevich neighbordhood of Z, then there are canonical purity isomorphisms

(2.4.3.a)
$$\begin{aligned} \Pi_S(X/X - Z, v) &\simeq & \mathrm{H}^c_S(Z, i^{-1}v + i^{-1}\tau_{X/S}) \\ \mathrm{H}_S(X/X - Z, v) &\simeq & \Pi^c_S(Z, i^{-1}v - i^{-1}\tau_{X/S}) \end{aligned}$$

(2) If moreover (X, Z) is weakly h-smooth, then there are canonical purity isomorphisms

(2.4.3.b)
$$\begin{aligned} \Pi_S(X/X-Z,v) &\simeq & \Pi_S(Z,i^{-1}v+\langle N_{Z/X}\rangle \\ \Pi_S(X/X-Z,v) &\simeq & \Pi_S(Z,i^{-1}v-\langle N_{Z/X}\rangle \end{aligned}$$

which are natural for morphisms of weakly h-smooth closed S-pairs.

Proof. By Nisnevich excision for closed *S*-pairs, we are reduced to the case where $f : X \to S$ is hsmooth, with virtual tangent bundle τ_f . The fact that the two isomorphisms do not depend on the choice of a Nisnevich neighborhood follows by the functoriality of the excision isomorphism. With the notation (2.4.0.a), by inserting $\text{Th}(v) \otimes f^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S})$ in the localization exact homotopy sequence

$$j_!j^! \to Id \to i_*i^*$$

and applying $f_!$ we get the exact homotopy

$$\Pi_S(X-Z,j^{-1}v) \to \Pi_S(X,v) \to p_! \big(\operatorname{Th}(i^{-1}v) \otimes i^* f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \big)$$

Here we used the identifications

$$f_! j_! j^! \big(\operatorname{Th}(v) \otimes f^! (\mathbf{1}_S) \big) \simeq q_! \big(\operatorname{Th}(j^{-1}v) \otimes q^! (\mathbf{1}_S) \big) = \Pi_S (X - Z, j^{-1}v)$$

$$f_! i_* i^* \big(\operatorname{Th}(v) \otimes f^! (\mathbf{1}_S) \big) \simeq f_! i_! \big(\operatorname{Th}(i^{-1}v) \otimes i^* f^! (\mathbf{1}_S) \big) = p_! \big(\operatorname{Th}(i^{-1}v) \otimes i^* f^! (\mathbf{1}_S) \big)$$

In particular, there is an isomorphism

$$\Pi_S(X/X-Z,v) \simeq p_! \big(\operatorname{Th}(i^{-1}v) \otimes i^* f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \big)$$

The purity isomorphism then yields the desired isomorphism

$$\Pi_S(X/X - Z, v) \simeq p_! \big(\operatorname{Th}(i^{-1}v) \otimes i^* f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \big) \xrightarrow{\mathfrak{p}_f^{-1}} p_! \big(\operatorname{Th}(i^{-1}v) \otimes i^*(\operatorname{Th}(\tau_f) \otimes f^*(\mathbf{1}_S)) \big) \\ = p_! \big(\operatorname{Th}(i^{-1}v + i^{-1}\tau_f) \big) = \operatorname{H}_S^c(Z, i^{-1}v + i^{-1}\tau_f)$$

In the case where Z/S is h-smooth, with virtual tangent bundle τ_p , the purity isomorphism \mathfrak{p}_p in Proposition 2.3.12 yields in turn an isomorphism

$$\mathrm{H}_{S}^{c}(Z, i^{-1}v + i^{-1}\tau_{f}) \cong \Pi_{S}(Z, i^{-1}v + i^{-1}\tau_{f} - \tau_{p}) = \Pi_{S}(Z, i^{-1}v + \langle N_{Z/X} \rangle)$$

The second isomorphism in Theorem 2.4.3 is now a direct consequence of the h-smoothness property of Z/S.

The dual statements for $H_S(X/X - Z, v)$ follow from similar arguments applied to the dual localization homotopy exact sequence $i_!i^! \to Id \to j_*j^*$.

2.5. Computations of weak duals.

2.5.1. Recall [30, 5.2] that an object M of a monoidal category with unit 1 is said to be *rigid* (or *strongly dualizable*) with dual M^{\vee} if there exists pairing and co-pairing maps

$$\mu: M \otimes M^{\vee} \to \mathbf{1}, \epsilon: \mathbf{1} \to M^{\vee} \otimes M$$

satisfying relations that express the functors $M \otimes -$ and $- \otimes M^{\vee}$ as both left and right adjoints. In a general symmetric monoidal category, if an object M is rigid, then $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(M, 1)$ is a (strong) dual of M, and the duality pairing is given by the evaluation map $M \otimes \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(M, 1) \to 1$. This justifies the terminology *weak dual* of M for the object $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(M, 1)$. Next, we highlight some weaker results which will be useful in the remaining. We first pin down a notion that appears to be missing in previous works on the six functors formalism.

Definition 2.5.2. A separated morphism $f : X \to S$ is called *pre-\mathcal{T}-dualizing* if the map

(2.5.2.a)
$$\mathbf{1}_X \to \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}\left(f^!(\mathbf{1}_S), f^!(\mathbf{1}_S)\right)$$

obtained by adjunction from the identity of $f'(\mathbf{1}_S)$ is an isomorphism in $\mathscr{T}(X)$.

Example 2.5.3. According to Definition 2.3.8, any h-smooth morphism is pre-dualizing.

Remark 2.5.4. The notion of a pre-dualizing morphism is closely linked with Grothendieck-Verdier duality, as shown in [27, 4.4.11]. In fact, if $f^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$ is a dualizing object ([27, Definition 4.4.4]), then f is pre-dualizing. Thus, it follows from [9] that f is pre-SH-dualizing as soon as its target is smooth over a field of characteristic 0. In many cases, if the target of f is regular, then f is pre-dualizing: see [57] for $D(-_{\text{ét}}, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$, [27] for DM, [26] for DM_{ét}, and [33] for SH₀.

The following proposition provides formulas for some weak duals, hence for potential strong duals when they exist.

Proposition 2.5.5. *Let* $f : X \to S$ *be a separated S*-scheme and let v *be a virtual vector bundle over X. Then the following hold:*

(1) There exists a canonical isomorphism

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\operatorname{H}^{c}_{S}(X,v),\mathbf{1}_{S}) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \Pi^{c}_{S}(X,-v)$$

which is functorial in X, for both the natural functoriality for proper maps (2.2.5) and for the Gysin morphisms for smoothable lci morphisms (2.3.1).

(2) If moreover f is pre-dualizing, then there exists an isomorphism

 $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\Pi_S(X,v),\mathbf{1}_S) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{H}_S(X,-v)$

which is again functorial for the natural functorialities and Gysin maps.

(3) If moreover f is h-smooth, with virtual tangent bundle τ_f , then the purity isomorphism \mathfrak{p}_f induces canonical isomorphisms

<u>Hom</u> $(\Pi_S(X, v), \mathbf{1}_S) \simeq \Pi_S^c(X, -v - \tau_f)$ and <u>Hom</u> $(\mathrm{H}_S^c(X, v), \mathbf{1}_S) \simeq \mathrm{H}_S(X, -v + \tau_f)$ which are natural with respect to the natural functorialities and the Gysin maps, both restricted to proper morphisms.

Proof. To prove the isomorphism in (1) we use

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\operatorname{H}^{c}_{S}(X,v),\mathbf{1}_{S}) = \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(f_{!}(\operatorname{Th}(v)),\mathbf{1}_{S}) \xrightarrow{(a)} f_{*} \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\operatorname{Th}(v), f^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S}))$$
$$\stackrel{(b)}{\simeq} f_{*}(\operatorname{Th}(-v) \otimes f^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S})) = \Pi^{c}_{S}(X,-v)$$

Here, (a) (resp. (b)) follows from the internal interpretation of the fact that $f^!$ is right adjoint to $f_!$ (resp. that Th(v) is \otimes -invertible).

To deduce (2), we consider the isomorphisms

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\Pi_{S}(X,v),\mathbf{1}_{S}) = \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}\left(f_{!}\big(\operatorname{Th}(v)\otimes f^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S})\big),\mathbf{1}_{S}\big) \xrightarrow{(a)} f_{*} \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}\big(\operatorname{Th}(v)\otimes f^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S}),f^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S})\big) \\ \stackrel{(b)}{\simeq} f_{*}\big(\operatorname{Th}(-v)\otimes \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}\left(f^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S}),f^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S})\right)\big) \\ \stackrel{(c)}{\simeq} f_{*}\big(\operatorname{Th}(-v)\otimes\mathbf{1}_{X}\big) = \operatorname{H}_{S}(X,-v)$$

(~)

Here, (a) and (b) are justified as before in (1), and (c) follows from the assumption that f is predualizing. The isomorphisms in (3) are a combination of (1) and (2), and the isomorphisms of Proposition 2.3.12.

Each functoriality statement is clear by construction.

Example 2.5.6. Here are known examples to which Proposition 2.5.5 applies to give formulas for strong duals:

(1) For $\mathscr{T} = SH(k)$, where *k* is a field of characteristic 0, according to [76, Theorem 1.4] any constructible spectrum is rigid. It follows from [10] that the six operations preserve constructibility for morphisms of *k*-schemes finite type.

(a) In particular, $H_k^c(X, v)$ and $\Pi_k^c(X, v)$ are both rigid, and the point (1) above shows that $\Pi_k^c(X, v)$ is dual to $H_k^c(X, -v)$ (and reciprocally).

(b) Similarly, $\Pi_k(X, v)$ and $H_k(X, v)$ are constructible, and thus rigid. As Remark 2.5.4 shows that X/k is pre-dualizing, point (2) of the above proposition shows that $\Pi_k(X, v)$ is dual to $H_k(X, -v)$. See Proposition 3.4.1 for a generalization.

(c) Finally, if X is smooth, point (3) shows that $\Pi_k(X, v)$ is dual to $\Pi_k^c(X, -v - \langle T_{X/k} \rangle)$, which is the expected generalization of Poincaré duality. This result will be extended in Theorem 3.4.2.

(2) Using [22, Theorem 2.4.9] (see also [53, Theorem 5.8]), the same results hold in SH(k)[1/p] if k has positive characteristic p.

Over a base scheme *S* of positive dimension, the situation is more complicated. When X/S is smooth and proper, Example 2.5.7 shows that $\Pi_S(X, v) = \Pi_S^c(X, v)$ is rigid for any virtual vector bundle *v*. Theorems 3.4.1, 3.4.3 and Corollary 3.5.4 below give several new examples of rigid relative spectra and motives. In general, neither properness nor smoothness alone ensures rigidness, see Example 2.5.8.

Example 2.5.7. *Poincaré duality* (see [30, 5.4]). Let $f : X \to S$ be a smooth proper *S*-scheme with tangent bundle *T*. Then, for any virtual bundle *v* over *X*, $\Pi_S(X, v)$ is rigid with dual

$$\Pi_S(X, -\langle T \rangle - v) = \operatorname{Th}_S(-v - \langle T \rangle)$$

Note that the given expression of the dual corresponds to that in Proposition 2.5.5(2) via the purity isomorphism $\Pi_S(X, -v - \langle T \rangle) \simeq \mathrm{H}^c_S(X, -v) = \mathrm{H}_S(X, -v)$ of Proposition 2.3.12.

$$\square$$

Indeed, letting $\delta : X \to X \times_S X$ be the diagonal closed immersion, the pairing and co-pairing maps are given by the composite maps

$$\Pi_{S}(X,v) \otimes \Pi_{S}(X,-v-\langle T \rangle) \stackrel{(*)}{\simeq} \Pi_{S}(X \times_{S} X,-\langle p_{1}^{-1}T_{f} \rangle) \stackrel{\delta!}{\to} \Pi_{S}(X) \stackrel{f_{*}}{\to} \mathbf{1}_{S}$$
$$\mathbf{1}_{S} \stackrel{f'}{\to} \Pi_{S}(X,-\langle T \rangle) \stackrel{\delta_{*}}{\to} \Pi_{S}(X \times_{S} X,-\langle p_{1}^{-1}T \rangle) \stackrel{(*)}{\simeq} \Pi_{S}(X,-v-\langle T \rangle) \otimes \Pi_{S}(X,v)$$

Here the labels (*)'s are instances of the Künneth isomorphism (2.6.1.b) given in the next subsection. The required identities follow from the base change formula for Gysin morphisms in [35, 3.3.2(iii)].

Example 2.5.8. Let $i : Z \to S$ be a h-smooth closed immersion (e.g., Z and S are smooth over a field k) with nonempty open complement $j : U \to S$. We claim that $\Pi_S(U) = j_!(\mathbf{1}_U)$ is not rigid. Indeed, assuming the contrary, according to Proposition 2.5.5 its dual would be isomorphic to $j_*(\mathbf{1}_U)$. Since i^* is monoidal, it would follow that $i^*j_!(\mathbf{1}_U)$ is rigid with dual $i^*j_*(\mathbf{1}_U)$. The first spectrum is trivial, whereas purity identifies the second one with an extension of $\mathbf{1}_Z$ by $\text{Th}(N_{Z/S})$, which is thus necessarily a nontrivial spectrum. An identical (dual) argument shows that $\Pi_S(Z)$ is not rigid.

In a similar vein, [72, Remark 8.2] gives the following: let S = Spec(R) be the spectrum of a discrete valuation R with quotient field K. Then $\Pi_S(\text{Spec}(K))$ is not rigid in SH(S).

2.6. **Künneth isomorphisms.** We collect here several variants of Künneth formulas (see also Proposition 3.3.6).

Example 2.6.1. *Künneth isomorphisms*. Let X, Y be separated S-schemes and v, w be virtual vector bundles over X, Y, respectively. Then one deduces from the projection and base change formulas a canonical isomorphism (obtained from exchange isomorphisms, see [27])

(2.6.1.a)
$$\operatorname{H}^{c}_{S}(X, v) \otimes \operatorname{H}^{c}_{S}(Y, w) \simeq \operatorname{H}^{c}_{S}(X \times_{S} Y, p_{1}^{-1}v + p_{2}^{-1}w)$$

If *X* and *Y* are in addition smooth over *S*, then we have the more usual Künneth formula (see [27, 1.1.37])

(2.6.1.b)
$$\Pi_S(X,v) \otimes \Pi_S(Y,w) \simeq \Pi_S(X \times_S Y, p_1^{-1}v + p_2^{-1}w)$$

One can also deduce (2.6.1.b) from the previous one by using the relative purity isomorphism. Example 2.6.2 shows the second Künneth formula (2.6.1.b) fails in the non-smooth case.

Example 2.6.2. One can extend the Künneth formula (2.6.1.b) to the non smooth case (see below for example) but one still needs assumptions. Indeed, one cannot replace in general smoothness by h-smoothness. For example, for the zero section $s : X \to \mathbf{A}_X^n = S$, $n \ge 1$, one has $\prod_S(X) = s_*(\mathbf{1}_X)(n)[2n]$ and

$$\Pi_{S}(X) \otimes_{S} \Pi_{S}(X) = s_{*}(\mathbf{1}_{X})(n)[2n] \otimes s_{*}(\mathbf{1}_{X})(n)[2n] = s_{*}(\mathbf{1}_{X})(2n)[4n]$$

The latter is different from $\Pi_S(X \times_S X) = \Pi_S(X)$ (in any of our motivic ∞ -categories).

2.6.3. In the following result, we give some new cases of Künneth formulas to compute stable homotopy at infinity (see Propositions 4.3.5 and 4.3.6). To a cartesian square of separated morphisms

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X \times_S Y \xrightarrow{p} Y \\ q \downarrow & \searrow & \downarrow g \\ X \xrightarrow{q} & S \end{array}$$

we associate the following commutative diagram of exchange transformations and the map $\alpha_{?}$ forgetting proper support

$$(2.6.3.a) \begin{array}{c} f_!f^!(\mathbf{1}) \otimes g_!g^!(\mathbf{1}) \xrightarrow{\alpha_f \otimes \alpha_g} f_*f^!(\mathbf{1}) \otimes g_*g^!(\mathbf{1}) \\ \sim \downarrow & \downarrow^{(1)} \\ g_!(g^*f_!f^!(\mathbf{1}) \otimes g^!(\mathbf{1})) \xrightarrow{\alpha_g(\alpha_f)} g_*(g^*f_*f^!(\mathbf{1}) \otimes g^!(\mathbf{1})) \\ \sim \downarrow & \downarrow^{(2)} \\ g_!(p_!q^*f^!(\mathbf{1}) \otimes g^!(\mathbf{1})) \xrightarrow{\alpha_g(\alpha_p)} g_*(p_*q^*f^!(\mathbf{1}) \otimes g^!(\mathbf{1})) \\ \sim \downarrow & \downarrow^{(3)} \\ h_!(q^*f^!(\mathbf{1}) \otimes p^*g^!(\mathbf{1})) \xrightarrow{\alpha_h} h_*(q^*f^!(\mathbf{1}) \otimes p^*g^!(\mathbf{1})) \\ \xrightarrow{(4)} & \downarrow^{(4)} \\ h_!(h^!(\mathbf{1})) \xrightarrow{\alpha_h} h_*(h^!(\mathbf{1})) \end{array}$$

Here, α_r denotes any map induced by the natural transformation $r_! \rightarrow r_*$.

Theorem 2.6.4. With the above notation, assume that one of the following conditions is satisfied:

- *i) Y is smooth and proper over S.*
- *ii) S* is the spectrum of a field *k* of characteristic exponent *p* and either \mathscr{T} is $\mathbb{Z}[1/p]$ -linear or receives a realization functor from $DM_{\acute{e}t}$ as in (1.2.0.a).
- iii) Y is smooth and stably A^1 -contractible over S with stably constant tangent bundle T_g (see 2.2.8).

Then all the vertical maps in (2.6.3.a) are isomorphisms, and there is an induced commutative diagram

Proof. In each case, we have to prove that the morphisms (1) to (4) in (2.6.3.a) are isomorphisms. Case i) is transparent. Next, we consider Case ii). If \mathscr{T} is $\mathbb{Z}[1/p]$ -linear then all the isomorphisms follow from [61, Theorem 2.4.6] with $Y_1 = Y_2 = S$, $X_1 = X$, X = Y. More precisely, the composite of (1), (2), and (3) is an isomorphism due to point (2) of 2.4.6, and (4) is an isomorphism by (3) of 2.4.6. If \mathscr{T} receives a functor from DM_{ét}, one can reduce to the latter case by appealing to [23, Sec. 3.1].

It remains to prove the assertion in Case iii). The isomorphism (4) follows from the fact that g (resp. q) is smooth with tangent bundle T_g (resp. $T_q = p^*T_g$), and from the relative purity isomorphism

$$q^*f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \otimes p^*g^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \simeq q^*f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \otimes p^*\operatorname{Th}(T_g) \simeq q^!f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) = h^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$$

Using Lemma 2.2.9 applied respectively to q and g, one deduces

$$h_*h^!(\mathbf{1}_S) = f_*q_*q^!f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \simeq f_*\operatorname{Th}(f^*v_0) \otimes f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) = \operatorname{Th}(v_0) \otimes f_*f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \simeq f_*f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \otimes g_*g^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$$

where v_0 is the virtual vector bundle over S such that $\langle T_g \rangle = g^* v_0$.

It is now a formal, though lengthy, exercise to check that the preceding isomorphism is equal to the composition of the maps (1)-(4). \Box

3. CANONICAL RESOLUTIONS OF CROSSING SINGULARITIES

3.1. Ordered Cech semi-simplicial scheme associated to a closed cover.

3.1.1. Let X be a noetherian scheme and consider a finite closed cover of X, i.e., a surjective map

$$p: X_{\bullet} = \sqcup_{i \in I} X_i \to X$$

obtained from a finite collection of closed immersions $\nu_i : X_i \to X$, $i \in I$. We let $\cap = \times_X$ be a shorthand for the fiber product of closed *X*-schemes. For every nonempty subset $J \subset I$ we set $X_J = \bigcap_{j \in J} X_j$ and denote by $\nu_J : X_J \to X$ the canonically induced closed immersion. For every pair of nonempty subsets $J \subset K$ of I, we let $\nu_K^J : X_K \to X_J$ be the canonically induced closed immersion so that we have $\nu_K = \nu_J \circ \nu_K^J$.

The Čech simplicial *X*-scheme $\check{S}_*(X_{\bullet}/X)$ associated with *p* takes the form

(3.1.1.a)
$$\check{S}_n(X_{\bullet}/X) := \bigsqcup_{(i_0,\dots,i_n) \in I^{n+1}} X_{i_0} \cap \dots \cap X_{i_n}$$

with degeneracy morphisms $\delta_n^k : \check{S}_n(X_{\bullet}) \to \check{S}_{n-1}(X_{\bullet}), k = 0, \dots, n$, given by the sum of the canonical immersions

$$X_{i_0} \cap \dots \cap X_{i_k} \cap \dots \cap X_{i_n} \to X_{i_0} \cap \dots \cap \widehat{X_{i_k}} \cap \dots \cap X_{i_n}$$

The choice of a total ordering on I induces a natural bijection between the set of subsets $J \subset I$ of cardinality $\sharp J = n + 1$ and the set of (n + 1)-tuples $(i_0, \ldots, i_n) \in I^{n+1}$ given by mapping a subset J to the unique (n + 1)-tuple $(i_0, \ldots, i_n) \in I^{n+1}$ such that $J = \{i_0, \ldots, i_n\}$ and $i_0 < \cdots < i_n$. In the following we fix such a total ordering and we set

(3.1.1.b)
$$\check{\mathbf{S}}_{n}^{\mathrm{ord}}(X_{\bullet}/X) := \bigsqcup_{\substack{(i_{0},\dots,i_{n})\in I^{n+1}\\i_{0}<\dots< i_{n}}} X_{i_{0}}\cap\dots\cap X_{i_{n}} = \bigsqcup_{J\subset I,\,\sharp J=n+1} X_{J}$$

There is a canonical embedding $\check{S}^{\text{ord}}_*(X_{\bullet}/X) \subset \check{S}_*(X_{\bullet}/X)$ of \mathbb{N} -graded *Z*-schemes given in degree n by mapping each $X_{j_0} \cap \cdots \cap X_{j_n}$ to itself via the identity. The degeneracy morphisms δ_n^k in the simplicial structure on $\check{S}_*(X_{\bullet}/X)$ preserve $\check{S}^{\text{ord}}_*(X_{\bullet}/X)$ and induce degeneracy morphisms

$$\delta_n^k = \bigsqcup_{J = \{i_0 < \dots < \hat{i_k} < \dots < i_n\} \subset K = \{i_0 < \dots < i_n\}} \nu_K^J : \check{\mathbf{S}}_n^{\mathrm{ord}}(X_{\bullet}/X) \to \check{\mathbf{S}}_{n-1}^{\mathrm{ord}}(X_{\bullet}/X)$$

endowing $\check{S}^{\text{ord}}_*(X_{\bullet}/X)$ with the structure of a semi-simplicial *X*-scheme⁶. We refer to the latter as the *ordered* $\check{C}ech$ *semi-simplicial X*-scheme associated to the finite closed cover $p: X_{\bullet} \to X$.

Remark 3.1.2. By construction, the ordered Čech semi-simplicial scheme $\check{S}^{ord}_*(X_{\bullet}/X)$ is bounded by the cardinality $\sharp I$ of the index set I in the sense that $\check{S}^{ord}_n(X_{\bullet}/X) = \emptyset$ for all $n > \sharp I$. In particular, it is much smaller than $\check{S}_*(X_{\bullet}/X)$.

3.2. Ordered hyperdescent for closed covers.

3.2.1. We now use the ∞ -categorical enhancement of the motivic category \mathscr{T} , and in particular the adjunction of ∞ -functors (f^*, f_*) and $(f_!, f^!)$. Let us fix a base scheme S and write Sch_S for the category of separated S-schemes. To any object \mathbb{E} of $\mathscr{T}(S)$, we associate the covariant ∞ -functor

$$\Pi_S(-;\mathbb{E}): \operatorname{Sch}_S \to \mathscr{T}(S), \ (f: X \to S) \mapsto f_! f^!(\mathbb{E})$$

and, dually, the contravariant ∞ -functor

$$\mathrm{H}_{S}(-;\mathbb{E}):\mathrm{Sch}_{S}^{op}\to\mathscr{T}(S),\ (f:X\to S)\mapsto f_{*}f^{*}(\mathbb{E})$$

3.2.2. Back to the setup in 3.1.1, we assume in addition that $f : X \to S$ is a separated *S*-scheme. For every nonempty subset $J \subset I$, we let $f_J : X_J \to S$ be the composite of the closed immersion $\nu_J : X_J \to X$ with $f : Z \to S$. To the ordered Čech semi-simplicial *X*-scheme $\check{S}_n^{ord}(X_{\bullet}/X)$ and any object \mathbb{E} of $\mathscr{T}(S)$, we associate the functors

$$((\Delta^{\operatorname{inj}})^{op} \to \operatorname{Sch}_S) \xrightarrow{\Pi_S(-;\mathbb{E})} \mathscr{T}(S) (\Delta^{\operatorname{inj}} \to \operatorname{Sch}_S^{op}) \xrightarrow{H_S(-;\mathbb{E})} \mathscr{T}(S)$$

⁶Recall that a semi-simplicial object in a category \mathscr{C} is a contravariant functor from $\Delta^{inj} \to \mathscr{C}$, where Δ^{inj} denotes the category of finite ordered sets with injective maps as morphisms.

By using the augmentation map to X, we obtain canonical maps involving the limit and colimit of the preceding functors

(3.2.2.a)
$$\Pi_{X_{\bullet}/X;\mathbb{E}} : \operatorname{colim}_{n \in (\Delta^{\operatorname{inj}})^{op}} \left(\bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = n+1} \Pi_{S}(X_{J};\mathbb{E}) \right) \to \Pi_{S}(X;\mathbb{E})$$

(3.2.2.b)
$$\operatorname{H}_{X_{\bullet}/X;\mathbb{E}}:\operatorname{H}_{S}(X;\mathbb{E})\to\lim_{n\in\Delta^{\operatorname{inj}}}\left(\bigoplus_{J\subset I,\sharp J=n+1}\operatorname{H}_{S}(X_{J};\mathbb{E})\right)$$

The next theorem interprets the colimit (resp. limit) as the "standard" resolution of homology (resp. co-homology) of X/S with \mathbb{E} -coefficients.

Theorem 3.2.3. For every finite closed cover $p : X_{\bullet} \to X$, the maps $\prod_{X_{\bullet}/X;\mathbb{E}}$ and $H_{X_{\bullet}/X;\mathbb{E}}$ are both isomorphisms in $\mathcal{T}(S)$.

Proof. Using Example 2.2.7, we can reduce to the case where X and each X_i are reduced.

Let us consider the case of $\Pi_{X_{\bullet}/S;\mathbb{E}}$. For every nonempty subset $J \subset I$, there is an isomorphism $f_{J!}f_J^! \simeq f_!\nu_{J!}\nu_J^!f_J^!$. So by replacing \mathbb{E} with $f^!(\mathbb{E})$, we are reduced to the case S = X. There is, see for example [33, B.20], a conservative family of functors

$$i_z^! \colon \mathscr{T}(X) \to \mathscr{T}(\operatorname{Spec}(\kappa(x))), x \in X$$

Therefore, it suffices to show $i_x^!(\Pi_{X_{\bullet}/X;\mathbb{E}})$ is an isomorphism for all $x \in X$. Given $J \subset I$, we consider the following cartesian square

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X'_J & \xrightarrow{i'_x} & X_J \\ \nu'_J & & & \downarrow \nu_J \\ \{x\} & \xrightarrow{i_x} & X \end{array}$$

By proper base change for the proper map ν_J , we have an isomorphism $i_x^! \nu_{J!} \nu_J^! \simeq \nu'_{J!} i_x'' \nu_J^!$. Since, on the other hand, we have $\nu'_{J!} i_x'' \nu_J^! \simeq \nu'_{J!} \nu'_J i_x''$, and because the pullback of the ordered Čech complex $\check{S}^{\text{ord}}_*(X_{\bullet}/X)$ along $\{x\} \to X$ corresponds to the ordered Čech complex $\check{S}^{\text{ord}}_*(X_{\bullet} \times_X \{x\}/\{x\})$, we deduce the isomorphism

$$i_x^! (\Pi_{X_{\bullet}/X;\mathbb{E}}) \simeq \Pi_{X_{\bullet} \times_X \{x\}/\{x\}; i_x^! \mathbb{E}}$$

Since *X* is reduced, we may therefore assume $X = \{x\}$ is the Zariski spectrum of a field. In this case, the X_i 's are closed reduced subschemes of the reduced scheme $\{x\}$, and thus the closed cover $p' : \bigsqcup_{i \in I} X'_i \to \{x\}$ is given by a sum of identity maps. To conclude, one can then observe, for example, the existence of explicit homotopy contraction of the semi-simplicial augmented pointed *X*-scheme

$$\check{\mathbf{S}}^{\mathrm{ord}}_*(X_{\bullet}/\{x\})_+ \to \{x\}_+$$

The proof for the map $H_{X_{\bullet}/X;\mathbb{E}}$ is entirely analogous, using the conservative family of functors

$$i_x^*: \mathscr{T}(X) \to \mathscr{T}(\operatorname{Spec}(\kappa(x))), x \in X$$

of [27, Proposition 4.3.17].

Remark 3.2.4. In formulas (3.2.2.a) and (3.2.2.b), one can arbitrarily replace the closed subscheme X_J of X by its reduction according to Example 2.2.7. In the followings, we will use that possibility without further warning.

Remark 3.2.5. Theorem 3.2.3 does not extend to arbitrary cdh-covers. For instance, it does not work for the proper cdh-cover $\mathbf{P}_k^1 \to \operatorname{Spec} k$ for apparent reasons: for such a connected cover, one needs the whole Cech complex to get a resolution of the point. Similarly, the ordered Čech complex associated with a nontrivial finite étale cover does not yield a resolution in the étale topology. In the

23

cdh-topology it is possible to generalize Theorem 3.2.3 by replacing closed covers $p : X_{\bullet} \to X$ by proper cdh-covers such that there exists a stratification of X having the property that for every stratum Y, there exists a member of the covering family $X_i \to X$ for which $X_i \times_X Y \to Y$ is an isomorphism. The proof of Theorem 3.2.3 carries over to this setting by applying the proper base change theorem, and this generalization allows in particular to incorporate the elementary cdh-covers. A similar consideration applies to Nisnevich covers.

3.3. Schemes and subschemes with crossing singularities.

Notations 3.3.1. Let *Z* be a separated *S*-scheme with finitely many irreducible components Z'_i , $i \in I$. For every nonempty subset $J \subset I$, we let $Z'_J = (\bigcap_{j \in J} Z'_j)$ and $Z_J = (Z'_J)_{red}$. We denote by ν_J the canonically induced closed immersion of Z_J in *Z*. For every pair of nonempty subsets $J \subset K$ of *I*, we denote by $\nu_K^J : Z_K \to Z_J$ the naturally induced closed immersion. For a virtual vector bundle v on *Z* and a nonempty subset $J \subset I$, we let $v_J = \nu_J^{-1} v$.

For a closed *S*-pair (X, Z) corresponding to a closed subscheme $i : Z \to X$ with irreducible components $Z'_i, i \in I$, we extend the above notation by setting

$$\bar{\nu}_J = i \circ \nu_J : Z_J \to Z \to X$$

For a virtual vector bundle v on X, we let v_J denote the pullback of v to Z_J by $\bar{\nu}_J$.

We fix the following terminology on normal crossing singularities in the rest of this paper.

Definition 3.3.2. With the notation above, we say that *Z* has *smooth* (resp. *regular*, *h*-smooth) *reduced crossing* over *S* if, for any non-empty $J \subset I$, Z_J is a smooth (resp. regular, h-smooth) *S*-scheme.

With our conventions, the intersection of the irreducible components of Z is allowed to have non-trivial multiplicity. Note that h-smoothness is insensible to reduction; we will simply write *h*-smooth crossing.

Proposition 3.3.3. Let Z/S be an h-smooth crossing scheme and let v is a virtual vector bundle on Z. Then $\Pi_S(Z, v)$ is isomorphic to the colimit in the underlying ∞ -category of $\mathcal{T}(S)$ of the diagram

$$(3.3.3.a) \qquad \Pi_S(Z_I, v_I) \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{K \subset I, \sharp K = \sharp I - 1} \Pi_S(Z_K, v_K) \ \rightrightarrows \dots \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = 2} \Pi_S(Z_J, v_J) \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{i \in I} \Pi_S(Z_i, v_i)$$

with degeneracy maps

$$(\delta_n^k)_* = \sum_{J = \{i_0 < \dots < \hat{i_k} < \dots < i_n\} \subset K = \{i_0 < \dots < i_n\}} (\nu_K^J)_*$$

and with augmentation map

$$\sum_{i\in I}\nu_{i*}:\bigoplus_{i\in I}\Pi_S(Z_i,v_i)\to\Pi_S(Z,v)$$

Dually, $H_S(Z, v)$ is isomorphic to the limit of the diagram

(3.3.3.b)
$$\bigoplus_{i \in I} \operatorname{H}_{S}(Z_{i}, v_{i}) \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = 2} \operatorname{H}_{S}(Z_{J}, v_{J}) \rightrightarrows \cdots \bigoplus_{K \subset I, \sharp K = \sharp I - 1} \operatorname{H}_{S}(Z_{K}, v_{K}) \rightrightarrows \operatorname{H}_{S}(Z_{I}, v_{I})$$

with co-degeneracy maps

$$(\delta_n^k)^* = \sum_{J = \{i_0 < \dots < \hat{i_k} < \dots < i_n\} \subset K = \{i_0 < \dots < i_n\}} (\nu_K^J)^*$$

and with co-augmentation map

$$\sum_{i \in I} \nu_i^* : \mathrm{H}_S(Z, v) \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathrm{H}_S(Z_i, v_i)$$

Proof. Consider the closed cover $Z_{\bullet} = \bigsqcup Z'_i \to Z$ of Z by its irreducible components. Noting that by Example 2.2.7 we have, for every $J \subset I$, canonical isomorphisms $\Pi_S(Z'_J, v'_J) \simeq \Pi_S(Z_J, v_J)$ and $\operatorname{H}(Z'_J, v'_J) \simeq \operatorname{H}(Z_J, v_J)$, the assertion follows by appealing to Theorem 3.2.3 with S = X = Z, $X_{\bullet} = Z_{\bullet}$ and $\mathbb{E} = \operatorname{Th}(v) \otimes f^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$ (resp. $\mathbb{E} = \operatorname{Th}(v)$) and then applying $f_!$ (resp. f_*) to the obtained resolution.

Example 3.3.4. In the case $\mathscr{T} = SH$, the *S*-scheme *Z* in Proposition 3.3.3 defines a sheaf of sets \underline{Z} on Sm_S . We claim the preceding computation yields an isomorphism $\Pi_S(Z) \simeq \Sigma^{\infty} \underline{Z}_+$ in SH(S). A proof uses the \mathbf{P}^1 -stable \mathbf{A}^1 -homotopy category $\underline{SH}_{cdh}(S)$ over *S* for the big cdh site; i.e., the site of finite type *S*-schemes endowed with the cdh-topology in the style of [27, §6.1]. Theorem 3.2.3 holds in $\underline{SH}_{cdh}(S)$ due to cdh-descent, so the comparison reduces to the smooth case, which holds by the general properties of an enlargement.

Example 3.3.5. In the cases $\mathscr{T} = DM_{\text{ét}}, DM_{\mathbb{Q}}$, Proposition 3.3.3 takes a simpler form for motives. Indeed, one considers the complex of representable h-sheaves

(3.3.5.a)
$$\mathbb{Z}^{\mathbf{h}}_{S}(Z'_{I}) \xrightarrow{d_{c-2}} \dots \xrightarrow{d_{1}} \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = 2} \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbf{h}}_{S}(Z'_{J}) \xrightarrow{d_{0}} \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbf{h}}_{S}(Z'_{i})$$

with differentials given by the alternating sums $d_i = \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^k (\delta_n^k)_*$. This complex defines an object K of $\mathrm{DM}_h^{eff}(S)$, which computes the homotopy colimit of (3.3.3.a) Proposition 3.3.3 can thus be formulated by saying that the infinite suspension of the complex K is isomorphic to $M_S(Z)$. As in the preceding example, one can compute the motive $M_S(Z)$ as the infinite suspension of the h-sheaf $\mathbb{Z}_S^h(Z)$ represented by Z. This formula is a motivic relative version of the classical computation of the homology of a normal crossing scheme. It actually gives back the known formulas by realization of motives (Betti, étale, etc...).

A dual formula holds for computing the relative Chow motive $h_S(Z) = f_*f^*(\mathbf{1}_S)$. To that end, we consider the isomorphism $h(Z_{\bullet}/Z, \mathbf{1}_S)$ of Theorem 3.2.3: $h_S(Z)$ is quasi-isomorphic to the image of the complex (3.3.5.a) under the (derived) internal Hom functor $\mathbf{R} \operatorname{Hom}(-, \mathbf{1}_S)$, see also Proposition 3.4.1.

Next, we show a Künneth formula for smooth crossings schemes.

Proposition 3.3.6. Suppose Z, T are smooth crossings S-schemes, and v, w are virtual bundles over Z and T, respectively. Then the canonical map (2.6.3.a) is an isomorphism

$$\Pi_S(Z,w) \otimes \Pi_S(T,w) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \Pi_S(Z \times_S T, v \times_S w)$$

Proof. The case where Z/S is smooth and T/S is smooth crossing follows from Proposition 3.3.3 and the fact \otimes commutes with homotopy colimits (as a left adjoint). To treat the case where Z/S has smooth crossings, we can therefore argue by induction on the number of irreducible components of Z. Let Z' be an irreducible component of Z and Z'' the union of the other irreducible components. The cdh-distinguished homotopy exact sequence associated with the cdh-cover (Z', Z'') of Z takes the form

(3.3.6.a)
$$\Pi_S(Z' \times_Z Z'') \to \Pi_S(Z') \oplus \Pi_S(Z'') \to \Pi_S(Z)$$

By induction, the result holds for Z' (resp. Z'' and $Z' \times_Z Z''$) and T. We conclude by tensoring (3.3.6.a) with $\Pi_S(T)$ and applying descent for the cdh-cover $(Z' \times_S T, Z'' \times_S T)$ of $Z \times_S T$.

As another corollary, the following computation explains the defect of absolute purity.

Corollary 3.3.7. Let $i : Z \to X$ be a closed immersion such that Z/X has h-smooth crossings. Then $i^!(\mathbf{1}_X)$ is isomorphic to the homotopy colimit of the diagram

$$\operatorname{Th}_{Z}(N_{I}) \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{K \subset I, \sharp K = \sharp I - 1} \operatorname{Th}_{Z}(-N_{K}) \rightrightarrows \dots \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = 2} \operatorname{Th}_{Z}(-N_{J}) \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{i \in I} \operatorname{Th}_{Z}(-N_{i})$$

Here N_J *is the normal bundle of* Z_J *in* Z*,* $Th_Z(-N_J)$ *is the associated Thom space (of the opposite), seen over* Z*. For any* $J \subset K$ *, we have the Gysin map*

$$(\nu_K^J)_!: Th_Z(-N_J) = \mathrm{H}_Z(Z_J, \langle -N_J \rangle) \to \mathrm{H}_Z(Z_K, \langle -N_K \rangle) = Th_Z(-N_K)$$

and the degeneracy maps

$$(\delta_n^k)_* = \sum_{J = \{i_0 < \dots < \hat{i_k} < \dots < i_n\} \subset K = \{i_0 < \dots < i_n\}} (\nu_K^J)_!$$

Proof. Applying Proposition 3.3.3 to Z/X, v = 0, yields a computation of $\Pi_X(Z) = i_! i'!(\mathbf{1}_X)$ as a colimit. We conclude by applying i^* and noticing that $\nu_J^!(\mathbf{1}_X) = \text{Th}(-N_J)$ since $\nu_J : Z_J \to X$ is h-smooth by assumption (see Definition 2.3.8).

Example 3.3.8. Applying Corollary 3.3.7 to a strict normal crossing divisor in a regular scheme, we obtain a homotopy extension of a fundamental computation in étale cohomology. It also explains the failure of absolute purity for snc divisors and, more generally, for regular closed immersions that are h-smooth. The augmentation map

(3.3.8.a)
$$\epsilon_i : \bigoplus_{i \in I} \operatorname{Th}_Z(-N_i) \to i^!(\mathbf{1}_X)$$

coming form the above corollary can be seen as the "best" approximation of the fundamental class associated with *i*, in the spirit of [35].

3.3.9. Consider a closed *S*-pair (X, Z) such that *Z* has h-smooth crossings over *S* and such that for every nonempty subset $J \subset I$, $\overline{\nu}_J : Z_J \to X$ is an h-smooth closed immersion (see Notations 3.3.1). This holds, for instance, when *X* is h-smooth in a Nisnevich neighborhood of *Z*. In such circumstances, $\overline{\nu}_J$ is, in particular, a regular immersion. We denote its associated normal bundle by N_J . Denote by $j : X - Z \to X$ the complementary open immersion.

Proposition 3.3.10. Let (X, Z) be a closed S-pair such that Z has h-smooth crossings over S and such that X is h-smooth over S in a Nisnevich neighbordhood of Z. Let v be a virtual vector bundle on X.

Then the object $\Pi_S(X - Z, j^{-1}v)$ is isomorphic to the limit of the diagram

$$(3.3.10.a) \ \Pi_S(X,v) \xrightarrow{\epsilon} \bigoplus_{i \in I} \Pi_S(Z_i, v_i + \langle N_i \rangle) \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = 2} \Pi_S(Z_J, v_J + \langle N_J \rangle) \rightrightarrows \cdots \rightrightarrows \Pi_S(Z_I, v_I + \langle N_I \rangle)$$

given by the sums of Gysin maps

$$\epsilon = \sum_{i \in I} \bar{\nu}_i^! \qquad (\delta_k^n)^! = \sum_{J = \{i_0 < \dots < \hat{i_k} < \dots < i_n\} \subset K = \{i_0 < \dots < i_n\}} (\nu_K^J)^!$$

associated to the closed immersions $\bar{\nu}_i : Z_i \to X$ and $\nu_K^J : Z_K \to Z_J$.

Dually, the object $H_S(X - Z, j^{-1}v)$ is isomorphic to the colimit of the diagram

$$(3.3.10.b) \ H_S(Z_I, v_I - \langle N_I \rangle) \rightrightarrows \cdots \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = 2} H_S(Z_J, v_J - \langle N_J \rangle) \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{i \in I} H_S(Z_i, v_i - \langle N_i \rangle) \xrightarrow{\epsilon'} H_S(X, v)$$

given by sums of Gysin maps

$$\epsilon' = \sum_{i \in I} \bar{\nu}_{j!} \qquad \qquad (\delta_k^n)_! = \sum_{J = \{i_0 < \dots < \hat{i_k} < \dots < i_n\} \subset K = \{i_0 < \dots < i_n\}} (\nu_K^J)_!$$

Proof. With reference to (2.4.0.a), inserting $\mathbb{E} = \text{Th}(v) \otimes f^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$ in the localization homotopy exact sequence $j_! j^! \to Id \to i_* i^*$ and applying $f_!$ yields the homotopy exact sequence

$$\Pi_S(X - Z, j^{-1}v) = f_! j_! j^!(\mathbb{E}) \to \Pi_S(X,) = f_!(\mathbb{E}) \to f_! i_* i^*(\mathbb{E})$$

By applying Theorem 3.2.3 to the closed cover $\bigsqcup Z'_i \to Z$ of *Z* by its irreducible components, and then applying $f_!$ and arguing as in the proof of Proposition 3.3.3, we obtain the isomorphism

$$f_! i_* i^*(\mathbb{E}) \simeq \lim_{n \in \Delta^{\mathrm{inj}}} \left(\bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = n+1} f_! \bar{\nu}_{J*} \bar{\nu}_J^*(\mathbb{E}) \right)$$

The object $f_!\bar{\nu}_{J*}\bar{\nu}_J^*(\mathbb{E})$ of $\mathscr{T}(S)$ depends only on a Nisnevich neighborhood of Z in X. Thus, under our hypotheses, we may replace X by an h-smooth Nisnevich neighborhood of Z in X and assume that $f: X \to S$ itself is h-smooth, say with virtual relative tangent bundle τ_f . We then have the purity isomorphism $\mathbb{E} \simeq \operatorname{Th}(v) \otimes \operatorname{Th}(\tau_f)$. Furthermore, under our assumptions, for every $J \subset I$, $\bar{\nu}_J: Z_J \to X$ and $f_J = f \circ \bar{\nu}_J: Z_J \to S$ are h-smooth morphisms. Since $\bar{\nu}_J^{-1}\tau_f = \tau_{f_J} + \langle N_J \rangle$, where τ_{f_J} is the virtual tangent bundle of the h-smooth morphism f_J and $\operatorname{Th}(\tau_{f_J}) \simeq f_J^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$ by purity, we obtain the isomorphisms

$$f_! \bar{\nu}_{J*} \bar{\nu}_J^* (\mathbb{E}) = f_{J!} \operatorname{Th}(\bar{\nu}_J^{-1} \tau_f) \otimes \operatorname{Th}(v_J)) \simeq f_{J!} (\operatorname{Th}(\tau_{f_J}) \otimes \operatorname{Th}(N_J) \otimes \operatorname{Th}(v_J))$$
$$\simeq f_{J!} ((\operatorname{Th}(v_J) \otimes f_J^! (\mathbf{1}_S)) \otimes \operatorname{Th}(N_J))$$
$$= \Pi_S (Z_J, v_J + \langle N_J \rangle)$$

It is then straightforward to check that under these isomorphisms, the maps in the diagram correspond to the announced Gysin maps.

The assertion for $H_S(X - Z, v)$ follows similarly by starting with the dual localization homotopy exact sequence $i_!i^! \rightarrow Id \rightarrow j_*j^*$. We leave further details to the reader.

Remark 3.3.11. Let us specialize the preceding result to the cases $\mathscr{T} = DM, DM_{\text{ét}}, DM_{\mathbb{Q}}$, and more specifically $\mathscr{T} = DM_{\mathbb{Q}}$ when considering Bondarko's weight structure (see [21]). Under the assumption and notations of Proposition 3.3.10, the motive $M_S(X - Z)$ is the limit of the augmented semi-simplical diagram

(3.3.11.a)
$$M_S(X) \xrightarrow{\epsilon} \bigoplus_{i \in I} M_S(Z_i) \langle 1 \rangle \Longrightarrow \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = 2} M_S(Z_J) \langle 2 \rangle \ldots \to M_S(Z_I) \langle c \rangle$$

with the same formulas as in (3.3.10.a) for the augmentation ϵ and the coface maps δ_k^n .

In the case where $f : X \to S$ is smooth and proper, and Z = D is a normal crossing divisor with irreducible components D_i , $i \in I$, the formula for the motive $M_S(X - D)$ of the complement of a normal crossing divisor D of X/S is a relative motivic analog of the de Rham complex with logarithmic poles that Deligne used to define mixed Hodge structures. The motive of the non-proper S-scheme X - D is expressed as the "complex" (3.3.11.a) whose terms $M_S(D_J)\langle \sharp J \rangle$ are pure of weight 0 for Bondarko's motivic weight structure. In particular, it gives a canonical and functorial weight filtration for the motive $M_S(X - D)$ (recall that a pure object of weight 0 shifted n times has weight n). We view this as a motivic analog of the fact that the weight filtration of the mixed Hodge structure on X - D over $S = \text{Spec}(\mathbb{C})$ arises from the naive filtration of the De Rham complex with logarithmic poles associated with (X, D).

Dually, we can identify the Chow motive $h_S(X - D)$ with the colimit of the diagram

$$(3.3.11.b) h_S(D_I)\langle -c\rangle \to \dots \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J=2} h_S(D_J)\langle -2\rangle \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{i \in I} h_S(D_i)\langle -1\rangle \xrightarrow{\epsilon'} h_S(X)$$

When $S = \text{Spec}(\mathbb{C})$, it follows from the identification of the orientation of the motivic spectrum representing algebraic De Rham cohomology given in [32, Example 5.4.2(1)] that the De Rham realization of (3.3.11.b), see [24, §3.1], can be canonically identified with the de Rham complex with logarithmic poles associated with (X, D).

We finally derive the following generalization of a computation due to Rappoport and Zink, see Remark 3.3.13 for details.

Proposition 3.3.12. Let (X, Z) be a closed S-pair corresponding to a closed immersion $i : Z \to X$ such that Z has h-smooth crossings over S and such that for every irreducible component Z'_i of Z, the induced closed immersion $\bar{\nu}_i : Z_i \to X$ is h-smooth⁷. For every $J \subset I$, let N_J be the normal bundle of the induced regular closed immersion $\bar{\nu}_J : Z_J \to X$.

Then the object $i^* j_*(\mathbf{1}_{X-Z})$ of $\mathscr{T}(Z)$ is isomorphic to the colimit in the underlying ∞ -category of the augmented semi-simplicial diagram of length at most c + 1

$$\mathrm{H}_{Z}(Z_{I},\langle -N_{I}\rangle) \to \dots \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J=2} \mathrm{H}_{Z}(Z_{j},\langle -N_{J}\rangle) \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathrm{H}_{Z}(Z_{i},\langle -N_{i}\rangle) \xrightarrow{\epsilon} \mathbf{1}_{Z}$$

where the degeneracy maps are given by the formula

$$(\delta_n^k)_! = \sum_{J = \{i_0 < \dots < \hat{i_k} < \dots < i_n\} \subset K = \{i_0 < \dots < i_n\}} (\nu_K^J)_!$$

using the Gysin maps (see 2.3.1) associated to the regular closed immersions $\nu_K^J : Z_K \to Z_J, J \subset K$, and the augmentation map ϵ is obtained by composing (3.3.8.a) with the canonical map $i^!(\mathbf{1}_X) \to i^*(\mathbf{1}_X) = \mathbf{1}_Z$.

Dually, the object $i! j!(\mathbf{1}_{X-Z})$ in $\mathscr{T}(Z)$ is isomorphic to the limit of the following augmented semi-cosimplicial diagram of length at most c+1

$$\mathbf{1}_{Z} \xrightarrow{\epsilon'} \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathrm{H}^{c}_{Z}(Z_{i}, \langle N_{i} \rangle) \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = 2} \mathrm{H}^{c}_{Z}(Z_{J}, \langle N_{J} \rangle) \ldots \to \mathrm{H}^{c}_{Z}(Z_{I}, \langle N_{I} \rangle)$$

with degeneracy maps

$$(\delta_n^k)' = \sum_{J = \{i_0 < \dots < \hat{i_k} < \dots < i_n\} \subset K = \{i_0 < \dots < i_n\}} (\nu_K^J)!$$

Proof. The first assertion immediately follows by applying i^* to the localization triangle

$$i_!i^!(\mathbf{1}_X) \to \mathbf{1}_X \to j_*j^*(\mathbf{1}_X) = j_*(\mathbf{1}_{X-Z})$$

and using the computation of Corollary 3.3.7. The other assertion is obtained similarly, starting from the dual localization triangle and applying. \Box

Remark 3.3.13. Let \mathscr{T} be a motivic ∞ -category with a realization functor from $DM_{\text{ét}}$ as in (1.2.0.a). Assume that X is regular and that Z = D is a normal crossing divisor in X with irreducible components D_i , $i \in I$. The above formula shows that the motive $i^*j_*(\mathbf{1}_{X-Z})$ is the colimit in the underlying ∞ -category of the diagram

$$(3.3.13.a) \qquad \nu_{I*}(\mathbf{1}_{D_I})(c)[2c] \xrightarrow{d_{c-2}} \dots \xrightarrow{d_1} \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J=2} \nu_{J*}(\mathbf{1}_{D_J})(2)[4] \xrightarrow{d_0} \bigoplus_{i \in I} \nu_{i*}(\mathbf{1}_{D_i})(1)[2] \xrightarrow{\epsilon} \mathbf{1}_D$$

Here, $d_n = \sum_k (-1)^k (\delta_n^k)!$ is the alternate sum of Gysin maps associated with the relevant closed immersions (see 2.3.1, given that $\nu_{J*}(\mathbf{1}_{D_J}) = H_D(D_J)$). The computation for (3.3.13.a) specializes under ℓ -adic realization to the Rapoport-Zink formula, used to compute vanishing cycles [75, Lemma 2.5]. A similar remark applies to Steenbrink's limit Hodge structure [83], with the caveat that our computation for motives does not account for the action of the monodromy operator.

3.4. **Application to strong duality.** Next, we deduce some applications of the computations of Section 3.3 towards strong duality results.

Proposition 3.4.1. Let Z/S be a proper S-scheme with smooth crossings, and let v be a virtual bundle over Z. Then $\Pi_S(Z, v)$ is rigid with dual $H_S(Z, -v)$ isomorphic to limit of the diagram

$$\bigoplus_{i \in I} \Pi_S(Z_i, -v_i - \langle T_i \rangle) \Longrightarrow \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J=2} \Pi_S(Z_J, -v_J - \langle T_J \rangle) \longrightarrow \dots \longrightarrow \Pi_S(Z_I, -v_I - \langle T_I \rangle)$$

where for every $J \subset I$, T_J denotes the tangent bundle of Z_J/S .

⁷This holds in particular when X is h-smooth in a Nisnevich neighborhood of Z.

Proof. According to (3.3.3.a), $\Pi_S(Z, v)$ is isomorphic to the colimit of the finite diagram

$$\Pi_S(Z_I, v_I) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J=2} \Pi_S(Z_J, v_J) \Longrightarrow \bigoplus_{i \in I} \Pi_S(Z_i, v_i)$$

whose components are spectra of smooth proper schemes, hence rigid spectra. This implies $\Pi_S(Z, v)$ is rigid. The fact that its dual is $H_S(Z, -v)$ follows from Proposition 2.5.5(2). On the other hand, by (3.3.3.b), $H_S(Z, -v)$ isomorphic to the colimit of the diagram

$$\operatorname{H}_{S}(Z_{I},-v_{I}) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J=2} \operatorname{H}_{S}(Z_{J},-v_{J}) \Longrightarrow \bigoplus_{i \in I} \operatorname{H}_{S}(Z_{i},v_{i})$$

whose components are isomorphic to $\Pi_S(Z_J, -v_J - \langle T_J \rangle)$ by combining Example 2.5.7 and Proposition 2.5.5(2).

Theorem 3.4.2. Let (X, Z) be a closed S-pair such that X/S is smooth and proper, with tangent bundle T, and such that Z/S has smooth crossings. Let v be a virtual vector bundle on X.

Then $\Pi_S(X - Z, j^{-1}v)$ and $\Pi_S(X - Z, j^{-1}v)$ are rigid with duals $\Pi_S^c(X - Z, -j^{-1}(v + \langle T \rangle))$ and $\Pi_S^c(X - Z, -j^{-1}(v - \langle T \rangle))$, respectively.

Proof. One first appeals to Proposition 3.3.10 to conclude that $\Pi_S(X-Z, j^{-1}v)$ (resp. $H_S(X-Z, j^{-1}v)$) is rigid as a limit (resp. colimit) of a finite diagram whose components are rigid spectra due to the assumption that X, and hence all the Z_J , $J \subset I$, are smooth proper S-schemes. The given expressions for the dual then follow from Proposition 2.5.5.

Finally, we deduce an improvement of Theorem 2.4.3.

Theorem 3.4.3. Let (X, Z) be a closed S-pair such that Z/S is proper with smooth crossing over S and such that X is smooth in a Nisnevich neighborhood of Z.

Then, for every virtual vector bundle v on X, $\Pi_S(X/X - Z, v)$ and $\operatorname{H}_S(X/X - Z, v)$ are rigid with duals $\Pi_S(Z, -i^{-1}v - i^{-1}\tau_{X/S})$ and $\operatorname{H}_S(Z, -i^{-1}v + i^{-1}\tau_{X/S})$, respectively.

Proof. This is a direct combination of Theorem 2.4.3 and Proposition 3.4.1.

3.5. Complements of stably contractible arrangements. To illustrate the preceding results, we determine the stable homotopy types of complements of normal crossing *S*-schemes with stably A^1 -contractible components.

3.5.1. A stably A^1 -contractible arrangement over S is a closed S-pair (X, Z) consisting of a smooth stably A^1 -contractible S-scheme X and a closed subscheme $Z \subsetneq X$ with smooth crossing over S that satisfies the following assumptions (see Notations 3.3.1).

- (1) For any $J \subset I$, every connected component of Z_J is stably \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible over S.
- (2) For any $K \subsetneq J \subset I$, Z_K is nowhere dense in Z_J .

For a subset $J \subset I$, we set $n_J = \sharp J$, and for any generic point x of Z_J we let c_x denote the codimension of x in X.

Example 3.5.2. A basic example of a stably \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible arrangement consists of an arrangement of affine hyperplanes in affine space \mathbf{A}^d_S over S.

Proposition 3.5.3. Let S be a smooth stably \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible scheme over a field k and let (X, Z) be stably \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible arrangement over S. Then there exists a canonical isomorphism

$$\Pi_S(X-Z) \simeq \bigoplus_{J \subset I, x \in Z_J^{(0)}} \mathbf{1}_S(c_x) \left[2c_x - n_J \right]$$

In addition, if Z is a normal crossing subscheme of X, then the isomorphism takes the form

$$\Pi_S(X-Z) \simeq \bigoplus_{n=0}^d m(n) \mathbf{1}_S(n)[n]$$

Here *d* is the relative dimension of *X* over *S* and m(n) denotes the sum of the number of connected components of all codimension *n* subschemes Z_J of *X*.

Proof. According to Proposition 3.3.10 one obtains that $\Pi_S(X - Z)$ is the homotopy limit of the augmented semi-simplicial diagram

(3.5.3.a)
$$\Pi_S(X) \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} \Pi_S(Z_i, N_i) \rightrightarrows \cdots \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = n} \Pi_S(Z_J, N_J) \rightrightarrows \cdots$$

Let *x* is a generic point of Z_J , for $J \subset I$, and write $Z_J(x)$ for the associated connected component. By assumption, $Z_J(x)$ is smooth and stably **A**¹-contractible over *S*, hence over *k*. It follows from Lemma 2.2.9 that the rank c_x vector bundle $N_J|_{Z_J(x)}$ is stably trivial, and hence

$$\Pi_S(Z_J, N_J) \simeq \bigoplus_x \Pi_S(Z_J(x), N_J|_{Z_J(x)}) \simeq \bigoplus_x \mathbf{1}_S(c_x)[2c_x]$$

To deduce the first assertion, it suffices to show that the morphisms in (3.5.3.a) are zero. Recall that these maps are sums of Gysin morphisms $(\nu_K^J)^!$ for $J, K \subset I, K = J \cup \{k\}, \nu_K^J : Z_K \to Z_J$. We are reduced to consider maps of the form

$$\mathbf{1}_S(c_x)[2c_x] \to \mathbf{1}_S(c_y)[2c_y]$$

Here, x (resp. y) is a generic point of Z_J (resp. Z_K). Since Z_K is nowhere dense in Z_J , all such maps belong to some stable cohomotopy group $\pi^{2r,r}(S)$ for r > 0. The assumption that S is stably \mathbf{A}^1 contractible over k implies $\pi^{2r,r}(S) \simeq \pi^{2r,r}(k)$. Morel's \mathbf{A}^1 -connectivity theorem shows the latter group is trivial. It follows that the map (3.5.3.b) is zero.

For the second assertion, it suffices to note that if *Z* is a normal crossing subscheme, then for any $J \subset I$, Z_J has pure codimension n_J in *X*.

Using Proposition 2.5.5(3), we obtain the following rigidity result.

Corollary 3.5.4. With the notation and assumptions of Proposition 3.5.3, $\Pi_S(X - Z)$ is rigid with dual

$$\Pi_{S}^{c}(X-Z)(-d)[-2d] \simeq \bigoplus_{K \subset I, x \in Z_{K}^{(0)}} \mathbf{1}_{S}(-c_{x})[-2c_{x}+n_{K}]$$

4. PUNCTURED TUBULAR NEIGHBORHOODS AND STABLE HOMOTOPY AT INFINITY

4.1. Punctured tubular neighborhoods.

Definition 4.1.1. Let (X, Z) be a closed *S*-pair and let v be a virtual vector bundle on *X*. The *punctured tubular* \mathscr{T} -*neighborhood* $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X, Z, v)$ of *Z* in *X* relative to *S* twisted by v is the homotopy fiber in $\mathscr{T}(S)$ of the composite

$$\beta_{X,Z}: \Pi_S(Z, i^{-1}v) \to \Pi_S(X, v) \to \Pi_S(X/X - Z, v)$$

Here the first map is induced by the immersion $i : Z \to X$, and the second one is defined in Definition 2.2.10. In the case of a trivial twist, we use the notation $TN_S^{\times}(X, Z)$.

It is easy to check that $\text{TN}_{S}^{\times}(X, Z)$ is functorial for morphisms of closed pairs. Moreover, the functor TN_{S}^{\times} sends excisive morphisms to isomorphisms. In particular, the punctured tubular neighborhood only depends on a Nisnevich neighborhood of Z in X. In Corollary 4.1.8 below, we will get an even more useful cdh-excision property.

Remark 4.1.2. Our definition is motivated and inspired by the notion of the *link* of a point on a hypersurface due to Brauner, Zariski, Milnor, Mumford (see [68], [71]). Following Mumford, *loc. cit.*, a suitable pointed tubular neighborhood can compute the link. More specifically, we formally view $\beta_{X,Z}$ as a tubular neighborhood of *Z* in *X*, and its homotopy cofiber amounts to the pointed tubular neighborhood by analogy with the Gysin exact sequence (see the next example).

Pushing this analogy, one can show that the complex realization of our definition, when Z is a point on a complex hypersurface in affine space, is precisely the link as discussed above. This fact will be transparently visible in our examples.

Example 4.1.3. Let (V, X) be the closed *S*-pair corresponding to the zero section $s : X \to V$ of a vector bundle *V* on a separated *S*-scheme *X*. Then, by definition, one obtains the homotopy exact sequence (see 2.3.3 for notation)

$$\Gamma \mathcal{N}_{S}^{\times}(V, X) \to \Pi_{S}(X) \xrightarrow{e_{S}(V)} \operatorname{Th}_{S}(V)$$

In particular, $\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(V, X) = \Pi_{S}(V^{\times})$, where V^{\times} denotes the complement of the image of s. Hence $\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(V, X)$ is the extension of $\Pi_{S}(X)$ by $\operatorname{Th}_{S}(V)[-1]$ classified by the Euler class $e_{S}(V)$. The vanishing of $e_{S}(V)$ is, by definition, equivalent to the existence of a splitting

$$\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(V, X) = \Pi_{S}(X) \oplus \operatorname{Th}_{S}(V)[-1]$$

Remark 4.1.4. Assume that S is the spectrum of a perfect field k of characteristic exponent p. Example 4.1.3 implies that for the closed S-pair (V, X) corresponding to the zero section $s : X \to V$ of a vector bundle V of rank r on a separated S-scheme X, $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(V, X)$ is a strictly finer invariant than its motivic realization. Indeed, the realization in $\operatorname{DM}(k)[1/p]$ of $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(V, X)$ is the extension of M(X) by M(X)(r)[2r-1] classified by the map $\tilde{c}_r(V) : M(X) \to M(X)(r)[2r-1]$ induced by multiplication with the top Chern class $c_r(V) \in \operatorname{CH}^r(X) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(M(X), \mathbf{1}(r)[2r])$. In particular, the sequence splits if $c_r(V) = 0$.

However, the vanishing of the homotopy Euler class e(V), which implies the vanishing of the Euler class in Chow-Witt groups, is a strictly stronger condition than the vanishing of the top Chern class $\tilde{c}_r(V)$. For the smooth affine quadric 5-fold $X: x_1y_1 + x_2y_2 + x_3y_3 = 1$ in \mathbf{A}^6 , the kernel of the surjection $(x_1, x_2, x_3): k[Q]^3 \to k[Q]$ defines a nontrivial and stably trivial vector bundle V of rank 2 on X. While V's Chern classes are trivial, V's Euler class in $\widetilde{\operatorname{CH}}^2(X) = \operatorname{K}^{\mathrm{MW}}_{-1}(k)$ equals η , see the case n = 2 in [4, Lemma 3.5].

Example 4.1.3 admits the following generalization.

Proposition 4.1.5. Let (X, Z) be a weakly h-smooth closed S-pair (see Definition 2.4.1) with normal bundle $N_{Z/X}$. Then there exists a homotopy exact sequence

$$\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(X, Z) \longrightarrow \Pi_{S}(Z) \xrightarrow{e_{S}(N_{Z/X})} \operatorname{Th}_{S}(N_{Z/X})$$

In other words, $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X, Z) = \prod_S(N_{Z/X}^{\times})$. Moreover, if the Euler class of $N_{Z/X}$ vanishes, then

$$\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(X, Z) = \Pi_{S}(Z) \oplus \operatorname{Th}_{S}(N_{Z/X})[-1]$$

Proof. By excision, one can assume that both X and Z are h-smooth over S. By appealing to the purity isomorphism of Theorem 2.4.3, one deduces the commutative diagram



Indeed, the commutativity of part (1) follows from the definitions of the Gysin map, the purity isomorphism, and the associativity formula for fundamental classes in [35, Theorem 3.3.2]. Then the homotopy exact sequence follows from the excess intersection formula of [35, Proposition 3.3.4]. The remaining assertions follow as in the previous example.

The following result expresses a motivic version of a classical computation of topological punctured tubular neighborhoods, which is a consequence of the octahedron axiom. **Proposition 4.1.6.** Let (X, Z) be a closed S-pair and let v be a virtual vector bundle on X. Then the columns and rows of the following diagram are homotopy exact

Proof. Indeed, the middle column (resp. row) follows from Definition 2.2.10, the commutativity of (1) follows from the definition, and that of (2) from the definition of $\beta_{X,Z}$. The lower-right corner of the diagram is just the formulation of the octahedron axiom.

Remark 4.1.7. In more classical terms for cohomology with coefficients in a ring spectrum \mathbb{E} , one obtains long exact sequences involving the punctured tubular neighborhood

$$\dots \to \mathbb{E}_{Z}^{n,i}(X) \to \mathbb{E}^{n,i}(Z) \to \mathbb{E}^{n,i}(\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(X,Z)) \to \mathbb{E}_{Z}^{n+1,i}(X) \to \dots$$
$$\dots \to \mathbb{E}^{n,i}(X,Z) \to \mathbb{E}^{n,i}(X-Z) \to \mathbb{E}^{n,i}(\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(X,Z)) \to \mathbb{E}^{n+1,i}(X,Z) \to \dots$$

Here $\mathbb{E}_{Z}^{**}(X)$ (resp. $\mathbb{E}^{**}(X, Z)$) is the cohomology with support (resp. relative cohomology).

One gets the following practical way of computing punctured tubular neighborhoods by using resolution of singularities:

Corollary 4.1.8. Let $f : (Y,T) \to (X,Z)$ be a cdh-excisive morphism of closed S-pairs and let v be a virtual vector bundle on X. Then the induced map

$$\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(Y, T, f^{-1}v) \to \operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(X, Z, v)$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. Indeed, according to Proposition 4.1.6, one obtains a commutative diagram whose rows are homotopy exact sequences

By assumption, the middle vertical map, induced by the restriction of f, is an isomorphism. Moreover, the right-most vertical map is an equivalence according to the cdh-descent property of \mathscr{T} (see [27, 3.3.10]).

In particular, one can use any suitable resolution of singularities of a pair (X, Z) to compute the punctured tubular neighborhood of (X, Z). More precisely, if we can find a cdh-excisive morphism $(Y,T) \rightarrow (X,Z)$ such that (Y,T) is smooth over the base S, then applying Proposition 4.1.5 and Corollary 4.1.8, we get $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X,Z) \simeq \prod_S (N_{T/Y}^{\times})$. We obtain several examples from singularity theory in this way — S can be any base, the spectrum of a field k or even of \mathbb{Z} .

Example 4.1.9. Let $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}^1_S$ be the projective line and $\mathcal{O}(-1) = \mathbb{V}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1))$ be its tautological line bundle. Consider the relative quadratic cone $X = V(xy - z^2)$ in \mathbf{A}^3_S . Then by blowing-up the ordinary double point at the origin o_S , one gets a resolution $Y \to X$ whose exceptional divisor is \mathbb{P} , with normal bundle $\mathcal{O}(-2) = \mathcal{O}(-1)^{\otimes 2}$. Therefore, we have

$$\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(V(xy-z^{2}),0_{S}) \simeq \Pi_{S}(\mathcal{O}(-2)^{\times})$$

For $S = \text{Spec}(\mathbb{C})$, the underlying topological manifold of the complex realization of $\mathcal{O}(-2)^{\times}$ is homotopy equivalent to the total space of unit tangent bundle UTS^2 of the sphere $S^2 = \mathbb{CP}^1$. As a topological manifold, UTS^2 is homeomorphic to $\mathbb{RP}^3 \cong \text{SO}(3)$. Our computation thus recovers the stable homotopy type of the link of the germ of complex of hypersurface singularity

$$(V = \{u^2 + v^2 - z^2 = 0\}, 0) \subset (\mathbb{C}^3, 0)$$

defined in [68, Chapter 2] as the intersection of V with a real 5-sphere $S_{\varepsilon}^5 \subset \mathbb{C}^3 = \mathbb{R}^6$ of sufficiently small radius $\varepsilon > 0$ centered at origin. Our computation also accounts for the real case: the underlying topological manifold of the real realization of $\mathcal{O}(-2)^{\times}$ is homotopy equivalent to the unit tangent bundle of the circle $S^1 = \mathbb{RP}^1$, hence to disjoint copies of S^1 . The latter equals the link of the real germ of isolated singularity ($V = \{u^2 - v^2 - z^2 = 0\}, 0$) $\subset (\mathbb{R}^3, 0)$.

Example 4.1.10. Next we consider an ordinary double point in a 3-fold: say X = V(xt - yz) in \mathbf{A}_{S}^{4} , which is singular at the origin o_{S} . A resolution of the singularity is given by the blow-up $\tilde{X} \to X$ of o_{S} with exceptional divisor $\mathbb{P} \times \mathbb{P}$, whose normal bundle is $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P} \times \mathbb{P}}(-1, -1) = p_{1}^{*}\mathcal{O}(-1) \otimes p_{2}^{*}\mathcal{O}(-1)$. Another resolution $X^{-} \to X$ is given the blow-up of X with center at the the Weil non-Cartier divisor V(x, y). The exceptional locus of $X^{-} \to X$ is isomorphic to \mathbb{P} and its normal bundle in X^{-} is equal to $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1)$. This yields two models of the punctured tubular neighborhood

$$\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(V(xt-yz),o_{S}) \simeq \Pi_{S}([\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}\times\mathbb{P}}(-1,-1)]^{\times}) \simeq \Pi_{S}([\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1)\oplus\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1)]^{\times})$$

The *S*-schemes $[\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}\times\mathbb{P}}(-1,-1)]^{\times}$ and $[\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1)\oplus\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1)]^{\times}$ are actually both isomorphic to $V - \{o_S\}$. For $S = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C})$ the underlying topological manifolds of the complex realizations of these schemes are homotopy equivalent to the S^1 -bundle over $S^2 \times S^2$ with Euler class $(1,1) \in H^2(S^2 \times S^2,\mathbb{Z}) \cong$ \mathbb{Z}^2 and to the trivial S^3 -bundle over S^2 , respectively. Again, our descriptions recover the (stable) homotopy of the link of the germ of complex of hypersurface singularity

$$(V = \{x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 + x_4^2 = 0\}, 0) \subset (\mathbb{C}^4, 0),$$

this link being homotopy equivalent the unit tangent bundle $UTS^3 \cong S^2 \times S^3$.

Remark 4.1.11. The reader will find in Theorem 4.2.1 a way of computing punctured tubular neighborhoods when dealing with resolution of singularities whose exceptional locus is snc. This was our main motivation for Section 3.

4.1.12. One can further interpret Proposition 4.1.6 in terms of the six functors formalism. For the closed *S*-pair (X, Z), consider the commutative diagram

$$Z \underbrace{\stackrel{i}{\longleftrightarrow} X \xleftarrow{j}}_{p} X - Z$$

of (2.4.0.a). By crossing the two classical localization triangles one gets, as a functorial enhancement of (4.1.6.a), the following commutative diagram of natural transformations of $\mathscr{T}(X)$

(4.1.12.a)

$$\begin{array}{c}
0 \longrightarrow j_{!}j^{!} = j_{!}j^{!} \\
\downarrow & ad'_{j_{!}j^{!}} \downarrow & \downarrow \alpha_{j} \\
i_{!}i^{!} \longrightarrow Id \xrightarrow{ad_{j^{*},j_{*}}} j_{*}j^{*} \\
\parallel & \downarrow & \downarrow \\
i_{!}i^{!} \xrightarrow{\beta_{i}} i_{*}i^{*} \longrightarrow i_{*}i^{*}j_{*}j^{*}
\end{array}$$

Each arrow in (4.1.12.a) is a unit or counit for one of the adjunctions (k^*, k_*) or $(k_!, k^!)$, k = i, j. The second and third rows (resp. columns) are the classical localization triangle, expressed in terms of natural transformation. In particular, each row and column of (4.1.12.a) is exact homotopy (concretely: gives a homotopy exact sequence in $\mathscr{T}(X)$ when evaluated at any object). Note, moreover, that α_j is given by the map $j_! \rightarrow j_*$ "forgetting the support" where the map β_i corresponds to a natural transformation $\beta_i : i^! \rightarrow i^*$ which is specific to the case of (closed) immersions.⁸ Note, finally, the classical identification of functors $i^!j_! = i^*j_*[-1]$ obtained by applying the localization triangles (middle row of the previous diagram) post-composed with $j_!j^!$ to get the homotopy exact sequence

$$i_!i^!j_!j^! \to j_!j^! \to j_*j^*j_!j^! = j_*j^*$$

Since the last arrow identifies with α_j , one gets $i_!i^!j_!j^! = i_*i^*j_*j^*$, which gives the result since $i_* = i_!$ (resp. $j^* = j^!$) is right invertible.

We thus obtain the following expression of the punctured tubular neighborhood.

Proposition 4.1.13. There is a canonical isomorphism

$$\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(X,Z) \simeq p_{!}i^{!}j_{!}q^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S}) = p_{!}i^{*}j_{*}q^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S})[-1]$$

This relation explains the close connection between punctured tubular neighborhoods and nearby cycles. In this line of thought, we extend [87, Theorem 5.1] and [32, 1.4.6] to our context.

Theorem 4.1.14. Let S be an excellent scheme, and let (X, Z), (Y, T) be closed S-pairs. Assume that there exists an isomorphism $f : T \to Z$, which extends to an isomorphism of the respective formal completions $f : \hat{Y}_T \to \hat{X}_Z$. Then there exists a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathfrak{f}^* : \mathrm{TN}_S^{\times}(Y,T) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathrm{TN}_S^{\times}(X,Z)$$

which is compatible with composition in f.

Proof. We can assume that Z = T and that Z is reduced. It suffices to build an isomorphism

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{f}}^* : \mathrm{TN}_S^{\times}(Y,T) \to \mathrm{TN}_S^{\times}(X,Z)$$

and a commutative diagram

$$Z \xrightarrow{\prod_{S} (Y/Y - Z)} \bigvee_{f^*} \prod_{S} (X/X - Z)$$

We can apply the strategy of the proof of [32, Theorem 1.4.6] using Artin's approximation theorem at points of *Z* (here, we use the assumption that *S* is excellent) and Zariski hypercovers to globalize the situation. Here we do not need to extend our motivic category to diagrams of base schemes. The proof proceeds with the simplicial schemes corresponding to Zariski hypercoverings directly within the ∞ -category $\mathcal{T}(S)$.

4.2. **Punctured tubular neighborhood of subschemes with crossing singularities.** Based on Theorem 3.2.3, we now state our main tool for computing punctured tubular neighborhoods of h-smooth crossing subschemes (Definition 3.3.2). We adopt the notation of 3.3.1 and 3.3.9.

Theorem 4.2.1. Let (X, Z) be a closed S-pair such that Z/S has h-smooth crossings over S and X/S is h-smooth in a Nisnevich neighborhood of Z and let v be a virtual vector bundle on X.

Then $\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(X, Z, v)$ is canonically isomorphic to the homotopy fiber of the map

$$\operatorname{colim}_{n \in (\Delta^{\operatorname{inj}})^{op}} \left(\bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = n+1} \Pi_S(Z_J, v_J) \right) \xrightarrow{\partial} \lim_{n \in \Delta^{\operatorname{inj}}} \left(\bigoplus_{J \subset I, \sharp J = m+1} \Pi_S(Z_J, v_J + \langle N_J \rangle) \right)$$

Here the direct images define the face maps

$$(\delta_n^k)_* = \sum_{K = \{i_0 < \ldots < i_n\}, J = \{i_0 < \ldots < i_k < \ldots < i_n\}} (\nu_K^J)_*$$

⁸It can also be derived from the exchange transformation $i^!Id^* \rightarrow i^*Id^!$.

in the source, and the Gysin maps define the coface maps

$$[\tilde{\delta}_{l}^{m})^{!} = \sum_{K = \{i_{0} < \dots < i_{m}\}, J = \{i_{0} < \dots < i_{l} < \dots < i_{m}\}} (\nu_{K}^{J})^{!}$$

in the target. Moreover, ∂ is induced by the canonical map in degree zero

(4.2.1.a)
$$(\delta_{ij} = \bar{\nu}_j^! \bar{\nu}_{i*})_{i,j \in I} \colon \bigoplus_{i \in I} \Pi_S(Z_i, v_i) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j \in I} \Pi_S(Z_j, v_j + \langle N_j \rangle)$$

Finally, using the Euler class $e(N_i) : \mathbf{1}_{Z_i} \to \text{Th}(N_i)$ (see paragraph 2.3.3) of the normal bundle N_i , one can compute the diagonal coefficients of this matrix as

$$\delta_{ii} = p_{i!} \big(e(N_i) \otimes \operatorname{Th}(\tau_i + v_i) \big)$$

where $p_i: Z_i \to S$ is the (h-smooth) projection, with virtual tangent bundle τ_i .

Proof. According to Definition 4.1.1, we have to compute the homotopy fiber of the map

$$\beta_{X,Z}: \Pi_S(Z,v) \to \Pi_S(X/X-Z,v)$$

Proposition 3.3.3 identifies $\beta_{X,Z}$'s source with the desired colimit whereas Proposition 3.3.10 identifies its target with the desired limit. The computation of the (co)face maps and of ∂ follows from these two propositions. The final remark follows from the definition of $\tilde{\mu}_{ii}$, the excess intersection formula [35, Proposition 3.2.8], and $p_i^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \simeq \text{Th}(\tau_i)$ since p_i is h-smooth by assumption.

One can suggestively summarize the computation in Theorem 4.2.1 with the diagram

$$\begin{pmatrix} \bigoplus_{i_1 < i_2} \Pi_S(Z_{i_1 i_2}) \\ & \downarrow \downarrow \\ \bigoplus_{i \in I} \Pi_S(Z_i) \xrightarrow{\partial} \bigoplus_{j \in I} \Pi_S(Z_j, \langle N_j \rangle) \\ & \downarrow \downarrow \\ & \bigoplus_{j_1 < j_2} \Pi_S(Z_{j_1 j_2}, \langle N_{j_1 j_2} \rangle) \\ & \vdots \end{pmatrix}$$

Typically, a punctured tubular neighborhood computation will consist of determining the homotopy colimit (resp. limit) of the left (resp. right) column and then determining the map ∂ . For a closed *S*-pair (*X*, *Z*) such that *X* is smooth over *S* in a Nisnevich neighborhood of *Z*, $\tau_{X/S}$ is a well-defined virtual vector bundle on a suitable Nisnevich neighborhood of *Z*, and its restriction $i^{-1}\tau_{X/S}$ to *Z* is a well-defined virtual vector bundle on *Z*, see 2.4.2. Since the twisted punctured tubular neighborhood of *Z* in *X* depends only on a Nisnevich neighborhood of *Z* in *X*, the object $\text{TN}_S^{\times}(X, Z, -v - \tau_{X/S})$ is well-defined for every virtual vector bundle *v* on (a Nisnevich neighborhood of *Z* in) *X*. One derives from Theorem 3.4.3 the following strong duality result.

Theorem 4.2.2. Let (X, Z) be a closed S-pair such that X is smooth in a Nisnevich neighbordhood of Z and such Z/S is proper with smooth crossings over S. Then for every virtual vector bundle v on X, $\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(X, Z, v)$ is rigid with dual $\operatorname{TN}_{S}^{\times}(X, Z, -v - \tau_{X/S})[-1]$.

In particular, under the stated hypothesis, the punctured tubular neighborhood $TN^{\times}(X, Z)$ is auto-dual, up to twist and shift.

4.3. **Stable homotopy at infinity and boundary motives.** As explained in the next examples, the following definition is rooted in both classical topology, see [56], and in Wildeshaus' theory of boundary motives [88].

Definition 4.3.1. The *homotopy at infinity* of a separated *S*-scheme X/S is the homotopy fiber computed in $\mathscr{T}(S)$ of the map $\alpha_{X/S} : \Pi_S(X) \to \Pi_S^c(X)$ in (2.2.1.a) so that there is a homotopy exact sequence

$$\Pi_S^{\infty}(X) \longrightarrow \Pi_S(X) \xrightarrow{\alpha_{X/S}} \Pi_S^c(X)$$

Owing to (1.2.0.a), the main case is $\mathscr{T} = SH$. We refer to the spectrum $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X)$ in SH(S) as the *stable* homotopy at infinity of X relative to S.

Example 4.3.2. Let $p : V \to S$ be a vector bundle and consider the closed pair (V, S) given by the zero section $s : S \to V$. Then, using purity isomorphisms, one gets the commutative diagram

$$\mathbf{1}_{S} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c} & \Pi_{S}(V) \xrightarrow{\alpha_{V/S}} \Pi_{S}^{c}(V) = p_{*}p^{!}(\mathbf{1}_{S}) \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ \end{array}}_{e(V)} \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c} & & & \\ & & &$$

The fact that p_* and the unit ad_p are isomorphisms follows from A^1 -homotopy invariance. The purity isomorphism \mathfrak{p}_p exists since p is smooth, and $\mathfrak{p}_{V,S}$ is the (tautological) purity isomorphism. The right-hand side commutes by applying [35, Lemma 3.3.1] to f = p, i = s, $i' = Id_V$, while commutativity of the left-hand side follows by definition of the Euler class e(V) (2.3.3). We deduce the homotopy exact sequence

$$\Pi_{S}^{\infty}(V) \to \mathbf{1}_{S} \xrightarrow{e(V)} \operatorname{Th}(V)$$

In other words, $\Pi_{S}^{\infty}(V) = \Pi_{S}(V^{\times})$ and, if $e(V) = 0$ then $\Pi_{S}^{\infty}(V) = \mathbf{1}_{S} \oplus \operatorname{Th}(V)[-1]$

It follows from the discussion in Section 1.2 that $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X)$ realizes to the analogous definition for the other motivic ∞ -categories of (1.2.0.a).

Example 4.3.3. *Motivic realization*. Let *S* be the spectrum of a perfect field k of characteristic exponent p and let *X* be a separated k-scheme. Then the motivic realization functor (see also [53], [79] in this case)

$$(4.3.3.a) SH(k) \to DM(k)[1/p]$$

sends $\Pi_k(X)$ to Voevodsky's homological motive M(X) of X ([25, §8.7]), and it sends $\Pi_k^c(X)$ to $M^c(X)$, Voevodsky's homological motive of X with compact support ([25, Proposition 8.10]). It follows that the motivic realization functor sends $\Pi_k^\infty(X)$ to *the boundary motive* $\partial M(X)$ of X (see Wildeshaus [87]). In particular, the Betti or ℓ -adic cohomology of $\Pi_k^\infty(X)$ coincides with the so-called *interior cohomology* of X. We generalize the above discussion to arbitrary base schemes in Section 5.

Example 4.3.4. *Betti realization*. Let *S* be the spectrum of a field *k* which admits a complex embedding σ , and consider the Betti realization functor (see Section 1.2)

(4.3.4.a)
$$\operatorname{SH}(k) \to \operatorname{D}_B^{\sigma}(k) = \operatorname{D}(\mathbb{Z})$$

Owing to Ayoub's enhancement of (4.3.4.a) to an arbitrary base scheme using the technique of analytical sheaves [12], one derives that for any separated k-scheme X, the spectrum $\Pi_k(X)$ realizes to the singular chain complex $S_*(X^{\sigma})$ of the analytification X^{σ} of X, and the spectrum $\Pi_k^c(X)$ realizes to the Borel-Moore singular chain complex $S_*^{BM}(X^{\sigma})$. As X^{σ} is locally contractible and σ -compact, the latter is quasi-isomorphic to the complex $S_*^{lf}(W)$ of locally finite singular chains ([56, Chapter 3]). Thus the stable homotopy type at infinity $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X)$ realizes to the singular complex at infinity $S_*^{\infty}(X^{\sigma})$ (see Definition [56]), defined by the distinguished triangle of chain complexes of abelian groups

(4.3.4.b)
$$S^{\infty}_{*}(X^{\sigma}) \to S_{*}(X^{\sigma}) \xrightarrow{\alpha_{X}\sigma} S^{lf}_{*}(X^{\sigma}) \to S^{\infty}_{*}(X^{\sigma})[1]$$

As a corollary of Theorem 2.6.4, we get the following computations:

Proposition 4.3.5. *In the setting of Theorem 2.6.4 assume that either i) or ii) holds and that* Y/S *is proper. Then there is a canonical isomorphism*

$$\Pi_S^{\infty}(X \times_S Y) \simeq \Pi_S^{\infty}(X) \otimes \Pi_S(Y)$$

Proposition 4.3.6. In the setting of Theorem 2.6.4 assume that $g : Y \to S$ is smooth and stably \mathbf{A}^1 contractible over S with relative tangent bundle T_g stably constant over S and let v_0 be a virtual vector bundle
over S such that $\langle T_g \rangle = g^* v_0$ in $K_0(Y)$. Then there exists a homotopy exact sequence

$$\Pi^{\infty}_{S}(X \times_{S} Y) \longrightarrow \Pi_{S}(X) \xrightarrow{\alpha_{X} \otimes \alpha_{Y}} \Pi^{c}_{S}(X) \otimes \operatorname{Th}(v_{0})$$

In particular, if T_q is the pullback of a vector bundle V over S with a trivial Euler class, then

 $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X \times_S Y) = \Pi_S(X) \oplus \Pi_S^c(X) \otimes \operatorname{Th}_S(V)[-1]$

Note that the splitting uses Example 4.3.2.

Example 4.3.7. Let *X* be a smooth stably \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible variety of dimension *d* over a field *k*. Then, Proposition 4.3.6 implies that

$$\Pi_k^{\infty}(X) = \mathbf{1}_k \oplus \mathbf{1}_k(d)[2d-1] = \Pi_k^{\infty}(\mathbf{A}_k^d)$$

In other words, stable homotopy at infinity cannot distinguish between X and affine space \mathbf{A}_{k}^{d} , as one would expect from topology (see [7]). A theory of unstable motivic homotopy at infinity, however, is expected to provide a finer invariant.

Similarly, the situation for smooth morphisms $f : X \to S$ with stably \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible fibers over a general base S is entirely described by their stable tangent bundles. In particular, if T_f is constant over S, equal to f^*V for some vector bundle V on S, then the stable homotopy type at infinity of Xis the same as that of the vector bundle V. It is thus essentially described by the Euler class of V as explained in Example 4.3.2.

Remark 4.3.8. In general, one can interpret $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X)$ as an extension of $\Pi_S(X)$ by $\Pi_S^c(X)$. This viewpoint is prominent in Wildeshaus' work on boundary motives; a motivic realization, where weight considerations are at stake. In topology, it is well-known that forming a product with Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n kills the fundamental group at infinity. In our stable context, taking a product with affine space \mathbb{A}^n , or more generally, any smooth stably \mathbb{A}^1 -contractible *S*-scheme $f: Y \to S$ of relative dimension *n* with a trivial relative tangent bundle splits the extension in the sense that

$$\Pi_S^{\infty}(X \times Y) \simeq \Pi_S(X) \oplus \Pi_S^c(X)(n)[2n-1]$$

As an application of the results and techniques above, we can now wholly determine the homotopy at infinity of complements of stably A^1 -contractible arrangements in smooth stably A^1 -contractible schemes over a field (see 3.5.1).

Proposition 4.3.9. Let *S* be a smooth stably \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible scheme over a field *k* and let (X, Z) be a stably \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible arrangement over *S* such that *Z* is a normal crossing closed subscheme of *X*. Then there exists a canonical isomorphism

$$\Pi_S^{\infty}(X-Z) \simeq \bigoplus_{i=0}^d m(i)\mathbf{1}_S(i)[i] \oplus \bigoplus_{j=0}^d m(j)\mathbf{1}_S(d-j)[2d-j-1]$$

where d is the dimension of X over S and where m(n) denotes the sum of the number of connected components of all codimension n subschemes Z_J of X.

Proof. Indeed, applying Proposition 3.5.3 and Corollary 3.5.4, we deduce the homotopy exact sequence

$$\Pi_S^{\infty}(X) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{i=0}^d m(i) \mathbf{1}_S(i)[i] \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j=0}^d m(j) \mathbf{1}_S(d-j)[2d-j]$$

To conclude, it suffices to prove that the second map is zero. Since *S* is stably \mathbf{A}^1 -contractible over the field *k*, it is given by a sum of elements of the groups $\pi^{2d-i-j,d-i-j}(k)$. Since d > 0, these groups are all trivial by Morel's stable \mathbf{A}^1 -connectivity theorem.

4.4. Stable homotopy type at infinity via punctured tubular neighborhoods.

4.4.1. Recall that a *compactification* of a separated morphism of finite type $f: X \to S$ consists of an open immersion $j: X \to \overline{X}$ into a proper *S*-scheme $\overline{f}: \overline{X} \to S$. The closed subscheme $\partial X = (\overline{X} - X)_{red}$ of \overline{X} is called the *boundary* of the compactification j. We denote by $i: \partial X \to \overline{X}$ the corresponding closed immersion and set $\partial \overline{f} = \overline{f} \circ i: \partial X \to S$ in the commutative diagram



The following result gives our main tool for computing stable homotopy types at infinity. For specializations to topology and motives, see [56] and [88, Theorem 1.6], respectively.

Proposition 4.4.2. Let $(\bar{X}, \partial X)$ be the closed S-pair associated with a compactification of a separated S-scheme of finite type. Then there exists a canonical isomorphism

$$\Pi_S^{\infty}(X) \simeq \operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(\bar{X}, \partial X)$$

which is natural in $(\overline{X}, X, \partial X)$, covariantly functorial with respect to proper maps, and contravariantly functorial with respect to étale maps.

Proof. Given the six functors formalism, this is a direct application of Proposition 4.1.6. More precisely, with the notation of 4.4.1, one reduces to the commutative diagram

$$f_! f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \xrightarrow{\alpha_f} f_* f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \xrightarrow{\gamma_f} f_* f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \xrightarrow{\gamma_f} f_* f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \xrightarrow{\gamma_f} f_* f^!(\mathbf{1}_S) \xrightarrow{ad_{j_*,j^*}} f_* j_* j^* f^!(\mathbf{1}_S)$$

and exactness of the rows and columns of (4.1.12.a).

Remark 4.4.3. The above result has the following geometric interpretations. First, using the notations of Proposition 4.1.6 for the closed *S*-pair $(\bar{X}, \partial X)$ and that of Definition 4.3.1, the commutative diagram in the proof of Proposition 4.4.2 can be recast as

In particular, considering the Borel-Moore homotopy $\Pi_S^c(X)$ of X naturally leads to considering the object $\overline{X}/\partial X$ obtained by identifying the boundary ∂X of any compactification \overline{X} with a point. The latter can be viewed as a motivic model for the one-point compactification in topology.

Second, $\Pi_{S}^{\infty}(X)$ can be canonically identified with the homotopy fiber of the canonical map

(4.4.3.a)
$$\Pi_S(\partial X) \oplus \Pi_S(X) \xrightarrow{i_* + j_*} \Pi_S(\bar{X})$$

Under motivic realization, (4.4.3.a) becomes the formula for the boundary motive given in [87, Proposition 2.4].

A reformulation of Proposition 4.4.2 yields the following invariance result for the punctured tubular neighborhood of a closed subscheme *Z* of a proper *S*-scheme *X*:

Corollary 4.4.4. Let (X, Z) be a closed S-pair such that X/S is proper. Then the punctured tubular neighborhood $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X, Z)$ is isomorphic to $\prod_{S}^{\infty}(X - Z)$, and therefore it depends only on the open subscheme X - Z.

By combining Proposition 4.1.5 and Proposition 4.4.2, we obtain the following result.

Corollary 4.4.5. Let $(\bar{X}, \partial X)$ be the closed *S*-pair associated to a compactification of a separated *S*-scheme *X*. Assume that $(\bar{X}, \partial X)$ is weakly h-smooth with normal bundle $N = N_{\partial X/\bar{X}}$. Then there is a homotopy exact sequence

(4.4.5.a)
$$\Pi_S^{\infty}(X) \longrightarrow \Pi_S(\partial X) \xrightarrow{e(N)} \operatorname{Th}_S(N)$$

where e(N) is induced by the Euler class of N (see 2.3.3). In particular, $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X) = \Pi_S(N^{\times})$, and when e(N) vanishes, there is a splitting $\Pi_S^{\infty}(X) = \Pi_S(\partial X) \oplus \operatorname{Th}_S(N)[-1]$.

Remark 4.4.6. Assume that *S* is the spectrum of a perfect field *k* of characteristic exponent *p*. Then the realization in DM(k)[1/p] of the homotopy exact sequence (4.4.5.a) is the homotopy exact sequence

$$\partial M(X) \longrightarrow M(\partial X) \xrightarrow{\tilde{c}_r(N)} M(\partial X)(r)[2r]$$

where $\partial M(X)$ is the boundary motive of X in Example 4.3.3, r is the rank of the normal bundle N of ∂_X in \overline{X} and the map $\tilde{c}_r(N)$ is induced by multiplication with the top Chern class $c_r(N) \in CH^r(\partial X) \simeq$ Hom $(M(\partial X), \mathbf{1}(r)[2r])$. Corollary 4.4.5 implies that $\Pi_k^{\infty}(X)$ is a strictly finer invariant than $\partial M(X)$, see Remark 4.1.4.

4.5. **Interpretation in terms of fundamental classes.** In what follows, we observe connections between stable homotopy at infinity and more generally punctured tubular neighborhoods and certain fundamental classes.

Proposition 4.5.1. Let $f : X \to S$ be a smooth morphism with relative tangent bundle T_f . Then the map $\alpha'_{X/S}$ obtained by adjunction from the composite

$$\Pi_S(X) \xrightarrow{\alpha_{X/S}} \Pi_S^c(X) \simeq \underline{\operatorname{Hom}} \left(\Pi_S(X, -T_f), \mathbf{1}_S \right),$$

where the isomorphism uses Proposition 2.5.5(4), fits into the commutative diagram

0 min

The left vertical map is the Künneth isomorphism (2.6.1.b) *and* $\delta^!$ *is the Gysin map* (2.3.1) *associated with the diagonal immersion* $\delta : X \to X \times_S X$.

In other words, the map $\alpha_{X/S}$, whose homotopy cofiber is the stable homotopy at infinity of X/S, can be computed under the canonical isomorphisms

$$[\Pi_S(X), \Pi_S^c(X)] \simeq [\Pi_S(X) \otimes \Pi_S(X, -T_f), \mathbf{1}_S]$$

$$\simeq [\Pi_S(X \times_S X), \operatorname{Th}(p_j^{-1}T_f)] = H^0_{\mathscr{T}}(X \times_S X, p_j^{-1}(T_f))$$

as the twisted fundamental class $[\Delta_{X/S}]_{X \times X}^{j}$ of the diagonal, with respect to the δ -parallelization corresponding to the smooth retraction p_j of δ , see Example 2.3.6.

Proof. For notational convenience, let $p_1 : X \times_S X \to X$ be the projection on the first factor. The associativity formula in [35, Theorem 3.3.2] shows the equality of fundamental classes $\eta_{\delta}.\eta_{p_1} = 1$. The assumption that f is smooth implies the cartesian square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X \times_S X \xrightarrow{p_1} X \\ p_2 & & \downarrow f \\ X \xrightarrow{p_2} & & \downarrow f \\ \end{array}$$

is Tor-independent. Thus the transversal base change formula in [35, Theorem 3.3.2] implies the equality $\Delta^*(\eta_f) = \eta_{p_1}$ from which the commutativity of the square follows.

Remark 4.5.2. Computing fundamental classes of the diagonal is a famous problem, at the center of the Chow-Künneth conjecture, for example. The previous proposition shows the link between determining the stable homotopy type at infinity, or the boundary motive, of X/S and computing the (twisted) fundamental class of its diagonal. The main difference with the Chow-Künneth conjecture is that we are interested mainly in the non-proper case.

Similarly, one gets the following link between punctured tubular neighborhoods and another fundamental class.

Proposition 4.5.3. Let (X, Z) be a closed S-pair such that X/S is smooth with relative tangent bundle $T_{X/s}$ and such that Z/S is proper and has smooth crossings (see Definition 3.3.2). Then the map $\beta'_{X,Z}$ obtained by adjunction from

$$\Pi_S(Z) \xrightarrow{\beta_{X,Z}} \Pi_S(X/X - Z) \simeq \Pi_S(Z, -\langle i^{-1}T_{X/S} \rangle)^{\vee},$$

where the isomorphism follows from Theorem 4.2.2, fits into the commutative diagram

$$\Pi_{S}(Z) \otimes \Pi_{S}(Z, -\langle i^{-1}T_{X/S} \rangle) \xrightarrow{\beta'_{X,Z}} \mathbf{1}_{S}$$

$$Id \otimes i_{*} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \uparrow q_{*}$$

$$\Pi_{S}(Z) \otimes \Pi_{S}(X, -\langle T_{X/S} \rangle) \xrightarrow{(*)}{\simeq} \Pi_{S}(Z \times_{S} X, -\langle p_{j}^{-1}T_{X/S} \rangle) \xrightarrow{\gamma_{i}^{!}} \Pi_{S}(Z)$$

where $\gamma_i^!$ is the Gysin morphism associated to the graph immersion $\gamma_i = Id \times i : Z \to Z \times_S X$.

In other words, the map $\beta_{X,Z}$, whose cone is the punctured tubular neighborhood $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X,Z)$ of the pair (X,Z), can be computed under the canonical isomorphisms

$$\begin{aligned} [\Pi_S(Z), \Pi_S(X/X - Z)] &\simeq [\Pi_S(Z), \Pi_S(Z, -\langle i^{-1}T_{X/S}\rangle)^{\vee}] \simeq [\Pi_S(Z) \otimes \Pi_S(Z, -\langle i^{-1}T_{X/S}\rangle), \mathbf{1}_S] \\ &\simeq [\Pi_S(Z \times_S X, -\langle p_i^{-1}T_{X/S}\rangle, \mathbf{1}_S] \simeq H^0_{\mathscr{T}}(Z \times_S X, p_i^{-1}T_{X/S}) \end{aligned}$$

as the twisted fundamental class $[\Gamma_i]_{Z\times X}^{can}$ of the graph γ_i of the closed immersion $i: Z \to X$, with obvious γ_i -parallelization $N_{\gamma_i} \simeq \gamma_i^{-1}(p_j^{-1}T_{X/S})$.

Proof. First, let us note that γ_i is a section of the smooth separated morphism $Z \times_S X \to Z$. So it is a regular closed immersion whose normal bundle is isomorphic to the relative tangent bundle $p_j^*T_{X/S}$ of $Z \times_S X$ over Z. This justifies the existence of the Gysin map $\gamma_i^!$ using 2.3.1. Secondly, the isomorphism (*) follows from the Künneth isomorphism of Proposition 3.3.6. A routine check using the definitions of the maps shows that the diagram commutes.

4.5.4. Pushing the idea from the preceding result, one obtains a method of computation for the decomposition of punctured tubular neighborhoods obtained in Theorem 4.2.1. We use the notations of *op. cit.*: (X, Z) is a closed *S*-pair, $Z = \bigcup_{i \in I} Z_i$. Furthermore, we make the following assumptions.

- (1) X/S is smooth with relative tangent bundle $T_{X/S}$.
- (2) Z/S is proper and has smooth crossings.

In fact, as Z_i/S is smooth and proper, one deduces from Example 2.5.7 that $\Pi_S(Z_i, N_i)$ is rigid with dual $\Pi_S(Z_i, -\langle T^i_{X/S} \rangle)$, where we denote by $T^i_{X/S}$ the restriction of $T_{X/S}$ to Z_i and use the isomorphism of virtual vector bundles $\langle T^i_{X/S} \rangle = \langle N_i \rangle + \langle T_{Z_i/S} \rangle$. Combined with the Künneth formula (2.6.1.b), one gets a canonical isomorphism

(4.5.4.a)
$$\varphi : [\Pi_S(Z_i), \Pi_S(Z_j, N_j)] \xrightarrow{\cong} H^0_{\mathscr{T}}(Z_i \times_S Z_j, p_2^{-1}T^j_{X/S})$$

Proposition 4.5.5. Consider the above assumptions and the cartesian square of closed immersions

(4.5.5.a)

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
Z'_{ij} & \longrightarrow & X \\
\downarrow^{\nu'_{ij}} & & \downarrow^{\delta} \\
Z_i \times_S & Z_j & \xrightarrow{\bar{\nu}_i \times_S \bar{\nu}_j} & X \times_S & X
\end{array}$$

Let $\delta_{ij}: \Pi_S(Z_i) \to \Pi_S(Z_j, N_j)$ be the map appearing in Theorem 4.2.1.

(1) Through the isomorphism (4.5.4.a), we have

$$\delta_{ij} = (\bar{\nu}_i \times_S \bar{\nu}_j)^* \left([\Delta_{X/S}]_{X \times X}^2 \right)$$

where the right-hand side is the second twisted fundamental class of the diagonal of X/S (see Example 2.3.6).

(2) If i = j, ν'_{ii} is the diagonal δ_i of Z_i/S . We consider the map

$$H^{0}_{\mathscr{T}}(X, N_{i}) \xrightarrow{\epsilon_{2*}} H^{0}_{\mathscr{T}}(Z_{i}, N_{\delta_{i}} + \delta_{i}^{-1}p_{2}^{-1}T_{X/S}) \xrightarrow{\delta_{i!}} H^{0}_{\mathscr{T}}(Z_{i} \times_{S} Z_{i}, p_{2}^{-1}T_{X/S})$$

where the first map is induced by the canonical isomorphism of virtual bundles

$$\epsilon_2 : \langle N_i \rangle \simeq \langle N_i \rangle - \langle T^i_{X/S} \rangle + \langle \delta_i^{-1} p_2^{-1} T_{X/S} \rangle \simeq \langle N_{\delta_i} \rangle + \langle \delta_i^{-1} p_2^{-1} T_{X/S} \rangle$$

over Z_i and $\delta_{i!}$ is the Gysin map in cohomotopy (see 2.3.1). Let also $e(N_i)$ be the Euler class of the normal bundle N_i of Z_i/X (see Example 2.3.3). Then through the isomorphism (4.5.4.a), we have

$$\delta_{ii} = \delta_{i!}(\epsilon_{2*}e(N_i))$$

(3) Assume furthermore that (4.5.5.a) is transversal: ν'_{ij} is regular with normal bundle isomorphic to the restriction of T_X to Z_{ij} , i.e., it is of proper codimension. Then δ_{ij} can be computed through the isomorphism (4.5.4.a) as

$$\delta_{ij} = [Z'_{ij}]^2_{Z_i \times Z_j}$$

Here, $[Z'_{ij}]^2_{Z_i \times Z_j} \in H^0_{\mathscr{T}}(Z_i \times_S Z_j, p_2^{-1} \langle T_X^j \rangle)$ *is the twisted fundamental class of* ν'_{ij} *with respect to the obvious* ν'_{ij} *-parallelization.*

Proof. The first statement follows from the definition of the explicit duality pairing given in Example 2.5.7, and the properties of fundamental classes. For compatibility with composition and transversal base change formula for closed immersions, see [35, Lemma 3.2.13, Ex. 3.2.9(i)]. The second (resp. third) computation follows from the first one and the excess intersection (resp. transversal base change) formula for the above cartesian square.

Example 4.5.6. When \mathscr{T} is an oriented motivic category, i.e., one of the categories under DM in (1.2.0.a), and we assume that the second condition of the proposition holds, then $\delta_{ij} = [Z'_{ij}]_{Z_i \times Z_j}$ is the image of the usual cycle class of the natural diagonal immersion of Z'_{ij} by the cycle class map

$$\operatorname{CH}^{d}(Z_i \times_S Z_j) \to H^{2d,d}_{\mathscr{T}}(Z_i \times_S Z_j)$$

where *d* is the dimension of X/S. In particular, we get $\delta_{ij} = \delta_{ji}$ after making the identification $CH^d(Z_i \times_S Z_j) = CH^d(Z_j \times_S Z_i)$. That is, the matrix in Theorem 4.2.1 is *symmetric*. In the non-oriented case, this will no longer be true in general, as we will illustrate in the forthcoming section.

5. MOTIVIC PLUMBING

In this section, we explain in which sense our punctured tubular neighborhood gives rise to a motivic version of Mumford's plumbing construction from [71] and show how to extend some of the computations of *loc. cit.* in the A^1 -homotopical context.

5.1. Assumptions and notation. We impose the following assumptions.

(M1) (X, D) is a closed *S*-pair, *S* an arbitrary base scheme.⁹

⁹On the stable homotopy case we will often assume that *S* is semi-local. In our examples *S* will be a field.

- (M2) X/S has relative dimension 2 and is smooth in a neighborhood of D.
- (M3) D is a divisor on X, proper and with smooth reduced crossings over S.¹⁰
- (M4) The components $(D_i)_{i \in I}$ of D are rational curves. For $i \in I$, we fix an isomorphism $\alpha_i : D_i \to \mathbf{P}_S^1$. This determines 3 distinct rational points on D_i , say $0_i, 1_i, \infty_i$. We assume that the point ∞_i on D_i is not a point on another irreducible component D_j of D. We let $\omega_i = \det(\Omega_{D_i/S}) \cong \alpha_i^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{P}_S^1}(-2)$ be the canonical sheaf of D_i and we denote by T_i its associated line bundle.

Later on, we will add one of two other assumptions (M5a)/(M5b) to this list (see Lemma 5.2.5). In the above situation, we follow the conventions of the previous section:

- Let $\Omega_{X/S}|_D$ be the restriction to D of the relative cotangent sheaf of X/S (computed in a neighborhood of D) and denote by $T_X|_D$ the corresponding vector bundle of rank 2 on D. We let $\omega_X|_D = \det(\Omega_{X/S}|_D)$.
- For every *i* ∈ *I*, we denote by *ν_i* : *D_i* → *D* and by *ν_i* : *D_i* → *X* the natural closed immersions and by *p_i* : *D_i* → *S* the projection. We let *C_i* = *C_{D_i/X}* be the conormal sheaf of *D_i* in *X*, and we denote by *N_i* the associated line bundle.
- We fix an arbitrary order on *I*. For i < j in *I*, we put $D'_{ij} = D_i \times_X D_j$, and let D_{ij} be its reduction. Under our assumptions, the projection $p_{ij} : D_{ij} \to S$ is a finite étale morphism. There are closed immersions $\nu_{ij}^l : D_{ij} \to D_l$, l = i, j. We set $C_{ij} = C_{D_{ij}/X}$ and $C_{ij}^l = C_{D_{ij}/D_l}$ the conormal sheaves of D_{ij} in *X* and D_l respectively, l = i, j, and we denote by N_{ij} and N_{ij}^l the associated vector bundles of respective rank 2 and 1 on D_{ij} .

For i < j, there are canonical isomorphisms

(5.1.0.a)
$$C_{ij} \simeq \Omega_X|_{D_{ij}}$$
 $C_{ij}^\iota \simeq \omega_l|_{D_{ij}}, \quad l = i, j$

(5.1.0.b)
$$\omega_X|_{D_i} \simeq \mathcal{C}_i \otimes \omega_i, \qquad \det(\mathcal{C}_{ij}) \simeq \mathcal{C}_{ij}^\iota \otimes \mathcal{C}_l|_{D_{ij}} \quad l = i, j$$

These define canonical isomorphisms of virtual vector bundles $T_X|_{D_i} \simeq T_i + N_i$ and

$$T_X|_{D_{ij}} \simeq N_l|_{D_{ij}} + N_{ij}^l \simeq N_l|_{D_{ij}} + T_l|_{D_{ij}} \quad l = i, j$$

To get more precise results, we will also introduce at some point (see (Proposition 5.2.8 and the subsequent results) the following strengthening of assumption (M3):

(M3+) *S* is the spectrum of a field *k*, the irreducible components D_i of *D* intersect transversely (at all points D_{ij}^{λ}), and the residue field κ_{ij}^{λ} of D_{ij}^{λ} is finite separable over *k*.

The transversality assumption implies that for every i < j, we have $D_{ij} = D_i \times_X D_j = \bigsqcup_{\lambda} D_{ij}^{\lambda}$. Furthermore, it guarantees for all $i \neq j$ and all λ the existence of a canonical isomorphism $C_i|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}} \simeq C_{ij}^j|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}}$ and hence of a canonical isomorphism

(5.1.0.c)
$$\mathcal{C}_{i}|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}} \otimes \omega_{j}^{\vee}|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}} \simeq \mathcal{C}_{ij}^{j}|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}} \otimes \omega_{j}^{\vee}|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}} \overset{(5.1.0.a)}{\simeq} \omega_{j}|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}} \otimes \omega_{j}^{\vee}|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}} \simeq \kappa_{ij}^{\lambda}$$

5.2. Punctured tubular neighborhoods and quadratic Mumford matrices. Under a reasonable orientability assumption, the computations in this subsection apply to any motivic ∞ -category \mathscr{T} . We will later focus on the (universal) cases of SH and $DM_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

5.2.1. Under the assumptions and notation in Section 5.1, we will use the formula given in Theorem 4.2.1 in two steps. First, since D is an h-smooth crossing S-scheme, Proposition 3.3.3 identifies $\Pi_S(D)$ with the homotopy cofiber of the canonical map

(5.2.1.a)
$$d_1 = \sum_{i < j} \nu_{ij*}^i - \nu_{ij*}^j : \bigoplus_{i < j} \Pi_S(D_{ij}) \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} \Pi_S(D_i)$$

¹⁰See Definition 3.3.2.

The isomorphisms α_i of 5.1(M4) determine an isomorphism

(5.2.1.b)
$$\gamma_1 = \sum_{i \in I} \alpha_{i*} : \bigoplus_{i \in I} \Pi_S(D_i) \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_S \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2]$$

The following lemma is immediate.

Lemma 5.2.2. Under the above assumptions and notation, the composite $\gamma_1 \circ d_1$ factors through the inclusion of the direct summand $\bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_S$ on the right-hand-side of (5.2.1.b). Moreover, the factorization coincides with the map

(5.2.2.a)
$$q_1 = \sum_{i < j} p_{ij*}^i - p_{ij*}^j : \bigoplus_{i < j} \Pi_S(D_{ij}) \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_S$$

where p_{ij*}^l is the composition of the inclusion of the l-factor of the left hand-side with p_{ij*} . In particular, there is a canonical isomorphism

(5.2.2.b)
$$\Pi_S(D) \simeq \mathcal{D} \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2]$$

where \mathcal{D} is the homotopy cofiber of q_1 .

Remark 5.2.3. One can interpret the preceding lemma by saying that $\Pi_S(D)$ is a sum of the combinatorial part \mathcal{D} depending on the combinatorics of the intersection of the irreducible components of D, which is a smooth Artin object¹¹ and the "geometric" part $\bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2]$.

5.2.4. The description of the target $\Pi_S(X/X - D)$ of the map $\beta_{X,D}$ in Definition 4.1.1 is more involved, in particular in the non-oriented case.

Lemma 5.2.5. Consider the assumptions of Section 5.1. Assume one of the following condition holds: (M5a) The motivic ∞ -category \mathcal{T} is oriented.

(M5b) The motivic category is $\mathscr{T} = DM$, or $\mathscr{T} = SH$ and $K_0(S)$ is infinite cyclic. Furthermore, we assume given for every $i \in I$ two orientation classes $\epsilon_i \in \mathscr{O}r_{D_i}(\mathcal{C}_i)$ and $\tau_i \in \mathscr{O}r_{D_i}(\omega_i)$ (see 6.1.5) such that for every i < j, the equality

$$(\epsilon_i \otimes \tau_i)|_{D_{ij}} = (\epsilon_j \otimes \tau_j)|_{D_{ij}}$$

holds in $\mathscr{O}r_{D_{ij}}(\omega_X|_{D_{ij}}) \stackrel{(5.1.0.b)}{\simeq} \mathscr{O}r_{D_{ij}}((\mathcal{C}_i \otimes \omega_i)|_{D_{ij}}).$ Then there exists an isomorphism

$$\epsilon_*: \Pi_S(X/X - D) \to \Pi_S(D)^{\vee}(2)[4] = \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\Pi_S(D), \mathbf{1}_S)(2)[4]$$

in $\mathscr{T}(S)$, canonical in case (M5a) and depending canonically on the orientations classes $(\epsilon_i)_{i \in I}$ and $(\tau_i)_{i \in I}$ in *case* (M5b).

Combining the isomorphism ϵ_* with Lemma 5.2.2, we get the isomorphism

(5.2.5.a)
$$\Pi_S(X/X - D) \simeq \mathcal{D}^{\vee}(2)[4] \oplus \bigoplus_{j \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2]$$

Note moreover that \mathcal{D}^{\vee} is still an Artin object as in Remark 5.2.3.

- *Remark* 5.2.6. (1) Assumption (M5b) implies that the conormal sheaves C_i of all the divisors D_i in X must have even degree.
 - (2) When ω_X|_D is orientable, say with a given orientation class φ ∈ 𝒫r_D(ω_X|_D), one way of fulfilling condition (M5b) is to choose for τ_i the orientation given by the canonical isomorphism c_i : ω_i → (𝒫_{D_i}(−1))^{⊗2} and for ε_i the image of the orientation class φ|_{D_i} ⊗ τ[∨]_i ∈ 𝒫r_{D_i}(ω_X|_{D_i} ⊗ ω[∨]_i) under the isomorphism 𝒫r_{D_i}(ω_X|_{D_i} ⊗ ω[∨]_i) ^(5.1.0.b) 𝒫r_{D_i}(𝔅_i).

¹¹By analogy with the case of motives, it is the smallest ∞ -category containing $\Pi_S(V)$ for V/S finite étale, and stable under suspensions, homotopy (co)fibers.

Proof. In the case of assumption (M5a), the lemma follows from Theorem 3.4.3 by canonically trivializing twists of vector bundles.

Next we treat the more involved case of (M5b). Consider the Gysin morphisms

$$(\nu_{ij}^{l})^{!} : \Pi_{S}(D_{l}, -\langle T_{l} \rangle)(2)[4] \overset{(5.1.0.a)}{\simeq} \Pi_{S}(D_{l}, -\langle N_{ij}^{l} \rangle)(2)[4] \to \Pi_{S}(D_{ij})(2)[4]$$

$$(\nu_{ij}^{l})^{!} : \Pi_{S}(D_{l}, N_{l}) \to \Pi_{S}(D_{ij}, (\nu_{ij}^{l})^{-1}N_{l} - \langle N_{ij}^{l} \rangle) \overset{(5.1.0.b)}{\simeq} \Pi_{S}(D_{ij}, N_{ij})$$

Then for every l = i, j, we have a commutative diagram of isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{S}(D_{l})^{\vee}(2)[4] & \xrightarrow{(\nu_{ij*}^{l})^{\vee}} \Pi_{S}(D_{ij})^{\vee}(2)[4] \\ \xrightarrow{\theta_{l} \downarrow} & \eta_{i} \downarrow & \psi_{\theta_{ij}} \\ \Pi_{S}(D_{l}, -\langle T_{l} \rangle)(2)[4] & \xrightarrow{(\nu_{ij}^{l})^{!}} & \Pi_{S}(D_{ij})(2)[4] \\ \xrightarrow{\eta_{*}^{(l)} \downarrow} & \psi_{\epsilon_{*}^{(ij,l)}} \\ \Pi_{S}(D_{l}, N_{l}) & \xrightarrow{(\nu_{ij}^{l})^{!}} & \Pi_{S}(D_{ij}, N_{ij}) \end{split}$$

The top square is the canonical commutative diagram coming from the explicit duality pairing constructed in Example 2.5.7. The vertical isomorphism of the bottom square is defined as follows: The isomorphism $\epsilon_*^{(ij,l)}$ is obtained either from the **SL**-orientation of \widetilde{DM} or in case $\mathscr{T} = SH$ from Proposition 6.1.16 by using the orientation $(\epsilon_l \otimes \tau_l)|_{D_{ij}}$ of det $C_{ij} \stackrel{(5.1.0.a)}{\simeq} \omega_X|_{D_{ij}}$. The isomorphism $\eta_*^{(l)}$ is obtained in the same way by using the isomorphisms

$$\Pi_S(D_l, N_l) \simeq \Pi_S(D_l)(1)[2]$$
 and $\Pi_S(D_l, -\langle T_l \rangle) \simeq \Pi_S(D_l)(-1)[-2]$

associated to the chosen orientations ϵ_l and τ_l , respectively. The assumption that the orientations $(\epsilon_i \otimes \tau_i)|_{D_{ij}}$ and $(\epsilon_j \otimes \tau_j)|_{D_{ij}}$ coincide in $\mathscr{O}r_{D_{ij}}(\omega_X|_{D_{ij}})$ ensures that $\epsilon_*^{(ij,i)} = \epsilon_*^{(ij,j)}$. It follows that the diagram

is commutative. This provides the desired canonical isomorphism between the homotopy fiber $\Pi_S(D)^{\vee}(2)[4]$ of top line (see (5.2.1.a)) and the homotopy fiber $\Pi_S(X/X - D)$ of the bottom line (see Proposition 3.3.10).

Using the above two lemmas, we can refine Theorem 4.2.1 as follows:

Theorem 5.2.7. Assume conditions (M1)-(M4) of Section 5.1 as well as one of the conditions (M5a) or (M5b) of Lemma 5.2.5. Then the punctured tubular neighborhood $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X, D)$ in $\mathscr{T}(S)$, or equivalently (Proposition 4.4.2) the homotopy at infinity $\prod_S^{\infty}(X - D)$ when X/S is in addition proper, is isomorphic to the homotopy fiber of the map

$$\beta = \begin{pmatrix} a & b' \\ b & \mu \end{pmatrix} : \mathcal{D} \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2] \to \mathcal{D}^{\vee}(2)[4] \oplus \bigoplus_{j \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2]$$

Here $\mu : \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2] \to \bigoplus_{j \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2]$ is given by a square matrix $(\mu_{ij})_{i,j \in I^2}$ with coefficients in the endomorphism ring $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{T}}(\mathbf{1}_S)$.

In the case (M5b), we call μ the *quadratic Mumford matrix* of (X, D). The next proposition provides an explicit description of this matrix.

Proposition 5.2.8. We assume conditions (M1)-(M4) of Section 5.1.

• In case (M5a), and $\mathscr{T} = DM, DM_{\acute{e}t}, D^{\sigma}_B, D(-_{\acute{e}t}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}), D^m_{Hdg}$ (see diagram (1.2.0.a)) we have $End_{\mathscr{T}}(k) = \mathbb{Z}$ and for every i, j,

$$\mu_{ij} = \deg([D_i] \cdot [D_j]) = (D_i, D_j)$$

is the usual intersection number of the (effective Cartier) divisors D_i and D_j .

• In case (M5b), $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{T}}(\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{2}]}) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(2)} = \operatorname{GW}(\mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{2}]) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(2)}^{12}$ and $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{T}}(\mathbf{1}_k) = \operatorname{GW}(k)$ for any field k. Then, for every i, we have

$$\mu_{ii} = \widetilde{\deg}_{\tau'_i} e(N_i, \epsilon_i)$$

where $e(N_i, \epsilon_i) \in \widetilde{\operatorname{CH}}^1(D_i)$ is the Euler class of the oriented bundle (N_i, ϵ_i) , and $\widetilde{\operatorname{deg}}_{\tau'_i} : \widetilde{\operatorname{CH}}^1(X) \to \operatorname{GW}(k)$ is the quadratic τ'_i -degree associated with the quadratic isomorphism $\tau'_i = \tau_i^{-1} : \mathcal{O}_{D_i} \to \omega_i$ (see (6.2.3.a) and Remark 5.2.9(2)).

Furthermore, under the additional assumption (M3+) *and for every* $i \neq j$ *, we have*

$$u_{ij} = \sum_{\lambda} \langle \operatorname{Tr}_{\kappa_{ij}^{\lambda}/k} (u_{ij}^{\lambda} \cdot xy)$$

Here $\operatorname{Tr}_{\kappa_{ij}^{\lambda}/k}$ *is the trace form (in variables* x, y*), and* $u_{ij}^{\lambda} \in \kappa_{ij}^{\lambda}$ *is a unit whose quadratic class is the image of the orientation class*

$$\epsilon_{ij}^{\lambda} = (\epsilon_i \otimes \tau_j^{\vee})|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}} \in \mathscr{O}r_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}}((\mathscr{C}_i \otimes \omega_j^{\vee})|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}})$$

under the isomorphism $\mathscr{O}r_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}}((\mathscr{C}_i \otimes \omega_j^{\vee})|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}}) \stackrel{(5.1.0.c)}{\simeq} \mathscr{O}r_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}}(\kappa_{ij}^{\lambda}) \stackrel{Remark \ 6.1.7}{\simeq} Q(\kappa_{ij}^{\lambda}).$

Proof. By construction, for every $(i, j) \in I^2$, the coefficient μ_{ij} is computed as the composite map

$$\mathbf{1}_{S}(1)[2] \xrightarrow{p_{i}^{!}} \Pi_{S}(D_{i}, -T_{i})(1)[2] \xrightarrow{(1)} \Pi_{S}(D_{i}) \xrightarrow{(\bar{\nu}_{i})_{*}} \Pi_{S}(X)$$
$$\xrightarrow{(\bar{\nu}_{j})^{!}} \Pi_{S}(D_{j}, N_{j}) \xrightarrow{(2)} \Pi_{S}(D_{j})(1)[2] \xrightarrow{(p_{j})_{*}} \mathbf{1}_{S}(1)[2]$$

Here $p_i : D_i \to \text{Spec}(k)$ (resp. $\bar{\nu}_i : D_i \to X$) is the projection map (resp. inclusion), the map (1) (resp. (2)) is the isomorphism from Lemma 5.2.2 (Lemma 5.2.5). The case (M5a) follows readily. In the case (M5b), (1) corresponds to the isomorphism induced by the orientation τ_i and (2) from the orientation ϵ_j . The assertion then follows readily from the definitions.

- *Remark* 5.2.9. (1) The assumption made in Lemma 5.2.5 case (M5b) that $(\epsilon_i \otimes \tau_i)|_{D_{ij}}$ and $(\epsilon_j \otimes \tau_j)|_{D_{ij}}$ are equivalent orientations the sheaf $\omega_X|_{D_{ij}^{\lambda}}$ implies under assumption (M3+) that for all $i \neq j$ and all λ the orientation classes ϵ_{ij}^{λ} and ϵ_{ji}^{λ} of κ_{ij}^{λ} are equal, hence that the matrix μ is symmetric.
 - (2) The element $deg_{\tau_i} e(N_i, \epsilon_i) \in GW(k)$ coincides with the Euler number $n^{GS}(N_i, \sigma_0, \rho_i)$ of the zero section σ_0 of N_i with respect to the *relative orientation class* $\tau_i^{-1} \circ \epsilon_i : \mathcal{C}_i \to \omega_i$ in $\mathcal{O}r_{D_i}(\mathcal{C}_i \otimes \omega_i^{\vee})$ (see Example 6.1.8 for explanations) of \mathcal{C}_i considered by Bachmann-Wickelgren in [17]. One can check that in our setting, this element is actually independent on the chosen orientations, equal to $\frac{1}{2}(D_i, D_i)h$, where $h = \langle 1 \rangle + \langle -1 \rangle \in GW(k)$ is the class of the hyperbolic plane and where $(D_i, D_i) = \deg(\mathcal{C}_i^{\vee}) \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ is the usual self-intersection number of D_i^{13} . In contrast, the coefficients $\mu_{ij}, i \neq j$ of the matrix μ do depend by construction on the choice of the orientations ϵ_i and τ_i made in assumption (M5b) of Lemma 5.2.5.

¹²See [16, §5] for more general results.

 $^{{}^{13}}C_i$ has even degree on account of being orientable, see Remark 5.2.6(1).

45

5.3. Abelian mixed Artin-Tate motives.

5.3.1. In the following, we apply Theorem 5.2.7 to rational abelian mixed Artin-Tate motives. That is, we use $\mathscr{T} = DM_{\mathbb{Q}}$, and restrict for simplicity to the case S = Spec(K) for some field K.

Let (X, D) be a *K*-pair satisfying the assumptions (M1)-(M4). Theorem 5.2.7 implies that the motive $M(\text{TN}^{\times}(X, D))$ over *K* is Artin-Tate: it is in the smallest thick triangulated subcategory $\text{DM}^{\text{AT}}(K, \mathbb{Q})$ of $\text{DM}(K, \mathbb{Q})$ which contains motives of the form M(L)(n), where L/K is a finite separable extension of *K*.

To state the next result, we moreover consider one of the following settings:

(1) Assume *K* is a field of Kronecker index at most one;¹⁴ for example, a number field, a finite field or a finitely generated field of transcendence degree 1 over a finite field. We let $DM^{AT}(K, \mathbb{Q})$ be the triangulated category of (constructible) Artin-Tate motives over \mathbb{Q} . From [65] it follows that $DM^{AT}(K, \mathbb{Q})$ admits a motivic t-structure (uniquely characterized), whose heart is the Tannakian category $MM^{AT}(K, \mathbb{Q})$ of abelian Artin-Tate motives. In particular, one gets a homological and monoidal functor

$$\underline{\mathrm{H}}_{0}: \mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{AT}}(K, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathrm{MM}^{\mathrm{AT}}(K, \mathbb{Q})$$

(2) Assume *K* is a field of characteristic 0 with a fixed complex embedding. Then we can consider the Tannakian category $\mathcal{M}(K)$ of Nori motives over *K*, as defined in [55], together with its canonical (universal) homological functor

$$\underline{\mathrm{H}}_{0}: \mathrm{DM}_{qm}(K, \mathbb{Q}) \to \mathcal{M}(K)$$

In that case, we define the category of Artin-Tate-Nori motives $MM^{AT}(K, \mathbb{Q})$ as the smallest thick abelian subcategory of $\mathcal{M}(K)$ which contains $\underline{\mathrm{H}}_{0} \mathrm{DM}^{\mathrm{AT}}(K, \mathbb{Q})$. As in the previous case, we get a homological functor.

Under these assumptions, we define the Artin-Tate-Nori motive

$$\underline{\mathrm{H}}_{i}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)) := \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{0}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)[-i])$$

as the *i*-th (motivic) homology of the punctured tubular neighborhood of (X, D). When X is in addition proper over K, this is the homology of the boundary motive of (X - D) (see Example 4.3.3 and Proposition 4.4.2), or the *motivic homology at infinity*

$$\underline{\mathrm{H}}_{i}^{\infty}(X-D) = \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{i}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D))$$

Proposition 5.3.2. Under the above assumptions, the homology motive $\underline{H}_i(X)$ vanishes for $i \notin [0,3]$ and there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{3}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)) \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_{S}(2) \xrightarrow{\sum_{i < j} p_{ij}^{i!} - p_{ij}^{j!}} \bigoplus_{i < j} M_{S}(D_{ij})(2)$$
$$\to \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{2}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)) \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_{S}(1) \xrightarrow{\mu} \bigoplus_{j \in I} \mathbf{1}_{S}(1)$$
$$\to \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{1}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)) \to \bigoplus_{i < j} M_{S}(D_{ij}) \xrightarrow{\sum_{i < j} p_{ij*}^{i} - p_{ij*}^{j}} \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_{S} \to \underline{\mathrm{H}}_{0}(\mathrm{TN}^{\times}(X,D)) \to 0$$

Here, μ is the Mumford matrix, and $M_S(D_{ij}) = \underline{H}_0(M_S(D_{ij}))$ is seen as an abelian Artin-Tate motive, or as an Artin-Tate-Nori motive.

Note in particular that $\underline{H}_0(TN^{\times}(X, D))$ and $\underline{H}_3(TN^{\times}(X, D))$ are pure of respective weights 0 and -4, while $\underline{H}_1(TN^{\times}(X, D))$ and $\underline{H}_2(TN^{\times}(X, D))$ are in general mixed of weights $\{0, -2\}$ and $\{-2, -4\}$, respectively (see [58] for the notion of weights on Artin-Tate-Nori motives).

¹⁴Recall the Kronecker index of a field *F*, of transcendence degree *d* over its prime subfield and characteristic *p*, is either d + 1 if p = 0 or *d* if p > 0.

Proof. Theorem 5.2.7 provides a distinguished triangle computing $M(\text{TN}^{\times}(X, D))$. The above long exact sequence follows by using the long exact sequence associated with the homological functor \underline{H}_0 .

Remark 5.3.3. One obtains similar exact sequences of mixed motives over more general bases S using:

- (1) [80]: when $S \subset \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_K$, \mathcal{O}_K a number ring;
- (2) [58]: *S* a smooth *K*-scheme, for a field *K* with a complex embedding $K \subset \mathbb{C}$.

Indeed, the indicated references provide us with a suitable category of Artin-Tate(-Nori) motives, and one can make precisely the same calculation (taking into account the dimension of *S* as we use perverse motivic t-structures).

Example 5.3.4. To illustrate Theorem 5.2.7, Proposition 5.2.8, we compute Wildeshaus' *boundary motive*, or equivalently the motive at infinity (Example 4.3.3), of *Ramanujam's surface* Σ over a field k of characteristic different from 2. We work in $\mathscr{T} = DM$, the integral category of motives.

First we recall the construction of Σ . Given a cuspidal cubic $C \subset \mathbf{P}_k^2$ and a smooth *k*-rational conic $Q \subset \mathbf{P}_k^2$ intersecting *C* with multiplicity 5 in a *k*-rational point *p*, let Σ be the complement of the proper transforms of *C* and *Q* in the blow-up $\sigma : \mathbf{F}_1 \to \mathbf{P}_k^2$ of the remaining *k*-rational intersection point *q* of *C* and *Q* (see [51] for Hirzebruch surfaces \mathbf{F}_n , $n \geq 0$). Over the complex numbers, the underlying analytic space of Σ is a topologically contractible open smooth manifold non-homeomorphic to \mathbf{R}^4 whose topological fundamental group at infinity $\pi_1^{\infty}(\Sigma)$ is infinite with trivial abelianization, see [74].

A compactification $X = \Sigma$ of Σ with smooth crossing boundary $D = \partial \Sigma$ is obtained from \mathbf{F}_1 by blowing-up the singular point of C, with exceptional divisor $E \simeq \mathbf{P}_k^1$. The irreducible components of D are then E and the proper transforms of Q and C, with respective self-intersections $E^2 = -1$, $Q^2 = 4$ and $C^2 = 3$. Furthermore, Q and C intersects with multiplicity 5 at the unique point p and Eand Q intersects with multiplicity 2 at a unique k-rational point.

Next we apply Theorem 5.2.7 to the pair (X, D). One first obtains that the *Artin part* $\mathcal{D} = \mathbf{1}_k$, and that the maps a, b, b' are all zero for degree reasons (see also the proof of Proposition 5.4.2). Then from Proposition 5.2.8, the map $\mu : (\mathbf{1}_k(1)[2])^{\oplus 3} \to (\mathbf{1}_k(1)[2])^{\oplus 3}$ is given by the integer valued intersection matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 4 & 5 & 2 \\ 5 & 3 & 0 \\ 2 & 0 & -1 \end{array}\right)$$

Its Smith normal form is the diagonal matrix $\Delta(1, 1, 1)$ in $M_{3,3}(\mathbb{Z})$. Theorem 5.2.7 implies the boundary motive of Σ is isomorphic to homotopy fiber of the trivial map $\mathbf{1}_k \to \mathbf{1}_k(2)[4]$. In summary, we obtain

$$\partial M(\Sigma) = M^{\infty}(\Sigma) \simeq \mathbf{1}_k \oplus \mathbf{1}_k(2)[3]$$

5.4. Punctured tubular neighborhoods of orientable trees of rational curves.

5.4.1. Consider the assumptions (M1)-(M4), (M3+) of Section 5.1, in the special case where *D* is an orientable tree of smooth *k*-rational curves on a smooth surface X/k over a field *k*, that is:

- (1) *D* is a smooth normal crossing divisor on *X* with irreducible components $D_i \simeq \mathbb{P}^1_k$, $i \in I$, such that for every $i \neq j$, D_{ij} is either empty or consists of a single *k*-rational point.
- (2) For every $i \in I$, the conormal sheaf C_i of D_i is X is orientable, hence isomorphic to $\mathcal{O}_{D_i}(2n_i)$ for some $n_i \in \mathbb{Z}$.
- (3) The incidence complex Γ of *D* is a tree.

Recall that $h = \langle 1 \rangle + \langle -1 \rangle = 1 + \langle -1 \rangle \in GW(k)$ denotes the class of the hyperbolic plane. As an application of the general computation of Proposition 5.2.8, we get:

Proposition 5.4.2. Under the above assumptions, there is a choice of orientations $(\epsilon_i)_{i \in I}$ fulfilling condition (M5b) of Lemma 5.2.5 which guarantees that the punctured tubular neighborhood $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X, D)$ in $\operatorname{SH}(k)$ is

isomorphic to

$$\mathbf{1}_k \oplus \operatorname{hofib}(\mu) \oplus \mathbf{1}_k(2)[3]$$

where the quadratic Mumford matrix $\mu : \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_k(1)[2] \to \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_k(1)[2]$ is obtained from the integer-valued Mumford matrix $(D_i, D_j)_{i,j}$ by replacing each diagonal entry $(D_i, D_i) = -2n_i$ by $-n_ih$.

Proof. First, assume any choice of orientation ϵ_i fulfilling condition (M5b). Denote by $J \subset I \times I$ the subset consisting of pairs i < j such that $D_{ij} \neq \emptyset$. Since Γ is a tree, we have $\sharp J = \sharp I - 1$ and $\bigoplus_{i < j} \prod_k (D_{ij}) = \bigoplus_{(i,j) \in J} \mathbf{1}_k$. The map q_1 in (5.2.2.a) is given by a matrix in $M_{\sharp J,\sharp I}(\mathbb{Z})$, whose Smith normal form is the diagonal matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} \mathrm{id}_{\sharp J} \\ 0 \end{array}\right)$$

The homotopy cofiber \mathcal{D} of q_1 is thus equal to that of the trivial map $0 \to \mathbf{1}_S$, hence to $\mathbf{1}_S$. This implies that $\mathcal{D}^{\vee} = \mathbf{1}_S$. By Morel's \mathbb{A}^1 -connectivity theorem, $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{SH}(k)}(\mathbf{1}_k, \mathbf{1}_k(i)[2i]) = 0$ for all i > 0. Thus Theorem 5.2.7 implies that $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X, D)$ is the homotopy fiber of the map

$$\beta = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mu \end{pmatrix} : \mathbf{1}_S \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2] \to \mathbf{1}_S(2)[4] \oplus \bigoplus_{j \in I} \mathbf{1}_S(1)[2]$$

By Proposition 5.2.8 and Remark 5.2.9(2), the diagonal entries of μ are equal to the Euler classes $e(\mathcal{C}_i^{\vee}) = e(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1_k}(-2n_i)) = -n_i h \in \mathrm{GW}(k).$

To finish the proof, we will now show that, up to modifying the τ_i , there always exists a choice of orientations ϵ_i fulfilling condition (M5b) *and* such that the orientations ϵ_{ij} of $\kappa(D_{ij}) = k$ appearing in Proposition 5.2.8 are all equivalent to the canonical orientation of k defined as the inverse of the multiplication homomorphism $m : k \otimes k \to k, a \otimes b \mapsto ab$. In turn, this shows our remaining assertion about the coefficients away from the diagonal in the matrix μ .

This can be seen as follows. Let D_0 be any irreducible component of D, which we view as the root of the incidence tree Γ of D and denote by $D_1, \ldots D_s$ be the irreducible components of D which interest D_0 . Let $\epsilon_0 : \mathcal{C}_0 \to \mathcal{L}_0^{\otimes 2}$ and $\tau_0 : \omega_0 \to \mathcal{M}_0^{\otimes 2}$ be any fixed choice of orientations. For any orientation $\tau_j : \omega_j \to \mathcal{M}_j^{\otimes 2}$, $j = 1, \ldots, s$ the orientation

$$\epsilon_{j,0} = \epsilon_j \otimes {}^t \tau_0^{-1} : k \simeq \mathcal{C}_j|_{D_{0,j}} \otimes \omega_0^{\vee}|_{D_{0,j}} \to (\mathcal{L}_j|_{D_{0,j}} \otimes \mathcal{M}_0^{\vee}|_{D_{0,j}})^{\otimes 2}$$

is equivalent to $u_{0,j} \cdot m^{-1} : k \to k \otimes k$, defined by $1 \mapsto u_{0,j} 1 \otimes 1$ for some element $u_{0,j} \in k^*$ uniquely determined up to multiplication by an element of $(k^*)^2$. If $u_{0,j} \neq 1$ then by replacing τ_j by $\tau_j \circ (\times u_{0,j}^{-1})$ we obtain an orientation whose associated unit $u_{0,j}$ of k as in Proposition 5.2.8 is equal to 1. The same argument implies the existence of orientations $\epsilon_j : C_j \to \mathcal{L}_j^{\otimes 2}$, $j = 1, \ldots s$, such that for all $j = 1, \ldots s$, the unit $u_{j,0}$ of k associated to the orientation

$$\epsilon_{0,j} = \epsilon_0 \otimes {}^t \tau_j^{-1} : k \simeq \mathcal{C}_0|_{D_{0,j}} \otimes \omega_j^{\vee}|_{D_{0,j}} \to (\mathcal{L}_0|_{D_{0,j}} \otimes \mathcal{M}_j^{\vee}|_{D_{0,j}})^{\otimes 2}$$

is equal to 1.

Since the incidence complex Γ of D is a tree, the incidence complex of $\bigcup_{i\neq 0} D_i$ is a union of trees Γ_j with the components D_j , j = 1, ..., s as their respective roots, with the just constructed orientations $\tau_j : \omega_j \to \mathcal{M}_j^{\otimes 2}$ and $\epsilon_j : \mathcal{C}_j \to \mathcal{L}_j^{\otimes 2}$. By repeating for each of these trees the same argument as above, we obtain by induction the existence of a collection of orientations τ_i and ϵ_i for which the units $u_{ij} \in k = \kappa_{ij}$ associated to the orientations ϵ_{ij} and ϵ_{ji} are all equal to 1.

We claim the constructed collection of orientations has the property that for every $i \neq j$, the orientations $(\epsilon_i \otimes \tau_i)|_{D_{ij}}$ and $(\epsilon_j \otimes \tau_i)|_{D_{ij}}$ of $\omega_X|_{D_{ij}}$ appearing in Lemma 5.2.5 are equivalent. Indeed, for

$$o_{ij} = (\tau_i \otimes \tau_j)|_{D_{ij}} : \mathcal{F}_{ij} = \omega_i|_{D_{ij}} \otimes \omega_j|_{D_{ij}} \to (\mathcal{M}_i|_{D_{ij}} \otimes \mathcal{M}_j|_{D_{ij}})^{\otimes 2}$$

the orientations $(\epsilon_i \otimes \tau_i)|_{D_{ij}}$ and $(\epsilon_j \otimes \tau_i)|_{D_{ij}}$ are obtained by tensoring the equivalent ones ϵ_{ij} and ϵ_{ji} with o_{ij} using the canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{C}_i|_{D_{ij}} \otimes \omega_i|_{D_{ij}} \simeq \mathcal{C}_i|_{D_{ij}} \otimes \omega_j^{\vee}|_{D_{ij}} \otimes \mathcal{F}_{ij}$$
 and $\mathcal{C}_j|_{D_{ij}} \otimes \omega_i|_{D_{ij}} \simeq \mathcal{C}_j|_{D_{ij}} \otimes \omega_i^{\vee}|_{D_{ij}} \otimes \mathcal{F}_{ij}$

The assertion follows now from the application of the formula in Proposition 5.2.8 which gives

$$\mu_{ij} = \langle \operatorname{Tr}_{\kappa_{ij}/k}(u_{ij} \cdot xy) \rangle = \langle 1 \rangle = 1 = (D_i, D_j) \in \operatorname{GW}(k)$$

In the next subsection, we illustrate our techniques by explicitly computing the punctured tubular neighborhoods of Du Val singularities on normal surfaces and the stable homotopy types at infinity of Danielewski hypersurfaces, a family of smooth affine surfaces of historical interest in the context of the Zariski cancellation problem.

Example 1: Stable motivic links of Du Val singularities on normal surfaces. Let X_0 be a geometrically integral normal surface essentially of finite type over a field k with an isolated k-rational rational double point x, also called a Du Val singularity. Recall from [2], [3] that among many equivalent characterizations, this means that letting $\pi : X \to X_0$ be the minimal desingularization of X_0 and $\pi_{\bar{k}} : X_{\bar{k}} \to X_{0,\bar{k}}$ be the base change to an algebraic closure \bar{k} of k, the following holds:

- (1) $\pi_{\bar{k}}^{-1}(x_{\bar{k}})$ is a smooth normal crossing divisor whose irreducible components are proper \bar{k} -rational curves E_i intersecting each other transversely at \bar{k} -rational points only.
- (2) The curves E_i have self-intersection number -2 and the intersection matrix $(E_i, E_j)_{i,j}$ is negative definite.

The incidence graph of the divisor $E = \pi_{\bar{k}}^{-1}(x_{\bar{k}})$ is one of the classical Dynkin diagram of type A_n , $n \ge 1$, D_n , $n \ge 4$, E_6 , E_7 and E_8 depicted in the left column of Table 1. If \bar{k} has characteristic different from 2, 3 and 5, the completion of the local ring $\mathcal{O}_{X_{0,\bar{k}},x_{\bar{k}}}$ is isomorphic to $\bar{k}[[x,y,z]]/(f)$ where f is one of the polynomials listed in the second column of Table 1, in particular the analytic local isomorphism type of the singularity depends only on the Dynkin diagram.¹⁵ Over a non-closed field, Du Val singularities A_n , D_n and E_6 can in general have non-trivial k-forms depending on the action of the Galois group $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{k}/k)$ on the irreducible components of E. We now assume in addition that all the irreducible components of E are defined over the base field k and isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}_k^{1.16}$ For such singularities, the closed pair (X, E) satisfies the assumptions in 5.4.1, and the punctured tubular neighborhood $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X_0, x)$ of x in X_0 is a natural invariant of the Nisnevich germ of x in X_0 which, by Corollary 4.1.8, can be computed as the punctured tubular neighborhood $\operatorname{TN}_S^{\times}(X, E)$. Applying Proposition 5.4.2, we obtain the following

Proposition 5.4.3. With the assumption above, the punctured tubular neighborhood $TN_k^{\times}(X_0, x)$ is isomorphic to

 $\mathbf{1}_k \oplus \operatorname{hofib}(\mu(\Gamma)) \oplus \mathbf{1}_k(2)[3]$

Here $\mu(\Gamma)$ is the square matrix with entries in GW(k) obtained from the integer valued intersection matrix $(E_i, E_j)_{i,j}$ associated to the Dynkin diagram $\Gamma = A_n, D_n, E_6, E_7, E_8$ by replacing each diagonal entry -2 by -h.

The above proposition implies that the *stable motivic link* $TN^{\times}(\Gamma) := TN_k^{\times}(X_0, x)$ of the Du Val singularity germ (X, x_0) depends only on the Dynkin diagram Γ . We summarize these links in Table 1.

5.4.4. Let us explain how to compute with Smith normal forms the part $hofib(\mu(\Gamma))$ of $TN^{\times}(\Gamma)$, the stable homotopy punctured tubular neighborhood associated with du Val singularities in Table 1. A priori, this is non-standard since we are considering a matrix $\mu(\Gamma)$ with coefficients in the non-principal (even non-reduced!) ring

$$\mathbb{Z}_{\epsilon} := \mathbf{G}_m(\mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}[\epsilon]/(\epsilon^2 - 1).$$

¹⁵In characteristics 2, 3 and 5, there are finitely many additional "normal forms", see [3] for the complete list.

¹⁶Over a field of characteristic zero, this amounts to restricting to "split" Du Val singularities A_n^- , D_n^- , E_6^- , E_7 and E_8 , see [64].

Dyn	ıkin diagram	Normal form over k	$ $ TN $^{\times}(\Gamma)$
A_n^-	•-•-•	$x^2 - y^2 - z^{n+1} = 0$	$\begin{cases} 1_k \oplus \operatorname{hofib}(-mh) \oplus 1_k(2)[3] & n = 2m - 1\\ 1_k \oplus \operatorname{hofib}(\frac{n}{2}h + 1) \oplus 1_k(2)[3] & n \equiv 0 \ [4]\\ 1_k \oplus \operatorname{hofib}((\frac{n}{2}) + 1)h - 1) \oplus 1_k(2)[3] & n \equiv 2 \ [4] \end{cases}$
D_n^-	••••	$x^2 + y^2 z - z^{n-1} = 0$	$\begin{cases} 1_k \oplus \operatorname{hofib}(-h) \oplus 1_k(2)[3] & n = 2m \\ 1_k \oplus \operatorname{hofib}(-2h) \oplus 1_k(2)[3] & n = 2m+1 \end{cases}$
E_6^-	••••	$x^2 + y^3 - z^4 = 0$	$1_k \oplus \mathrm{hofib}(2h-1) \oplus 1_k(2)[3]$
E_7	••••	$x^2 + y^3 + yz^3 = 0$	$1_k \oplus \mathrm{hofib}(-h) \oplus 1_k(2)[3]$
E_8	•••••	$x^2 + y^3 + z^5 = 0$	$1_k \oplus 1_k(2)[3]$

TABLE 1. Stable motivic links of classical split forms of Du Val Singularities

However, one can consider the two quotient rings $\mathbb{Z}_{\pm} = \mathbb{Z}_{\epsilon}/(\epsilon \pm 1)$, both isomorphic to \mathbb{Z} and the canonical injective map $\pi : \mathbb{Z}_{\epsilon} \to \mathbb{Z}_{+} \times \mathbb{Z}_{-}$ with image given by pairs (n, m) such that $n \equiv m \mod 2$ (see [28, 3.1.1, 3.1.2]). We begin with the matrix $\mu(\Gamma)$ having coefficients in \mathbb{Z}_{ϵ} , and compute the Smith normal form $\mu(\Gamma)_{\pm} = S_p m D_{\pm} T_{\pm}$ of the matrix obtained by mapping to the principal ring \mathbb{Z}_{\pm} (*i.e.*, setting $\epsilon = \pm 1$). If the invertible matrices (S_+, S_-) , (T_+, T_-) , as well as the diagonal matrix (D_+, D_-) , are in the image of π (coefficients by coefficients), one can define unique lifts (S, T, D) with coefficients in \mathbb{Z}_{ϵ} , such that S and T are invertible and the relation $\mu(\Gamma) = SDT$ holds true. In this situation, we deduce the desired Smith normal form and in SH(k) we obtain an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{hofib}(\mu(\Gamma)) \simeq \operatorname{hofib}(D)$$

Remark 5.4.5. We note that except for the E_8 case, the stable motivic link $TN^{\times}(\Gamma)$ of a Du Val singularity is different from the stable motivic link of $TN^{\times}(\mathbb{A}_k^2, \{0\}) = \mathbf{1}_k \oplus \mathbf{1}_k(2)[3]$ of a regular point on a surface. In particular, $TN^{\times}(\Gamma)$ distinguishes Du Val singularities other than E_8 from regular points. This is in contrast with the étale local fundamental groups of these singularities, which, in characteristic p > 0, do not distinguish a double point of the form A_{p^e} from a regular point, see [3]. For E_8 and the complex numbers, we can interpret the equality $TN^{\times}(E_8) = TN^{\times}(\mathbb{A}_k^2, \{0\})$ as a reminder that the topological link of E_8 is the Poincaré homology 3-sphere $\Sigma(2,3,5)$. It is a compact topological 3-manifold with the same singular homology groups as S^3 , whose fundamental group is isomorphic to the binary dodecahedral group.

Example 2: Danielewski hypersurfaces. For a field k and $n \ge 1$, the Danielewski hypersurface D_n is the smooth affine surface D_n in \mathbf{A}_k^3 cut out by the equation $x^n z = y(y-1)$. Owing to [29], D_n becomes a Zariski locally trivial \mathbf{G}_a -bundle over the affine line with two origins $\check{\mathbf{A}}_k^1$ (using the factorization of the surjective projection $\pi_n = \operatorname{pr}_x : D_n \to \mathbf{A}_k^1$). Thus D_n is \mathbf{A}^1 -equivalent to $\check{\mathbf{A}}_k^1$ and \mathbf{P}_k^1 . The three-folds $D_n \times \mathbb{A}_k^1$ are isomorphic, but the surfaces D_n are pairwise non-isomorphic. Over \mathbb{C} , Danielewski [29], Fieseler [48] established this by showing the underlying complex analytic manifolds have non-isomorphic first singular homology groups at infinity. Our methods provide a base field independent argument that distinguishes between the D_n 's via their stable homotopy types at infinity.

We begin by constructing explicit smooth projective completions D_n of the surfaces D_n , whose boundaries are strict normal crossing divisors. The morphism $\varphi_n = \operatorname{pr}_{x,y} : D_n \to \mathbf{A}_k^2$ expresses D_n as the affine modification of \mathbf{A}_k^2 with center at the closed subscheme Z_n with ideal $(x^n, y(y-1))$ and divisor $D_n = \operatorname{div}(x^n)$, cf. [41]. Furthermore, φ_n decomposes into a sequence of affine modifications

(5.4.5.a)
$$\varphi_n = \varphi_1 \circ \psi_2 \cdots \circ \psi_n \colon D_n \to D_{n-1} \to \cdots \to D_2 \to D_1 \to \mathbf{A}_k^2$$

given by $\psi_{\ell} : D_{\ell} \to D_{\ell-1}$; $(x, y, z) \mapsto (x, y, xz)$, with center at the closed subscheme $Y_{\ell-1} = (x, z)$ and divisor $H_{\ell} = \operatorname{div}(x)$. That is, $\varphi_1 : D_1 \to \mathbf{A}_k^2$ is the birational morphism obtained by blowing-up the points (0,0), (0,1) in \mathbf{A}_k^2 and removing the proper transform of $\{0\} \times \mathbf{A}_k^1$, and $\psi_{\ell} : D_{\ell} \to D_{\ell-1}$ is the birational morphism obtained by blowing-up the points (0,0,0), (0,0,1) in $\pi_{\ell}^{-1}(0)$ and removing the proper transform of $\pi_{\ell-1}^{-1}(0)$.

Now consider the open embedding $\mathbf{A}_k^2 \hookrightarrow \mathbf{P}_k^1 \times \mathbf{P}_k^1$; $(x, y) \mapsto ([x : 1], [y : 1])$. Then $C_{\infty} = \mathbf{P}_k^1 \times [1 : 0]$ and $F_{\infty} = [1 : 0] \times \mathbf{P}_k^1$ are irreducible components of $\mathbf{P}_k^1 \times \mathbf{P}_k^1$ and we set $F_0 = [0 : 1] \times \mathbf{P}_k^1$. Let $\bar{\varphi}_1 : \bar{D}_1 \to \mathbf{P}_k^1 \times \mathbf{P}_k^1$ be the blow-up of the points ([0 : 1], [0 : 1]), ([0 : 1], [1 : 1]) in F_0 , with respective exceptional divisors $E_{1,0}, E_{1,1}$. From now on the proper transform of F_0 in \bar{D}_1 is also denoted by F_0 . With these definitions, there is a commutative diagram



Here, $D_1 \hookrightarrow \overline{D}_1$ is the open immersion given by the complement of the support of the strict normal crossing divisor $\partial D_1 = C_{\infty} \cup F_{\infty} \cup F_0$. The closures in \overline{D}_1 of the two irreducible components $\{x = y = 0\}$ and $\{x = y - 1 = 0\}$ of $\pi_1^{-1}(0)$ equal the exceptional divisors $E_{1,0}$ and $E_{1,1}$, respectively. We calculate the self-intersection numbers $C_{\infty}^2 = F_{\infty}^2 = 0$, $F_0^2 = -2$ in \overline{D}_1 ; that is, the usual degrees of the respective normal line bundles of these curves in \overline{D}_1 , see e.g., [49, Chapter 5.6], [81, Chapter IV].

To construct D_n , $n \ge 2$, we start with D_1 and proceed inductively by performing the same sequence of blow-ups as for the affine modifications $\psi_{\ell} : D_l \to D_{\ell-1}$ in (5.4.5.a). This yields birational morphisms $\bar{\psi}_{\ell} : \bar{D}_{\ell} \to \bar{D}_{\ell-1}$ consisting of the blow-up of one point on $E_{\ell,0} - E_{\ell-1,0}$ and another point on $E_{\ell,1} - E_{\ell-1,1}$ with respective exceptional divisors $E_{\ell+1,0}$ and $E_{\ell+1,1}$ (by convention $E_{0,0} = E_{0,1} = F_0$). Moreover, D_{ℓ} embeds into \bar{D}_{ℓ} as the complement of the support of the strict normal crossing divisor $\partial D_{\ell} = C_{\infty} \cup F_{\infty} \cup F_0 \cup \bigcup_{i=1}^{\ell-1} (E_{i,0} \cup E_{i,1})$ in such a way that the closures of the two irreducible components $\{x = y = 0\}$ and $\{x = y - 1 = 0\}$ of $\pi_{\ell}^{-1}(0)$ coincide with the divisors $E_{\ell+1,0}$ and $E_{\ell+1,1}$, respectively. By construction, there is a commutative diagram

For every $n \ge 2$, we may visualize the boundary divisor ∂D_n as a fork of 2n + 1 copies of \mathbf{P}_k^1

$$(E_{1,0},-2) - \cdots - (E_{n-1,0},-2)$$

$$(F_{\infty},0) - (C_{\infty},0) - (F_{0},-2)$$

$$(E_{1,1},-2) - \cdots - (E_{n-1,1},-2)$$

intersecting transversally in *k*-rational points, with the indicated self-intersection numbers for each irreducible component. We may order the irreducible components of ∂D_n by setting

$$F_{\infty} < C_{\infty} < F_0 < E_{1,0} < \ldots < E_{n-1,0} < E_{1,1} < \ldots < E_{n-1,1}$$

The above constructed boundary divisor ∂D_n satisfies the assumption of 5.4.1. Applying Proposition 5.4.2, we deduce that $\prod_k^{\infty}(D_n)$ is isomorphic to

$$\mathbf{1}_k \oplus \operatorname{hofib}(\mu_n) \oplus \mathbf{1}_k(2)[3]$$

where μ_n is the following matrix (with zero entries mostly left out of the notation)

$$\mu_n = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & & & & \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & & & & \\ & 1 & -h & 1 & 0 & 1 & & \\ & & 1 & -h & 1 & & & \\ & & 0 & 1 & \ddots & 1 & & \\ & & & 1 & -h & 0 & & \\ & 1 & & 0 & -h & 1 & \\ & & & 1 & \ddots & 1 \\ & & & & 1 & \ddots & 1 \\ & & & & 1 & -h \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{M}_{2n+1,2n+1}(\mathcal{GW}(k))$$

Elementary row and column operations show that μ_n is equivalent to the diagonal matrix $\Delta(1, \ldots, 1, nh)$. We deduce that $\Pi_k^{\infty}(-)$ distinguishes between all the Danielewski surfaces.

Proposition 5.4.6. *Over a field* k *and* $n \ge 1$ *, the stable homotopy type at infinity of the Danielewski surface* D_n *is given by*

$$\Pi_k^{\infty}(D_n) \simeq \mathbf{1}_k \oplus \operatorname{hofib}(nh) \oplus \mathbf{1}_k(2)[3]$$

6. APPENDIX: QUADRATIC ORIENTATIONS AND ISOMORPHISMS, CYCLES AND DEGREE

6.1. Oriented vector bundles and quadratic isomorphisms.

6.1.1. The notion of oriented real vector bundles was extended to the algebraic setting by Barges-Morel in [18]. We recall their theory and introduce new tools for our orientations.

Definition 6.1.2. A *quadratic pre-isomorphism* from an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} to an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L}' is an isomorphism $\tau : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}' \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2}$, where \mathcal{M} is an arbitrary invertible sheaf on X.

Two quadratic pre-isomorphisms $\tau : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}' \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2}$ and $\tau' : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}' \otimes \mathcal{N}^{\otimes 2}$ are called equivalent if there exists an isomorphism $\phi : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{N}$ such that the following diagram commutes

$$\mathcal{L} \underbrace{\overset{\tau}{\overbrace{\tau'}}}_{\tau'} \underbrace{\mathcal{L}' \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2}}_{\mathcal{L}' \otimes \mathcal{N}^{\otimes 2}}$$

A *quadratic isomorphism* $\epsilon : \mathcal{L} \rightarrow \mathcal{L}'$ is the equivalence class of a quadratic pre-isomorphism.

The composition of quadratic pre-isomorphisms $\tau : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}' \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2}$ and $\tau' : \mathcal{L}' \to \mathcal{L}'' \otimes \mathcal{N}^{\otimes 2}$ is defined by the formula

(6.1.2.a)
$$\tau' \circ \tau : \mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{\tau} \mathcal{L}' \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2} \xrightarrow{\tau' \otimes Id} \mathcal{L}'' \otimes \mathcal{N}^{\otimes 2} \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2} \simeq \mathcal{L}'' \otimes (\mathcal{N} \otimes \mathcal{M})^{\otimes 2}$$

The composition law is compatible with the equivalence relation on quadratic pre-isomorphism. It admits as the identity of an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} the canonical isomorphism $\mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{L}} \otimes m^{-1} : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X^{\otimes 2}$ where $m : \mathcal{O}_X \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{O}_X$ is the multiplication map, and it satisfies the associativity relation.

Example 6.1.3. An invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} is orientable in the sense of Barge-Morel if and only if it is quadratically isomorphic to \mathcal{O}_X , and an orientation (resp. class of orientation) of \mathcal{L} is a quadratic pre-isomorphism (resp. isomorphism) – we will elaborate on this relation below. Moreover, if X is a smooth scheme over a field k, with canonical sheaf ω_X and $L = \mathbb{V}(\mathcal{L})$ is a line bundle on X, then a *relative orientation* of L in the sense of Bachmann-Wickelgren is the same as a quadratic isomorphism $\mathcal{L} \to \omega_X$.

Definition 6.1.4. The *quadratic Picard groupoid* $\underline{\text{Pic}}^{\text{or}}(X)$ of a scheme *X* is the category whose objects are invertible sheaves on *X* and with morphisms, the quadratic isomorphisms.

Let $\underline{Pic}(X)$ denotes Deligne's Picard category of invertible sheaves on X (see Section 1.3 for our conventions). There is an obvious functor

$$\rho_X : \underline{\operatorname{Pic}}(X) \to \underline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{\operatorname{or}}(X)$$

which is the identity on objects and maps an isomorphism $\phi : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}'$ to the equivalence class of the quadratic pre-isomorphism $\phi \otimes m^{-1} : \mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{L}' \otimes (\mathcal{O}_X)^{\otimes 2}$. Moreover, one checks the following properties:

- (1) The tensor product of invertible sheaves induces a symmetric monoidal structure on $\underline{\text{Pic}}^{\text{or}}(X)$, such that ρ becomes monoidal. Therefore $\underline{\text{Pic}}^{\text{or}}(X)$ is a Picard groupoid and ρ_X is a natural transformation of Picard groupoids.
- (2) Given a morphism of schemes $f : Y \to X$, the pullback of invertible sheaves induces a functor $f^* : \underline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{\operatorname{or}}(X) \to \underline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{\operatorname{or}}(Y)$ such that ρ_X is natural in X.

We henceforth denote by Isom (resp. Isom_Q) the sets of isomorphisms (resp. quadratic isomorphisms) of invertible sheaves.

6.1.5. *Orientation classes.* The notion of quadratic isomorphisms naturally recovers Barge-Morel's formalism of orientations. Given an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} over a scheme X, we define the set of *orientation classes* of \mathcal{L} as

$$\mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{L}) = \operatorname{Isom}_Q(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{O}_X) = \{(\epsilon, \mathcal{M}) \mid \epsilon : \mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{O}_X \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2}\} / \sim$$

This assignment is functorial for quadratic isomorphisms. The monoidal structure on $\underline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{\operatorname{or}}(X)$ induces a product

$$\mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{L}) \otimes \mathscr{O}r(\mathcal{L}') \to \mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{L} \otimes \mathcal{L}'), (\epsilon, \epsilon') \mapsto \epsilon \cdot \epsilon' = (m^{-1} \otimes \mathrm{id}_{(\mathcal{M} \otimes \mathcal{M}')^{\otimes 2}}) \circ (\epsilon \otimes \epsilon')$$

The composition law

$$\mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{O}_X)\otimes \mathscr{O}r(\mathcal{O}_X) \to \mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{O}_X\otimes \mathcal{O}_X) \xrightarrow{m^{-1}} \mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{O}_X)$$

defines an abelian group structure on $\mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{O}_X)$. Its neutral element is the class of the quadratic pre-isomorphism $m^{-1}: \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{O}_X^{\otimes 2}$.¹⁷

Moreover, the preceding product induces an action of $\mathscr{O}r_X(\mathscr{O}_X)$ on $\mathscr{O}r_X(\mathscr{L})$. Next we record a fundamental fact about orientations whose proof is elementary and left to the reader.

Theorem 6.1.6. For any scheme X, there is a short exact sequence of abelian groups

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathbf{G}_m(X)/\mathbf{G}_m(X)^2 \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{O}_X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}(X)_2 \longrightarrow 0$$
$$u \longmapsto m^{-1} \circ (\times u)$$
$$(\epsilon, \mathcal{M}) \longmapsto \mathcal{M}$$

where $Pic(X)_2$ is the 2-torsion subgroup of Pic(X).

The action of $\mathscr{O}r_X(\mathscr{O}_X)$ on $\mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{L})$ is faithful. Moreover, when $\operatorname{Pic}(X)$ has no 2-torsion, the abelian group $\mathscr{O}r_X(\mathscr{O}_X) \simeq \mathbf{G}_m(X)/\mathbf{G}_m(X)^2$ acts fully faithfully on the set $\mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{L})$. In particular, two classes of orientations of \mathcal{L} differ by a uniquely defined element of $\mathbf{G}_m(X)/\mathbf{G}_m(X)^2$ (modulo this action).

Remark 6.1.7. To summarize, an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} on X is orientable if and only if its class in $\operatorname{Pic}(X)$ is 2-divisible. If $\operatorname{Pic}(X)$ has no 2-torsion, then two orientations of \mathcal{L} differs by a unique quadratic class $\bar{\phi} \in \mathbf{G}_m(X)/\mathbf{G}_m(X)^2$ for some global invertible function ϕ on X.

For instance, if $X = \mathbf{P}_k^1$ is the projective line over a field k, an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} is orientable if and only if it has an even degree; moreover, two orientations of \mathcal{L} differ by a unique quadratic class in $Q(k) = k^*/(k^*)^2$.

 $^{^{17}}$ One can check that the composition of quadratic isomorphisms also induces this group structure.

Example 6.1.8. With reference to Example 6.1.3, the previous definitions and *loc. cit.* readily imply that the set $\mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{L} \otimes \omega_X^{\vee})$ is in bijection with quadratic isomorphisms $\epsilon : \mathcal{L} \to \omega_X$ and also with relative orientations of $L = \mathbb{V}(\mathcal{L})$ in the sense of Bachmann-Wickelgren [17].

6.1.9. Recall from [33, 7.13] the monoidal twisted Thom space functor (see also 2.1.1)

$$\operatorname{Tw} := \operatorname{Tw}_X : \underline{\operatorname{Pic}}(X) \to \operatorname{SH}(X), \mathcal{L} \mapsto \operatorname{Th}(\mathcal{L})(-1)[-2]$$

Proposition 6.1.10. There exists a canonical monoidal extension \widetilde{Tw} of the twisted Thom space functor and a *natural isomorphism*



which is the identity on objects.

Proof. To a quadratic isomorphism $\epsilon : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}'$, represented by $\epsilon : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}' \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2}$, we associate an isomorphism in SH(X)

$$\epsilon_*: \operatorname{Tw}(\mathcal{L}) \to \operatorname{Tw}(\mathcal{L}' \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2}) \simeq \operatorname{Tw}(\mathcal{L}') \otimes \operatorname{Tw}(\mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2}) \simeq \operatorname{Tw}(\mathcal{L}')$$

The identification of $\operatorname{Tw}(\mathcal{L}' \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2})$ follows from the monoidality of Tw and [33, 7.13]. One checks that the isomorphism in $\operatorname{SH}(X)$ depends only on the equivalence class of ϵ and that it is compatible with the composition defined in (6.1.2.a). It is now straightforward to define the desired natural transformation from Tw to the composition of ρ and Tw .

Example 6.1.11. It follows that the Thom space $\text{Th}(\mathcal{L})$ of an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} depends only on the orientation class of \mathcal{L} . More precisely, every quadratic isomorphism $\epsilon : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}'$ induces a (well-defined) isomorphism

$$\epsilon_* : \operatorname{Th}(\mathcal{L}) = \widetilde{\operatorname{Tw}}(\mathcal{L})(1)[2] \to \widetilde{\operatorname{Tw}}(\mathcal{L}')(1)[2] \simeq \operatorname{Th}(\mathcal{L}')$$

In particular, one associate to any orientation class $\epsilon \in \mathscr{O}r_X(\mathcal{L})$ of \mathcal{L} a canonical isomorphism

$$\epsilon_*: \Pi_S(X, \mathbb{V}(\mathcal{L})) \to \Pi_S(X)(1)[2]$$

in SH(X).

6.1.12. Next, we introduce a quadratic version of Deligne's (rank-)determinant functor of Picard categories

$$\underline{\mathrm{K}}(X) \xrightarrow{(\mathrm{rk}, \mathrm{det})} \underline{\mathbb{Z}}_X \times \underline{\mathrm{Pic}}(X), \mathcal{V} \mapsto (\mathrm{rk}\,\mathcal{V}, \det\mathcal{V})$$

Definition 6.1.13. The category $\underline{K}^{or}(X)$ of virtual vector bundles over X modulo orientation is the groupoid whose objects are virtual locally free sheaves \mathcal{V} on X and a morphism from \mathcal{V} to \mathcal{V}' is a morphism from $(\operatorname{rk} \mathcal{V}, \det \mathcal{V})$ to $(\operatorname{rk} \mathcal{V}', \det \mathcal{V}')$ in $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}_X \times \underline{\operatorname{Pic}}^{\operatorname{or}}(X)$, i.e., a quadratic isomorphism $\det \mathcal{V} \to \det \mathcal{V}'$ assuming $\operatorname{rk} \mathcal{V} = \operatorname{rk} \mathcal{V}'$.

We refer to morphisms in $\underline{K}^{\text{or}}(X)$ as quadratic isomorphisms and use the notation $\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{V}'$. By definition, $\underline{K}^{\text{or}}(X)$ is the essential image of the composite functor

$$\underline{\mathbf{K}}(X) \xrightarrow{(\mathrm{rk}, \mathrm{det})} \underline{\mathbb{Z}}_X \times \underline{\mathrm{Pic}}(X) \xrightarrow{Id \times \rho} \underline{\mathbb{Z}}_X \times \underline{\mathrm{Pic}}^{\mathrm{or}}(X)$$

In particular, one gets a canonical monoidal structure on $\underline{K}^{or}(X)$, so that it becomes a Picard groupoid with a canonical monoidal functor

$$\underline{\mathrm{K}}(X) \xrightarrow{\rho} \underline{\mathrm{K}}^{\mathrm{or}}(X)$$

Remark 6.1.14. We can again follow the lines of 6.1.5 and define an orientation of a virtual vector bundle $v = \mathbb{V}(\mathcal{V})$ as either an orientation of its determinant or a quadratic isomorphism $\mathcal{V} \rightarrow \langle r \rangle$ where $r = \operatorname{rk}(\mathcal{V})$ (as a locally constant function on *X*). The same applies to vector bundles and recovers the classical definition of Barge and Morel.

Example 6.1.15. Let \mathbb{E} be a ring spectrum over a scheme *S* which is **SL**-oriented in the sense of Panin-Walter (see [1]). Let *X* be a separated *S*-scheme and *v* a virtual bundle over *X*. Using Thom isomorphisms attached to the **SL**-orientation of \mathbb{E} , one obtains that the *v*-twisted \mathbb{E} -cohomology of *X*

$$\mathbb{E}^n(X,v) := [\Pi_S(X,-v),\mathbb{E}[n]]$$

depends only on the pair (rk(v), det(v)). Moreover, it follows from Proposition 6.1.10 that $\mathbb{E}^n(X, v)$ is functorial in v with respect to isomorphisms modulo orientation.

Chow-Witt groups provide the most fundamental example for us (the unramified Milnor-Witt sheaf \mathbf{K}_{*}^{MW} represents these groups over fields).

Proposition 6.1.16. Let X be a scheme such that $K_0(X)$ is infinite cyclic, e.g., a semi-local scheme or a unique factorization domain. Then there exists a canonical monoidal extension \tilde{Th}_X of the Thom space functor and a natural isomorphism



which is the identity on objects.

Proof. By assumption, the morphism $\underline{K}(X) \xrightarrow{(\mathrm{rk}, \mathrm{det})} \underline{\mathbb{Z}}_X \times \underline{\operatorname{Pic}}(X)$ is an equivalence of categories. Thus, by definition of $\underline{K}^{\mathrm{or}}(X)$, Proposition 6.1.10 concludes the proof.

Remark 6.1.17. Note that, for *X* as above, we get an explicit quasi-inverse to (rk, det) by associating to the class of (r, \mathcal{L}) the class of the locally free sheaf $\mathcal{O}_X^{r-1} \oplus \mathcal{L}$. In particular, one can describe the functor \tilde{Th}_X as the composite

$$\underline{\mathrm{K}}^{\mathrm{or}}(X) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \underline{\mathbb{Z}}_X \times \underline{\mathrm{Pic}}^{\mathrm{or}}(X) \to \mathrm{SH}(X), \mathcal{V} \mapsto (r = \mathrm{rk}\,\mathcal{V}, \det\mathcal{V}) \mapsto \mathrm{Tw}_X(\mathcal{V})(r)[2r]$$

The latter description clarifies the functoriality. In fact, the proposition posits the existence of a canonical isomorphism (functorial for isomorphisms in V)

$$\operatorname{Th}_X(\mathcal{V}) \simeq \operatorname{Tw}_X(\det \mathcal{V})(r)[2r], r = \operatorname{rk} \mathcal{V}$$

6.2. Quadratic 0-cycles and quadratic degrees.

6.2.1. Next, we recall a few definitions of Chow-Witt groups suitable for our needs.¹⁸ We fix a base field k, not necessarily perfect but finitely generated over a perfect field k_0 .¹⁹

Given a finitely generated extension field K/k, we let $K_*^{MW}(K)$ be the Milnor-Witt ring of K (see [70, Def. 3.1]). Given an invertible K-vector space \mathcal{L} , we define the twisted Milnor-Witt ring of K by the formula in [70, Rem. 3.21]

(6.2.1.a)
$$K^{MW}_*(K,\mathcal{L}) := K^{MW}_*(K) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[K^{\times}]} \mathbb{Z}[\mathcal{L}^{\times}]$$

where $\mathcal{L}^{\times} = \mathcal{L} - \{0\}$, using the action of K^{\times} on $K_*^{MW}(K)$ via the canonical map $K^{\times} \to \mathrm{GW}(K) = K_0^{MW}(K)$.

Let now X be an essentially smooth k-scheme of dimension d and \mathcal{L} an invertible sheaf on X. One defines the group of *quadratic* 0-cycles on X twisted by \mathcal{L} as

$$\tilde{Z}^{d}(X,\mathcal{L}) := \bigoplus_{x \in X^{(d)}} \mathrm{GW}(\kappa(x), \omega_{x/X}^{\vee} \otimes_{\kappa(x)} \mathcal{L}|_{x})$$

Here $X^{(d)}$ is the set of closed points x of X and $\omega_{x/X}$ is the determinant of the $\kappa(x)$ -vector space $C_{x/X} = \mathfrak{m}_x/\mathfrak{m}_x^2$. The *support* of a quadratic 0-cycle α is the set of points $x \in X^{(d)}$ whose coefficient in α is non-zero. We will consider it as a finite reduced closed subscheme of X.

¹⁸We focus on zero cycles and emphasize (quadratic) cycles rather than cycle classes.

¹⁹This is to be able to use the written account on Chow-Witt groups. This assumption will be removed in [34].

Owing to [70, Rem. 5.13], [45], or [46, Def. 7.2]²⁰ there is a map

div :
$$\bigoplus_{y \in X^{(d-1)}} \mathrm{K}_{1}^{MW}(\kappa(y), \omega_{y/X}^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{L}|_{y}) \longrightarrow \tilde{\mathrm{Z}}^{d}(X, \mathcal{L})$$

Two quadratic zero-cycles are said to be *rationally equivalent* if their difference is in the image of div. The above defines an additive equivalence relation \sim_{rat} on quadratic 0-dimensional cycles, and the *d*-th Chow-Witt group of X twisted by \mathcal{L} is the quotient

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{CH}}^{a}(X,\mathcal{L}) = \widetilde{\operatorname{Z}}^{d}(X,\mathcal{L})/\sim_{rat} = \operatorname{coKer}(\operatorname{div})$$

This group depends functorially on \mathcal{L} for quadratic isomorphisms.

Proposition 6.2.2. Let X be an essentially smooth k-scheme of dimension d and let $v = \mathbb{V}(\mathcal{V})$ be a virtual vector bundle of rank d on X. Then there is a canonical isomorphism

$$H^0_{\mathrm{SH}}(X,v) := [\mathbf{1}_X, \mathrm{Th}(v)] \simeq \widetilde{\mathrm{CH}}^d (X, \det \mathcal{V})$$

Proof. With *k* being finitely generated over a perfect field k_0 , one can work over k_0 or assume that *k* is perfect. The conveau spectral sequence (see [31], §1.1.1 and Def. 1.4) associated with the cohomology theory $H^*_{SH}(X, v)$ takes the form

$$E_1^{p,q} = \bigoplus_{x \in X^{(p)}} H^{p+q}_{\mathrm{SH}}(\mathrm{Th}(N_x X_{(x)}), v) \Rightarrow H^{p+q}_{\mathrm{SH}}(X, v)$$

Here $X_{(x)} = \text{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_{X,x})$ and $N_x X_{(x)}$ is the normal bundle of x (this relies on Morel-Voevodsky's homotopy purity theorem). The E_1 -term is concentrated in the range $p \in [0, d]$ and by the \mathbf{A}^1 -connectivity theorem, in the range $q \leq 0$. According to Morel's computation of the 0-stable stem and Feld's theory [47], there is an isomorphism between complexes

$$E_1^{*,0} \simeq C^*(X, \mathcal{K}^{MW}_*, \omega_{X/k}^{\vee} \otimes \det \mathcal{V})$$

We conclude by looking at the line p + q = d.

6.2.3. *Quadratic Degree*. Let X/k be a smooth proper scheme of dimension d with canonical sheaf $\omega_X = \det(\Omega_{X/k})$. In the following we define a notion of quadratic degree of ω_X -twisted quadratic 0-cycles. To begin, note that there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\tilde{Z}^{d}(X,\omega_{X}) = \bigoplus_{x \in X^{(d)}} \operatorname{GW}(\kappa(x), \omega_{x/X}^{\vee} \otimes \omega_{X}|_{x}) \simeq \bigoplus_{x \in X^{(d)}} \operatorname{GW}(\kappa(x))$$

This holds because for any closed point $x \in X$, the conormal exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{C}_{x/X} \to \Omega_X|_x \to \Omega_{x/k} \to 0$$

together with the fact that $\Omega_{x/k} = 0$ (as $\kappa(x)/k$ is étale) provides a canonical isomorphism of $\kappa(x)$ -vector spaces $\omega_{x/X}^{\vee} \otimes \omega_X|_x = \det(\mathcal{C}_{x/X})^{\vee} \otimes \omega_X|_x \simeq \kappa(x)$. Thus, an ω_X -twisted quadratic 0-cycle can be identified with a formal sum $\alpha = \sum_{i \in I} \langle \sigma_i \rangle . x_i$, where $x_i \in X$ is a closed point and σ_i is a symmetric bilinear form over $\kappa(x_i)$.

One defines the *quadratic degree* deg of a quadratic cycle α as the proper pushforward associated with the projection of X/k (see [15, Chap. 2, §3]). It is defined at the level of cycles and factorizes through rational equivalence. If one assumes that the support of α is étale over k, then it can be computed explicitly as the element

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{deg}}(\alpha) = \sum_{i \in I} \langle \operatorname{Tr}_{\kappa(x_i)/k} \circ \sigma_i \rangle \in \operatorname{GW}(k)$$

where $\operatorname{Tr}_{\kappa(x_i)/k}$ is the trace form for the finite separable (by assumption) extension $\kappa(x_i)/k$ (apply *loc. cit.* Lemma 2.3).

²⁰In Morel's notation, $\tilde{Z}^d(X, \mathcal{L})$ is the *d*-th term of the Rost-Schmid complex $C^*_{\text{RS}}(X, \mathrm{K}^{MW}_d \{\mathcal{L}\})$ while in Feld's notation it is the end of the complex $C_*(X, \mathrm{K}^{MW}_*, \omega_{X/k}^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{L})$, where $\omega_{X/k} = \det(\Omega_{X/k})$ is the canonical sheaf of X/k.

More generally, let \mathcal{L} be an invertible sheaf over X with a relative orientation (see Example 6.1.8) given by a quadratic isomorphism $\epsilon : \mathcal{L} \rightarrow \omega_X$. We define the *quadratic* ϵ -degree as the composite

(6.2.3.a)
$$\widetilde{\operatorname{deg}}_{\epsilon}: \widetilde{Z}^{d}(X, \mathcal{L}) \xrightarrow{\epsilon_{*}} \widetilde{Z}^{d}(X, \omega_{X}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{deg}} \operatorname{GW}(k)$$

To compute this degree concretely, assuming that the support of α is étale over k, one first choose any representative $\tilde{\epsilon} : \mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{\epsilon} \omega_X \otimes \mathcal{M}^{\otimes 2}$ of the quadratic isomorphism ϵ . Then, by linearity, one is reduced to quadratic cycles of the form

$$\alpha = \langle \sigma \rangle \otimes (t^* \otimes l) . x \in GW(\kappa(x), \omega_{x/X}^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{L}|_x) = GW(\kappa(x)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[\kappa(x)^{\times}]} \mathbb{Z}[(\omega_{x/X}^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{L}|_x)^{\times}]$$

where $t = t_1 \land ... \land t_d$ belongs to $\omega_{x/X}$ and correspond to a local parametrisation of $x \in X$, and $l \in \mathcal{L}|_x^{\times}$. Then $\epsilon_x(l) = w_l \otimes (u \otimes u)$ where $w_l \in \omega_X|_x$ and $u \in \mathcal{M}|_x^{\times}$. Finally, one gets a canonical isomorphism $\omega_X|_x \simeq \omega_{x/X}$ so that t defines a non-zero linear form

$$t^*: \omega_X|_x \simeq \omega_{x/X} \to \kappa(x)$$

Putting everything together, we get the formula

(6.2.3.b)
$$\deg_{\epsilon} \left(\langle \sigma \rangle \otimes (t^* \otimes l) . x \right) = \langle \operatorname{Tr}_{\kappa(x)/k}(t^*(w_l) . \sigma) \rangle \in \mathrm{GW}(k)$$

6.2.4. Oriented degree of oriented cycles We keep the notation and hypotheses of the previous paragraph and assume that ω_X is orientable, with chosen orientation class $\tau \in \mathscr{O}r_X(\omega_X)$. Suppose that Y is a reduced d-codimensional closed subscheme of X, such that Y/k is étale. Let $\omega_{Y/X} = \det \mathcal{C}_{Y/X}$ be the determinant of the conormal sheaf of Y in X and assume given an orientation classe $\epsilon \in \mathscr{O}r_Z(\omega_{Y/X})$. This allows us to define a canonical quadratic 0-cycle $[Y]_X^{\epsilon} \in \tilde{Z}^d(X)$ associated with (Y, ϵ) , as the image of $\sum_{x \in Y(\alpha)} \langle 1 \rangle . x \in \tilde{Z}^0(Y)$ under the composite map

$$\tilde{Z}^0(Y) \xrightarrow{\epsilon_*^{-1}} \tilde{Z}^0(Y, \omega_{Y/X}) \xrightarrow{i_*} \tilde{Z}^d(X)$$

Note that given our conventions, the map i_* is just the identity. As τ corresponds to a quadratic isomorphism $\omega_X \rightarrow \mathcal{O}_X$, we get the τ -degree map

$$\deg_{\tau^{-1}} : \tilde{Z}^d(X) \xrightarrow{\tau_*^{-1}} \tilde{Z}^d(X, \omega_X) \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\deg}} \mathrm{GW}(k)$$

Then the τ -oriented degree of the ϵ -oriented cycle $[Y]_X^{\epsilon}$ is given by the class

$$\deg_{\tau^{-1}}([Y]_X^{\epsilon}) = \sum_{x \in Y_{(0)}} \operatorname{Tr}_{\kappa(x)/k} \circ \langle u_x \rangle \in \operatorname{GW}(k)$$

for quadratic classes $u_x \in Q(\kappa(x))$ computed as in the above paragraph.

The quadratic class u_x can be computed in terms of the chosen orientations using again the canonical isomorphism $\phi : \omega_X|_x \simeq \omega_{x/X}$ (as $\kappa(x)/k$ is separable). Namely, we get two induced orientation classes $\epsilon|_x$ and $\phi_*(\tau|_x)$ of the 1-dimensional $\kappa(x)$ -vector space $\omega_{x/X} = \omega_X|_x$, which, according to Remark 6.1.7, are uniquely linked by a relation of the form

$$\epsilon|_x = u_x . \phi_*(\tau|_x)$$

Equivalently, u_x is the element $\epsilon|_x \otimes (\tau|_x^{\vee})^{-1}$ in

$$\mathscr{O}r_{\kappa(x)}(\omega_{x/X}\otimes\omega_X^{\vee}|_x)\simeq\mathscr{O}r_{\kappa(x)}(\mathcal{O}_{\kappa(x)})\simeq Q(\kappa(x))$$

References

- A. Ananyevskiy. SL-oriented cohomology theories. In *Motivic homotopy theory and refined enumerative geometry*, volume 745 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 1–19. Amer. Math. Soc., [Providence], RI, [2020] ©2020.
- [2] M. Artin. On isolated rational singularities of surfaces. Am. J. Math., 88:129–136, 1966.
- [3] M. Artin. Coverings of the rational double points in characteristic p. Complex Analysis and Algebraic Geometry, Collected Papers dedicated to K. Kodaira, 11-22 (1977), 1977.
- [4] A. Asok and J. Fasel. Algebraic vector bundles on spheres. J. Topol., 7(3):894–926, 2014.

- [5] A. Asok, S. Kebekus, and M. Wendt. Comparing A¹-h-cobordism and A¹-weak equivalence. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa, Cl. Sci. (5), 17(2):531–572, 2017.
- [6] A. Asok and F. Morel. Smooth varieties up to A¹-homotopy and algebraic *h*-cobordisms. *Adv. Math.*, 227(5):1990–2058, 2011.
- [7] A. Asok and P. A. Østvær. A¹-homotopy theory and contractible varieties: a survey. In *Homotopy theory and arithmetic geometry motivic and Diophantine aspects. LMS-CMI research school, London, UK, July 9–13, 2018. Lecture notes,* pages 145–212. Cham: Springer, 2021.
- [8] M. F. Atiyah. Thom complexes. Proc. London Math. Soc., 11(3):291-310, 1961.
- [9] J. Ayoub. Les six opérations de Grothendieck et le formalisme des cycles évanescents dans le monde motivique (I), volume 314 of Astérisque. Soc. Math. France, 2007.
- [10] J. Ayoub. Les six opérations de Grothendieck et le formalisme des cycles évanescents dans le monde motivique (II), volume 315 of Astérisque. Soc. Math. France, 2007.
- [11] J. Ayoub. The motivic vanishing cycles and the conservation conjecture. In Algebraic cycles and motives. Volume 1. Selected papers of the EAGER conference, Leiden, Netherlands, August 30–September 3, 2004 on the occasion of the 75th birthday of Professor J. P. Murre, pages 3–54. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- [12] J. Ayoub. Note sur les opérations de Grothendieck et la réalisation de Betti. J. Inst. Math. Jussieu, 9(2):225–263, 2010.
- [13] J. Ayoub. La réalisation étale et les opérations de Grothendieck. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4), 47(1):1–145, 2014.
- [14] T. Bachmann. *η*-periodic motivic stable homotopy theory over Dedekind domains. *arXiv e-prints*, page arXiv:2006.02086, June 2020.
- [15] T. Bachmann, B. Calmès, F. Déglise, J. Fasel, and P. A. Østvær. Milnor-Witt motives. to appear in Memoirs of the AMS, 2022.
- [16] T. Bachmann and P. A. Østvær. Topological models for stable motivic invariants of regular number rings. Forum Math. Sigma, 10:27, 2022. Id/No e1.
- [17] T. Bachmann and K. Wickelgren. A¹-euler classes: six functors formalisms, dualities, integrality and linear subspaces of complete intersections. arXiv: 2002.01848v2, 2021.
- [18] J. Barge and F. Morel. Groupe de Chow des cycles orientés et classe d'Euler des fibrés vectoriels. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 330(4):287–290, 2000.
- [19] A. A. Beĭlinson, J. Bernstein, and P. Deligne. Faisceaux pervers. In *Analysis and topology on singular spaces*, *I (Luminy, 1981)*, volume 100 of *Astérisque*, pages 5–171. Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1982.
- [20] S. Bloch and A. Ogus. Gersten's conjecture and the homology of schemes. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 7:181–201 (1975), 1974.
- [21] M. V. Bondarko. Weights for relative motives: relation with mixed complexes of sheaves. Int. Math. Res. Not., 2014(17):4715–4767, 2014.
- [22] M. V. Bondarko and F. Déglise. Dimensional homotopy t-structures in motivic homotopy theory. Adv. Math., 311:91– 189, 2017.
- [23] D.-C. Cisinski. Cohomological methods in intersection theory. In Homotopy theory and arithmetic geometry motivic and Diophantine aspects. LMS-CMI research school, London, UK, July 9–13, 2018. Lecture notes, pages 49–105. Cham: Springer, 2021.
- [24] D.-C. Cisinski and F. Déglise. Mixed Weil cohomologies. Adv. in Math., 230(1):55-130, 2012.
- [25] D.-C. Cisinski and F. Déglise. Integral mixed motives in equal characteristic. Doc. Math., Extra Vol.:145–194, 2015.
- [26] D.-C. Cisinski and F. Déglise. Étale motives. Compos. Math., 152(3):556-666, 2016.
- [27] D.-C. Cisinski and F. Déglise. Triangulated categories of mixed motives. Cham: Springer, 2019.
- [28] D. Coulette, F. Déglise, J. Fasel, and J. Hornbostel. Formal ternary laws and Buchstaber's 2-groups. arXiv:2112.03646v1, 2021.
- [29] W. Danielewski. On a Cancellation Problem and Automorphism Group of Affine Algebraic Varieties. Preprint, 1988.
- [30] F. Déglise. Around the Gysin triangle II. Doc. Math., 13:613-675, 2008.
- [31] F. Déglise. Coniveau filtration and mixed motives. In *Regulators. Regulators III conference, Barcelona, Spain, July* 12–22, 2010. Proceedings, pages 51–76. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society (AMS), 2012.
- [32] F. Déglise. Orientation theory in arithmetic geometry. In *K*-Theory—Proceedings of the International Colloquium, Mumbai, 2016, pages 239–347. Hindustan Book Agency, New Delhi, 2018.
- [33] F. Déglise, J. Fasel, F. Jin, and A. A. Khan. On the rational motivic homotopy category. J. Éc. Polytech., Math., 8:533–583, 2021.
- [34] F. Déglise, N. Feld, and F. Jin. Perverse homotopy heart and MW-modules. in preparation, 2022.
- [35] F. Déglise, F. Jin, and A. A. Khan. Fundamental classes in motivic homotopy theory. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 23(12):3935–3993, 2021.
- [36] P. Deligne. Le déterminant de la cohomologie. In *Current trends in arithmetical algebraic geometry (Arcata, Calif., 1985),* volume 67 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 93–177. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1987.
- [37] P. Deligne and N. Katz. Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1967-69 Groupes de monodromie en géométrie algébrique II (SGA 7 II), volume 340 of Lecture Notes in Math. Springer-Verlag, 1973.
- [38] B. Drew. Motivic Hodge modules. arXiv: 1801.10129v1, 2018.

- [39] B. Drew and M. Gallauer. The universal six-functor formalism. arXiv: 2009.13610, Feb. 2021.
- [40] A. Dubouloz and J. Fasel. Families of \mathbb{A}^1 -contractible affine threefolds. *Algebr. Geom.*, 5(1):1–14, 2018.
- [41] A. Dubouloz, S. Pauli, and P. A. Østvær. A¹-contractibility of affine modifications. Int. J. Math., 30(14):34 pp, 2019. Id/No 1950069.
- [42] B. I. Dundas, O. Röndigs, and P. A. Østvær. Motivic functors. Doc. Math., 8:489–525, 2003.
- [43] E. Elmanto and H. Kolderup. On modules over motivic ring spectra. Ann. K-Theory, 5(2):327–355, 2020.
- [44] E. Elmanto, M. Levine, M. Spitzweck, and P. A. Østvær. Algebraic Cobordism and Étale Cohomology. *to appear in Geometry and Topology*, page arXiv:1711.06258, Nov. 2022.
- [45] J. Fasel. Groupes de Chow-Witt. Mém. Soc. Math. Fr. (N.S.), 113:vi+197, 2008.
- [46] N. Feld. Milnor-Witt cycle modules. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 224(7):44, 2020. Id/No 106298.
- [47] N. Feld. Morel homotopy modules and Milnor-Witt cycle modules. Doc. Math., 26:617–659, 2021.
- [48] K.-H. Fieseler. On complex affine surfaces with C⁺-action. *Comment. Math. Helv.*, 69:5–27, 1994.
- [49] P. Griffiths and J. Harris. Principles of algebraic geometry. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons Ltd., 2nd ed. edition, 1994.
- [50] N. Gupta. A survey on Zariski cancellation problem. Indian J. Pure Appl. Math., 46(6):865–877, 2015.
- [51] F. Hirzebruch. Some problems on differentiable and complex manifolds. Ann. Math. (2), 60:213–236, 1954.
- [52] M. Hoyois. A quadratic refinement of the Grothendieck-Lefschetz-Verdier trace formula. *Algebr. Geom. Topol.*, 14(6):3608–3658, 2014.
- [53] M. Hoyois, S. Kelly, and P. A. Østvær. The motivic Steenrod algebra in positive characteristic. J. Eur. Math. Soc., 19(12):3813–3849, 2017.
- [54] M. Hoyois, A. Krishna, and P. A. Østvær. A¹-contractibility of Koras-Russell threefolds. Algebr. Geom., 3(4):407–423, 2016.
- [55] A. Huber and S. Müller-Stach. Periods and Nori motives, volume 65 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer, Cham, 2017. With contributions by Benjamin Friedrich and Jonas von Wangenheim.
- [56] B. Hughes and A. Ranicki. *Ends of complexes,* volume 123 of *Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1996.
- [57] L. Illusie, Y. Laszlo, and F. Orgogozo, editors. *Travaux de Gabber sur l'uniformisation locale et la cohomologie étale des schémas quasi-excellents*. Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2014. Séminaire à l'École Polytechnique 2006–2008. With the collaboration of F. Déglise, A. Moreau, V. Pilloni, M. Raynaud, J. Riou, B. Stroh, M. Temkin and W. Zheng, Astérisque No. 363-364 (2014) (2014).
- [58] F. Ivorra and S. Morel. The four operations on perverse motives. arXiv: 1901.02096, 2019.
- [59] J. F. Jardine. Motivic symmetric spectra. Doc. Math., 5:445-553, 2000.
- [60] F. Jin. Borel-Moore motivic homology and weight structure on mixed motives. Math. Z., 283(3-4):1149–1183, 2016.
- [61] F. Jin and E. Yang. Künneth formulas for motives and additivity of traces. Adv. Math., 376:107446, 83, 2021.
- [62] A. A. Khan. Motivic homotopy theory in derived algebraic geometry. https://www.preschema.com/papers/thesis.pdf, 2016.
- [63] A. A. Khan. Voevodsky's criterion for constructible categories of coefficients. https://www.preschema.com/papers/six.pdf, 2021.
- [64] J. Kollár. Real algebraic threefolds. III. Conic bundles. J. Math. Sci., New York, 94(1):996–1020, 1999.
- [65] M. Levine. Tate motives and the vanishing conjectures for algebraic K-theory. In Algebraic K-theory and algebraic topology (Lake Louise, AB, 1991), volume 407 of NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci., pages 167–188. Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1993.
- [66] M. Levine. Motivic tubular neighborhoods. Doc. Math., 12:71-146, 2007.
- [67] J. Lurie. Higher algebra. https://www.math.ias.edu/lurie/papers/HA.pdf, Sept. 2017.
- [68] J. Milnor. Singular points of complex hypersurfaces. Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 61. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1968.
- [69] J. Milnor and E. Spanier. Two remarks on fiber homotopy type. Pacific J. Math., 10:585–590, 1960.
- [70] F. Morel. A¹-algebraic topology over a field, volume 2052. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 2012.
- [71] D. Mumford. The topology of normal singularities of an algebraic surface and a criterion for simplicity. *Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math.*, 9:5–22, 1961.
- [72] N. Naumann, M. Spitzweck, and P. A. Østvær. Motivic Landweber exactness. Doc. Math., 14:551–593, 2009.
- [73] H. Poincaré. Complément à l'Analysis situs. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo, 13:285–343, 1899.
- [74] C. Ramanujam. A topological characterisation of the affine plane as an algebraic variety. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 94(1):69–88, 1971.
- [75] M. Rapoport and T. Zink. Über die lokale Zetafunktion von Shimuravarietäten. Monodromiefiltration und verschwindende Zyklen in ungleicher Charakteristik. *Invent. Math.*, 68(1):21–101, 1982.
- [76] J. Riou. Dualité de Spanier-Whitehead en géométrie algébrique. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 340(6):431–436, 2005.
- [77] M. Robalo. K-theory and the bridge from motives to noncommutative motives. Adv. Math.,, 269(10):399–550, 2015.
- [78] O. Röndigs and P. A. Østvær. Motives and modules over motivic cohomology. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci Paris, 342(10):751– 754, 2006.

- [79] O. Röndigs and P. A. Østvær. Modules over motivic cohomology. Adv. Math., 219(2):689–727, 2008.
- [80] J. Scholbach. Mixed Artin-Tate motives over number rings. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 215(9):2106–2118, 2011.
- [81] I. R. Shafarevich. Basic algebraic geometry 1. Varieties in projective space. Berlin: Springer, 3rd ed. edition, 2013.
- [82] M. Spitzweck. A commutative \mathbb{P}^1 -spectrum representing motivic cohomology over Dedekind domains. *Mém. Soc. Math. Fr., Nouv. Sér.*, 157:1–110, 2018.
- [83] J. Steenbrink. Limits of Hodge structures. Invent. Math., 31(3):229-257, 1975/76.
- [84] R. W. Thomason and T. Trobaugh. Higher algebraic *K*-theory of schemes and of derived categories. In *The Grothendieck Festschrift, Vol. III,* volume 88 of *Progr. Math.,* pages 247–435. Birkhäuser, Boston, MA, 1990.
- [85] V. Voevodsky. Unstable motivic homotopy categories in Nisnevich and cdh-topologies. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 214(8):1399–1406, 2010.
- [86] V. Voevodsky, A. Suslin, and E. M. Friedlander. Cycles, Transfers, And Motivic Homology Theories, volume 143 of Annals Of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2000.
- [87] J. Wildeshaus. The boundary motive: definition and basic properties. Compos. Math., 142(3):631-656, 2006.
- [88] J. Wildeshaus. Boundary motive, relative motives and extensions of motives. In Autour des motifs—École d'été Franco-Asiatique de Géométrie Algébrique et de Théorie des Nombres. Vol. II, volume 41 of Panor. Synthèses, pages 143–185. Soc. Math. France, Paris, 2013.

IMB UMR5584, CNRS, UNIVERSITÉ DE BOURGOGNE FRANCHE-COMTÉ, DIJON, FRANCE *Email address*: Adrien.Dubouloz@u-bourgogne.fr

ENS DE LYON, UMPA, UMR 5669, 46 ALLÉE D'ITALIE, 69364 LYON CEDEX 07, FRANCE *Email address*: frederic.deglise@ens-lyon.fr

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS FEDERIGO ENRIQUES, UNIVERSITY OF MILAN, ITALY & DEPARTMENT OF MATHE-MATICS, UNIVERSITY OF OSLO, NORWAY

Email address: paul.oestvaer@unimi.it, paularne@math.uio.no